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Main indicators
(000 Euros)

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Total net assets 326,182 427,300 527,726 863,323 1,267,236

Turnover (1) 237,691 446,366 611,371 865,932 1,512,684

Loans to clients 49,786 74,218 114,828 169,064 104,373

Funding from clients on balance 146,098 240,179 411,825 588,989 1,087,424

Funding from clients off balance 35,841 98,107 37,230 51,806 58,860

Guarantees 808 4,553 14,532 2,454 5,010

Documentary credit 5,158 29,309 32,955 53,619 257,017

Turnover per employee 3,256 4,555 5,879 7,510 11,726

Loan-to-deposit ratio (2) 43.4% 80.1% 66.3% 62.9% 27.2%

Non-performing loans/total loans ratio 0.43% 0.14% 0.14% 0.62% 8.24%

Provisions/loans to clients ratio 1.6% 3.4% 3.7% 2.6% 7.9%

Net interest income 6,449 8,646 8,039 10,122 8,944

Net commissions 816 1,248 2,217 3,634 6,278

Profit/loss from exchange revaluation and 
assets at fair value 836 587 1,209 1,424 3,507

Profit/loss from financial assets
available for sale 813 5,930 4,890 5,133 2,719

Other operating results 3,285 3,308 4,051 2,369 1,569

Operating income 12,200 19,719 20,405 22,683 23,017

Operating income per employee 167 201 196 187 178

Cost to income 81.5% 71.5% 65.5% 52.5% 59.3%

Net income for the year 701 2,189 3,754 4,631 5,124

Return on assets (ROA) 0.2% 0.5% 0.7% 0.5% 0.4%

Return on equity (ROE) 1.5% 4.7% 7.7% 8.2% 9.3%

Shareholder’s equity 48,450 50,085 57,619 58,279 60,692

Own funds 44,435 46,099 47,279 48,709 54,376

Own funds requirements 10,837 14,298 21,520 29,434 27,514

Risk-weighted asset (RWA) 135,465 178,728 269,005 367,931 343,925

Tier 1 ratio 32.8% 25.8% 17.6% 13.2% 15.8%

Number of clients 732 1,443 1,922 4,590 10,156

Number of employees 73 98 104 121 129

Number of employees on trainning 18 22 25 26 17

(1) Loans, guarantees and total funding from clients

(2) Calculated in accordance with Bank of Portugal’s Instruction 23/2011
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Business overview

For ATLANTICO Europa, the year of 2016 shall remain marked by 
the strong growth of its activity and by the consolidation of the 
sustainability of its business model, based on the strengthening 
of a special position in the materialisation of Portugal-Angola 
relations, and on the expansion of the reach of its offer in Europe, 
as the foundations for the creation of an enduring brand in the 
digital economy.

In the Company and Institutional client segment, the Bank’s 
capacity to interpret the opportunities and needs of the Angolan 
market enabled reinforcing its position as a reference in supporting 
clients in the area of Trade Finance and in Correspondent Banking 
activity. As the same time, in segment of Individual clients, the 
evolution of the diversification and availability of the offer has 
enabled ATLANTICO Europa to strengthen its capacity to attract 
resident and non-resident clients, both via direct acquisition and 
through the consolidation of the partnerships  initiated in 2015 with 
digital European platforms, in particular Savedo.

ATLANTICO Europa closed 2016 with positive Net Income of 5.1 
million Euros, corresponding to an increase of 11% (restated against 
the published value of 20%) in relation to 2015, having reached a 
Return on Equity of 9.3% and confirming the two-digit trend of 
growth observed in the evolution of the Bank’s key indicators since 
2012.

During 2016, ATLANTICO Europa maintained its focus on 
reinforcing and consolidating the offer of products and services 
and on improving the experience of its clients. Throughout the year, 
initiatives were developed for simplification and dematerialisation 
of processes, the expansion of solutions for the clients’ daily 
life, namely in the area of saving and means of payment, and 
optimisation of the platform of interaction, where the evolution of 
the MY ATLANTICO service was especially important as the main 
platform of interaction with the clients. This service now includes 
an innovative APP for smartphone and smartwatch. A new client 
support platform was also launched, integrating new contact 
formats such as WhatsApp and Skype, and improving the response 
times for all seeking the Bank. Also in 2016, ATLANTICO Europa 
consolidated its presence in the social networks and launched 
version 3.0 of the website atlantico.eu, including a new account 

opening process by remote means, which enabled reducing the 
paper involved from 20 to 2 pages and the time to 10 minutes.

These initiatives contributed to ATLANTICO Europa having 
doubled its client base, for the second consecutive year, with 96% 
growth of total funding from clients, surpassing the barrier of one 
thousand million Euros.

Operating under and benefiting from being framed by highly 
demanding regulatory requirements established at a national 
and European level, the integrated and rigorous management of 
risks, compliance and internal control has continued to be upheld 
as a fundamental pillar supporting this sustainable growth of the 
activity and banking business.

With the firm belief that people make the difference, the Bank has 
continued to give priority to the development of its employees, 
through the follow-up of their career management, reward based 
on merit and the continuous training of people. In 2016, the number 
of employees grew to 129 and over 2,000 hours of training were 
promoted, including the participation of the Bank’s staff in courses 
at the most prestigious universities worldwide.

During the year, the NEXT Program was launched; an initiative 
towards innovation, based on the provision of a space for sharing 
and appraisal of ideas among all the employees, which in its first 
cycle recorded 140 new ideas for the Bank to boost its business.

ATLANTICO Europa thus reinforced its profile as a solid, profitable, 
efficient and capitalised bank, continuously seeking to increase the 
value generated for clients, shareholders, employees and all other 
stakeholders, and being recognised by the market as the small/
medium-sized bank that most grew in Portugal and one of the best 
companies to work for in Portugal.

For 2017, ATLANTICO Europa undertakes the commitment of 
being increasingly closer to its clients, nurturing the ambition to 
contribute to the evolution of the European banking sector and 
make ATLANTICO brand a reference in the Banking system of the 
future.
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Macroeconomic background

2016 was a year marked by political events and by volatility in 
global financial markets, when we witnessed the United Kingdom 
leaving the European Union, Spain being without a government 
up to the agreement between the PP and PSOE in October, the 
election of Donald Trump in the United States, and the defeat in 
Italy’s referendum on the reform of the constitution.
 
In the economic sphere, the support of the central banks to the 
economies was maintained, with Europe and Japan deepening their 
intervention and the USA continuing to normalise monetary policy. 
Companies managed, once again, to achieve growth of earnings, 
with stock market indices closing the year on a positive note. The 
increased growth and outlook on inflation led to a global increase 
of long term interest rates and boosted the recovery of commodity 
prices throughout the year.
 
The monetary policy that has been progressively followed by the 
European Central Bank (ECB) had a notable impact on the European 
economy throughout 2016, enabling the maintenance of growth 
of gross domestic product (GDP) close to 1.7% and reversing the 
downward trend of inflation which at the beginning had reached 
0.70%, but closed the year at 0.90%. The yields of sovereign debt in 
Europe sunk to historical low points, with 10 year yields in Germany 
trading at -0.19%, Portugal at 2.69%, Italy at 1.04% and Spain at 
0.89%. However, the improvement of the economic environment in 
the euro zone and the rise in inflation were the underlying reasons 
that led the ECB to slow down its program, which brought in some 
uncertainty and volatility in the market in the last months of 2016.
 
The beginning of the second semester staged the British referendum 
which dictated that the United Kingdom leave the European Union 
(EU). Following this outcome, its prime minister David Cameron 
resigned and a new government led by Theresa May took on the 
responsibility of negotiating and implementing a process which is 
expected to difficult both for the United Kingdom and for Europe. 
The United Kingdom’s leaving the EU has raised questions about 
the future of the Union and the unexpected result of the referendum 
caused a violent reaction, with the pound having devalued by 15% 
against the euro and European markets have plunged into a climate 
of uncertainty, contributing to a devaluation of the single currency.
 
Also in the European panorama, in the last month of the year the 
Italian referendum was held to vote on constitutional reform. Similarly 
to the British case, the result of this voting also ran contrary to the 
polls, with the Italian people having voted against the constitutional 
reform proposed by the government of the prime minister Mateo 
Renzi. This decision was fundamental for the structural reforms 
planned by the government and its refute compromised the 
continuity of Renzi’s political project, who submitted his resignation 
after the announced outcome. Apart from the political instability, 
the high level of impairments of the Italian financial sector places 
in question the banking system’s capacity to assist companies and 
finance the economy, contributing to the further aggravation of the 
economic environment and exerting pressure on all the peripheral 
debt of the euro zone.
 
In Portugal, 2016 was a year of some volatility and strong 
international political pressure on the government led by António 
Costa. The government approved measures that promote increased 
public expenditure and public debt, which has been pointed to as 
a step backwards in view of the budgetary restraint and economic 
recovery that Portugal has been showing since the intervention 

of the Troika. In fact, the yield required by investors to purchase 
Portuguese public debt rose throughout the year and the rating 
agencies reiterated that Portugal must continue on its path of growth 
and budgetary control if it wishes to return to having Investment 
Grade rating. Nevertheless, Portugal presented a budget deficit of 
2.1%, an unemployment rate close to 10% and growth recorded a 
figure of 1.90% in 2016.
 
In 2016, the United States maintained its trend of economic recovery 
observed in 2015, with the unemployment rate having fallen to 
4.7% and inflation having risen to 2%. This approximation of the 
employment and inflation data to the FED’s goals substantiated the 
increase of the reference rate to 0.75% (increase of 25 basis points). 
The election of Donald Trump brought in a wave of enthusiasm to 
the markets and expectations relative to the future of the American 
economy, with the 10 year treasury yield having touched 2.50% 
and American stock market indices having recorded historic peaks, 
with the S&P index reaching 2.270 points. The electoral promises 
regarding the reduction of regulations on the economy, the cutting 
of taxes on companies and increased protection of the domestic 
market caused optimism among investors, auguring that these 
measures may boost American economic growth and better results 
of American companies and the private sector.
 
The foreign exchange market once again witnessed the 
appreciation of the USD, reflecting the investors’ forecast that the 
differential of growth and inflation will maintain the divergence 
between the monetary policy followed by the FED and by the ECB, 
thus promoting a strong dollar in the long term and justifying the 
investors’ preference for investments in the USA. The USD index 
closed the year with an appreciation of 2.82%, having recorded 
peak figures of the last 15 years and the EUR/USD closing the year 
falling by 3.18% to 1.0517 portraying the better outlook for the United 
States and the political risks being experienced in Europe.
 
The currencies of the emerging economies had a relatively positive 
year, benefiting from the stabilisation of commodity prices and 
the increase of world growth, especially the real and rand which 
appreciated by 21.68% and 12.58% against the USD, respectively.
 
After the proceedings filed against president Dilma Roussef, 
Brazil became one of the preferred destinations for international 
investment. In the second semester, the Ibovespa stock market 
index reached a peak of 65,000 points and sovereign yield at 10 
years in USD fell to 4.25%, corresponding to a narrowing of the loan 
spread of Brazil by approximately 200 basis points throughout the 
year.
 
Brent and WTI closed the year having appreciated by 16.90% and 
45.03%, respectively. This increase in oil prices reflects the modest 
increase of global growth and the restructuring in the energy sector, 
with American shale oil companies and OPEC cutting production. 
Indeed, the members of OPEC reached a historic agreement to 
cut production and thus control the supply of oil in the market 
which, with the instability in the Middle East and the production of 
American shale oil, enabled a stabilisation of the price within the 
range of 50-60 dollars per barrel.
 
The global macroeconomic scenario and the political uncertainty in 
the developed countries caused an increase of risk aversion. In turn 
this led to the appreciation of gold in 2016, which appreciated by 
8.14%, closing the year at 1.147.50 dollars per ounce.
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Business areas

Corporate banking

The year of 2016 was marked by strong buoyancy and an expressive 
increase of activity, especially in the last quarter, contrasting with a 
sluggish start of the year and marked by strong volatility in financial 
markets and a predicted slowdown of the emerging economies, 
which have progressively taken up the role of the main drivers of 
worldwide growth in recent times.

Particular note should be made of the operations associated to Trade 
Finance activity, in both export and import areas. Not only have the 
number of operations of Credit Cards increased significantly, but 
their values have also reached the highest volumes ever recorded. 
The value of loans to clients, primarily boosted by these operations 
and including session and prepayment agreements, showed growth 
of 20% in relation to 2015.

We also highlight the notable rate in the attraction of new clients, 
driven by the increased Trade Finance activity. Clients have been 
drawn in from the most diverse geographic areas, diversifying the 
portfolio of clients and promoting future business prospects. In the 
third quarter, we surpassed the milestone of 500 Company clients, 
reflecting the strong commercial dynamics of the area.

In terms of profitability, special note should be made of the 
commissions associated to Trade Finance activity, which contributed 
significantly to the increase of this heading, with its relative weight 
in Net Banking Income of the area shifting from 1% to 11%.

In 2017, we expect to continue to benefit from the focus on the 
structuring of Trade Finance operations, with a promising start 
to the year in terms of business opportunities in portfolio. It is, 
therefore, to be expected that the complementary margin should 
take up an increasing weight in the generated Net Banking Income, 
which follows in line with a conservative policy in terms of growth 
of the portfolio of credit.

Private individuals banking

In the area of private individuals banking, the year of 2016 was 
marked by strong dynamics in the attraction and diversification 
of clients, which led to more than doubling the total client base, 
for the second consecutive year, in relation to the previous year. 
These dynamics were achieved through a stronger affirmation 
on the national market and the success of strategic partnerships 
with European digital platforms providing saving solutions for 
non-resident clients in countries such as Germany and Austria. 
Banking for Individual clients thus ended the year of 2016 with 
the predominance of three segments of clients: Affluent clients, 
clients attracted through the digital platforms and clients of private 
banking clients (high networth individuals).

In 2016 the growth of the Affluent segment, due to a strong focus 
on the implementation of new interaction platforms of interaction, 
was primarily underpinned by the remote opening of accounts, 
through the platform atlantico.eu.

The sales force based at the Head Office Branch, maintained the 
strategy of attracting and retaining funds, providing a varied offer 
of investment and saving solutions with value added. In this context, 
the number of clients increased by 106% reaching 6,283 clients.

The total funds of these segments grew by 44%, to 67 million Euros, 
and, despite some deceleration in loans (-12%), in view of the lower 
demand in real estate investments by non-resident clients, Net 
Banking Income even so recorded a remarkable growth of 115%.

In the segment of clients attracted through digital platforms, 
partnerships starting in June 2015, the year ended with an increase 
of 303% of the client base, which stood at 2,617, and of 408% in 
funding attracted, which exceeded 85 million Euros.

Finally, in the segment of private banking clients, the recognition 
of the capacity to create customised solutions for investment and 
funding, asset management advice meeting the specific needs of 
non-residents in Portugal, enabled ATLANTICO Europa to receive 
the trust of Private clients of new geographic areas, especially 
clients from other countries of Europe and Latin America.

At the same time, the growing coverage of national territory 
alongside an offer of products and services based on a philosophy 
of open architecture, with full independence, enabled significant 
growth of the Portuguese client base. 

With these two realities, the private banking area closed the year 
with a growth rate of approximately 20%, thus reaching almost 
500 clients of over 15 different nationalities, and with the ability to 
continue drawing in opportunities among clients from geographic 
areas as diverse as their own personal and corporate interests. This 
diversification and growth of the client base enabled the continuous 
growth of the volume of funding attracted and the generation of 
further value, offsetting the slowdown in the Bank’s traditional 
client base.  The Net Banking Income of the segment recorded 
growth of 27%.

In terms of organisation, the private banking area strengthened 
and structured the team of managers, underpinned by specialised 
advisory services according to the differentiated characteristics 
and needs of each client – the geographic area of origin, the 
particularities of the financial advice. The growing provision of a 
technological base of support to the user has permitted the client 
to carry out transnational operations, implying that the direct 
interaction with the Private Client Manager can boost services and 
operations of greater added value.

For 2017, the objective is to continue to promote a differentiating 
model of relations, based on the provision of personalised 
investment solutions leveraged by robust technological foundations, 
in permanent evolution.

Institutional banking

In a year that was marked by the growing uncertainty derived 
from significant alterations in the worldwide political-economic 
spectrum, the supplementary adaptation to the strategy 
implemented in the Institutional Banking in 2015 enabled the 
effective maintenance of the growing dynamics of this business 
area, with the results having stood substantially above that 
initially foreseen.
The developed initiatives enabled the continuous expansion 
and diversification of the client base, which was reflected in 
an increase of 89% of the funding attracted in relation to the 
previous year. Correspondent Banking activity recorded an 
increase of 81% in relation to the previous year, supplemented by 
the affirmation of the Trade Finance activity as a core segment of 
the Bank’s institutional activity, with the latter having recorded, as 
its principal indicator, an increase of 334% of the total confirmed 
letters of credit in portfolio in relation to the previous year.
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Throughout the entire year, we remained focused on getting 
further, supporting our international positioning through the 
continuous expansion of our network of counterparts, present in 
a more solid form over four continents.
 
ATLANTICO Europa continues to enhance its position as a 
commercial paper registration institution, having carried out the 
placement of 40 issues during the year, involving a volume above 
129 million Euros, with the total bids received surpassing the 
available offer by 1.11 times.

Internal control

The Board of Directors is responsible for defining, implementing 
and periodically reviewing an internal control, system suitable 
to the nature, dimension and complexity of the activity of 
ATLANTICO Europa, duly aligned with its risk profile, aimed at 
assuring:

The continuity of the business and the survival of the Institution 
through the efficient allocation of resources and execution of 
the operations, the effective monitoring and control of risks, 
the prudent evaluation of assets and liabilities, and security and 
control of access in the information and communication system; 
The existence of information concerning accounting and 
management, of financial and non-financial nature, reliable and 
timely, to support the taking of decisions and processes of control;
Compliance with the legal provisions, the internal guidelines and 
the rules on ethics and codes of conduct in relations with clients, 
counterparts of operations, shareholders and supervisors.

The key functions of the internal control system – risk management, 
compliance and internal audit – are endowed with sufficient 
human and material means to fulfil their mission, presenting the 
necessary independence, status and effectiveness for the correct 
performance of the activity.

Risk management

The overall risk management system of ATLANTICO Europa is 
based on an integrated series of policies and processes that include 
procedures, limits, controls and systems, aimed at identifying, 
assessing, monitoring, controlling and reporting, on an ongoing 
basis, all the risks of relevance for the activity developed at the 
Bank. These policies and processes cover different risks, with 
different levels of materiality and importance, considering the type 
of activity currently developed by the Bank and the way that it is 
carried out.

At ATLANTICO Europa the risk management function is the 
responsibility of its Board of Directors, with the Risk area being the 
organic structure responsible for performing an advisory role and 
for the operational implementation of the overall Risk Management 
system in its diverse aspects.

The Risk area, by operating in a transversal form in the organisation, 
should have the capacity to control and monitor the different risks 
both in an individual and integrated form, namely through the 
following activities:

• Propose and implement policies for management of the 
different risks, monitoring their compliance and identifying 
needs for review or adjustment, to the extent covered by their 
monitoring activity or derived from perceived alterations in the 
surrounding environment;

• Assure the timely identification of risks, with particular focus 
on alterations to the risk profile derived from new products and 
geographic markets or significant changes in the behavioural 
pattern of different risk factors and exposures in portfolio;

• Conduct the assessment of risks based on quantitative and 
qualitative analyses, using reliable sources of information and 
robust and consistent methods of calculation;

• Regularly carry out stress tests, aimed at assessing the Bank’s 
robustness and resilience in adverse economic contexts;

• • Monitor and report the risks through the establishment 
of prudent limit and warning indicators of the main risks 
of the Institution, incorporating this information in periodic 
reports on management information and on the design and 
implementation of business continuity plans incident on the 
information systems, the physical infrastructures and human 
resources;

• Assure the operationalistion of the internal structures 
underlying the production and validation of the prudential 
reporting, in terms of compliance with the time limits and 
conformity with the requirements established by the different 
supervisory entities;

• Assure and centralise the communication and interaction 
between the Institution and the Supervisory Entities.

In additions to the meetings of its Board of Directors and its 
Executive Committee, the organic structure of ATLANTICO Europa 
foresees the functioning of a series of committees which are 
delegated specific decision-making powers concerning risk. All 
the committees endorse the process of deliberation by majority of 
votes of the members of the Institution’s administration that are 
present.

Due to its comprehensive knowledge of the Institution’s activity 
and the role that it performs in the follow-up, assessment and 
monitoring of the risk assumed by the Institution, the Risk area 
has seats in the following committees: Credit Committee, Internal 
Control Committee, Asset and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) and 
Risk Committee, which promote the analysis and monitoring of 
the main exposures, and assure conscious and informed decision-
making on the acceptance of new exposures to risk for the Bank.

The follow-up and management of the risks in each of its facets 
and phases of the life cycle of the risk in question (i.e. identification, 
assessment, monitoring and reporting) is based on the Risk Profile 
defined for the Institution. The objective of this definition is to 
assure that the outlined levels appetite or tolerance are complied 
with during the ordinary evolution of the activity, and that any limits 
established from a regulatory point of view are duly respected.

In 2016, the risk profile of ATLANTICO Europa continued in line with 
that defined in the past. In the present challenging macroeconomic 
context at a national and international level, the Bank has experienced 
a sustained evolution of its activity, embodied in an increased 
volume of the balance sheet and in significant diversification, both 
in terms of the contracted exposures and in terms of the source of 
attraction of funding.  
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In this evolution, the Bank has maintained the prudence levels 
underlying the acceptance of risk, not only regarding the 
concession of loans to clients, but also concerning the investments 
in the Bank’s own portfolio and in terms of the investment of 
cash balances in credit institutions, in this domain fostering a 
greater individual, geographic and sectoral diversification of the 
counterparts. In terms of credit concession, while still focused on 
boosting operations of commercial relations between Portugal 
and countries abroad, in particular Angola, in view of the more 
challenging panorama posed by the decline in oil prices and by the 
subsequent impact on the worldwide economy, and consequent 
lower demand for financing observed, in particular in the corporate 
segment, the Bank has promoted the careful selection of the type 
of credit operations to be granted, while continuing to maintain 
the requirement of a high level of coverage of these operations 
by real or asset-backed guarantees. This positioning has enabled 
maintaining default at low levels, below the market average in the 
different business segments.

At the same time, during this year, the Bank once again made a 
significant commercial effort aimed at widening the sources of 
attraction of funding, a situation which boosted the expansion 
of the client base and fostered a greater pulverization of the 
funding attracted primarily from Individual clients, but also from 
Companies and Institutional clients. This aspect, which enables 
reducing the concentration level in the balance sheet, combined 
with a significant effort in the design and marketing of new 
products and services, enabled promoting an enlargement of the 
maturity periods of the liabilities, greater client loyalty and better 
stability levels of funding from clients, aspects which favoured the 
management of the Institution’s surplus liquidity.

Even experiencing a considerable evolution in the scale and 
composition of its balance sheet, the Bank still managed to maintain 
robust prudential indicators, significantly above the compulsory 
regulatory limits. In addition to presenting very positive liquidity 
indicators and at levels above the average value of the national 
market, it is important to highlight the evolution of the Bank’s 
solvency ratio which, notwithstanding the growth experienced in 
the balance sheet, stood around 15.6% at the end of 2016. In the 
development of this ratio, particular note should be made of the 
fact that the Bank has presented positive results over the last few 
years, with a policy of retaining these earnings having been applied, 
thus boosting the organic generation of capital, a situation which 
will also occur with the net income for the financial year of 2016.

Notwithstanding the evolution described above, the governance 
model for risk management has remained unchanged in relation 
to that established in the previous year, maintaining both the 
responsibilities and attributions, and the type of interactions with 
other structural units, internal and external. 

Following up and continuing the work already carried out in the 
previous years, focus was maintained on improving the level of 
formalisation of the policies, processes of management of risk and 
reporting with a view to adjusting them to the outlook on evolution 
for the next coming years, and aligning them with the delineated 
strategic objectives. At the same time, the mechanisms supporting 
risk management have been strengthened, both in terms of 
monitoring and follow-up of the activity and in terms of the internal 
and external reporting, promoting greater comprehensiveness and 
detail in the analyses made of the different risks and a higher level 
of automation in their operationalisation. In this context, a critical 
factor of success was the development of specific information and 
business intelligence management structures for risk management 

which, in an integrated manner, systematise the necessary 
information for the different analyses carried out, integrating their 
results and conclusions, so as to feed them into the various existing 
reporting structures, both internal and external.

For 2017, ATLANTICO Europa plans to continue to strengthen 
the level of formalisation of the risk management processes and 
enhance the robustness of the existing tools for identification, 
assessment, monitoring and reporting, in particular those related 
to operational risk and interest rate risk.

The adjustment of the risk management model to new regulatory 
requirements will likewise be a priority, in order to assure, in 
particular, an appropriate alignment with the requirements of Basel 
III, under permanent review and adjustment, and assure a sustained 
transition to the new accounting framework underlying the 
principles of IFRS 9, with strong dependence on risk management.

Audit

At ATLANTICO Europa, the audit function performs an ongoing, 
independent and objective activity, which seeks to assist the Board 
of Directors in monitoring the internal control system, through 
the systematic assessment of areas of higher risk, of the efficacy 
of their management and adequacy of the most relevant control 
procedures.

Throughout the year of 2016, the internal audit team, once again, 
prepared review programs which enable assessing the adequacy 
and efficacy of the different components of the internal control 
system adjusted to the Bank’s business and structure.

The monitoring process involves interventions and evaluations 
of control focused on the Bank’s critical processes and, as an 
opportunity, identifies defects in the internal control system with 
respect to the design, implementation and effectiveness of controls, 
which are documented and reported to the Board of Directors.

In 2016, the audit plan assured a comprehensive examination, 
directed at the risk of the Bank’s activities, systems and processes, 
attributing importance to the review of critical processes and 
procedures associated to the main tasks, where the level of 
concentration of the different types of risk is higher.

Over the year, ATLANTICO Europa developed various audit 
activities which included i) control routines with necessary 
periodicity and applied in areas whose control is conducted in a 
systematic form, and ii) audit actions carried out in a continuous 
and gradual manner, through transversal interventions which 
provide an overall understanding on any given process or merely 
on critical points of control in particular processes, in the business 
area and/or in the area of support to operations.

Legal and compliance

The Legal & Compliance area covers the internal legal and the 
Compliance function. Concerning services, the department is 
responsible for providing advisory services to the administration 
and to support the Bank’s activity, being guided by principles 
of objectivity, rigour, clarity of discourse, timeliness in response, 
collaboration and teamwork.
In 2016, a series of initiatives were developed of relevance to the 
Bank’s activity, of which particular note should be made of the 
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interaction with Banco de Portugal and the Portuguese Securities 
Market Commission (CMVM) in the context of periodic inspections 
conducted by these institutions to the Bank, the production of a 
variety of information on alterations of the regulatory environment 
and other topics of interest, and the regular disclosure of a 
newsletter on legal matters.

In the context of the compliance activity, which is performed in 
an autonomous and independent manner, the department is 
responsible for assuring that the Institution operates in accordance 
with the laws, rules, internal regulations, national and international 
agreements which govern the Bank’s activity, preventing the risk of 
the Institution incurring sanctions of legal or regulatory nature and 
financial or reputational losses, derived from non-compliance with 
the laws, regulations, codes of conduct and all other regulations 
applicable to the Bank’s activity. 

During 2016, continuity was given to the careful monitoring of 
clients and knowledge of their activity, as well as the operations, 
and control in the context of the prevention of money laundering 
and combat of the financing of terrorism, acting in observance 
of the principles of “better regulation” and in conformity with 
that stipulated in Banco de Portugal Notice 5/2008, towards the 
detection of possible situations of risk. All this with the common 
objective of making the Bank’s internal control system more solid 
and more integrated in its functioning. Moreover, in 2016 the 
compliance function interacted in a regular form with Banco de 
Portugal and the CMVM in the context of the period inspections 
conducted by these institutions to the Bank.

The training of our employees is a priority and essential factor for 
the continuity of the instituted rules and regulations, and for this 
reason the focus on training all the Bank’s employees, from those 
recently recruited to the existing employees, concentrated on the 
updating and dissemination of legislative alterations of relevance 
to the Bank’s activity, is continuous.

Supporting areas

Financial markets

In 2016 we faced a challenging macroeconomic scenario, with 
low economic growth in Portugal and Angola and a slowdown of 
worldwide growth. Throughout the year the increased volatility 
of the price of oil, the fall of European interest rates and the 
heightened political risk in Europe and the United States caused 
volatility in financial assets and an adverse investment environment. 
The divergence of the monetary policies followed by the principal 
central banks accentuated with Europe and Japan increasing the 
stimuli and the United States increasing rates, thus continuing the 
movement towards normalisation of the level of interest rates in 
the economy.

In view of this scenario, ATLANTICO Europa confirmed its trajectory 
of growth of its balance sheet and the area of markets maintained 
its focus on enhancing the profitability of the assets and on the 
diversification of the offer of products and services, contributing 
to increase the margin generated and the volume of operations. 
The growth in the attraction of funding brought in new challenges 
to treasury issues and new opportunities in the management of the 
Bank’s liquidity, promoting the business with new counterparts in 
order to implement our strategy of investment and diversification. 

The increased offer of products is the result of stronger dynamics 
produced by the team and a focus on the preferences of our clients.

The area of financial markets continues to uphold a conservative 
policy on liquidity management, assuring that the daily needs of 
our clients are met. The management of the investment portfolio 
focused on maximising income-earning opportunities, within a 
universe of sovereign and corporate debt assets, framed by the 
Bank’s policy on risk management.  In 2016, the area of financial 
markets succeeded in contributing to yet another year of growth of 
ATLANTICO Europa, supporting the generation of financial results 
and the creation of new products and services.

Capital markets

The year of 2016 was marked by an increase of the clients’ activity 
in the capital market, leading to a growth of the assets under 
supervision (investment funds, shares and bonds) of around 50%. 
Concerning implementation, the Bank focused on the automation 
of the processing of orders and on the contracting of available 
financial intermediaries through technological platforms (such as 
the Bloomberg EMSX trading service), expanding the universe of 
covered markets.

Despite the steady fall of interest rates in Euros, the structuring 
activity continued robust, with close to 26.5 million Euros in 
structured products having been issued, the great majority with 
guaranteed capital and yield. The range of structures and strategies 
offered was enlarged, assuring the coverage of the markets trading 
in shares, foreign exchange and commodities in EUR and USD.

In order to expand the offer and improve the service, the operative 
of investment funds has been consolidated at Banco Inversis, 
optimising the cost structure and guaranteeing the scalability of 
the business. In terms of partnerships, we added BNP Paribas to 
the list of custodian and depositary entities, conferring further 
robustness and quality to the overall custody service, and 
substantially enlarging the universe of covered assets.
In the institutional area, the strong commercial dynamics led to 
an increase of 25% in the number of active commercial paper 
programs, reflected in 67% growth in the number of auctions held 
in relation to the previous year.

Operations

The Bank’s operational activity in 2016, similarly to the previous 
years, was strongly centred on the continuous improvement of 
processes, via automation, as well as providing its clients with more 
competitive service levels based on a more advanced qualitative 
perspective.
 
In this context, the year was marked by the start-up of the 
development of a series of technological solutions that are nuclear 
to the functioning of the operational area and to the pursuit of the 
objectives identified above, namely in the areas of Trade Finance, 
investigations and transactionality of clients.
 
This strategy of qualitative evolution of the operational service 
will be maintained in 2017, with the completion of the foreseen 
developments in information technology, together with the launch 
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new projects to develop technological solutions in other 
components of operational activity which will enable efficiency 
gains and improvement of the service provided. 

A project has been started in the component of procedural 
management, aimed at the identification and selection of a 
technological solution that will enable modelling the Bank’s 
processes, the development of the role of the “Process Owner” 
in process management, identification of risks and controls by 
process as well as the appropriate framing of this procedural 
logic in the Bank’s policy on risk management.

Information technologies

During 2016, the area of Information Technologies was essentially 
focused on the development of projects aimed at enhancing 
the efficiency of internal processes and improving the clients’ 
experience through the evolution of the platform of interaction, 
including the website atlantico.eu, the remote opening of 
an account, and the internet and mobile banking service MY 
ATLANTICO. The projects in these two aspects represented over 
65% of the total work time of the area.

In the improvement of internal processes, we highlight the 
projects to develop a new workflow for account opening, a 
workflow for operations, and a new portal for Internal Control 
and Investigations.

Concerning the continuous improvement of the platform of 
interaction with clients, special note should be made of the launch 
of the first version of APP MY ATLANTICO for iPhone, Android 
and Apple Watch, which has allowed clients to carry out the daily 
management of their accounts from their smartphone. We also 
highlight the project to improve and simplify account opening 
by remote means and the launch of version 3.0 of the website 
atlantico.eu. Finally, with respect to the Client Support Service, a 
platform was also launched to support the management of the 
flow of contacts, assuring better response times and extension 
to new contact formats such as WhatsApp, Skype and Facebook 
Messenger.

Other especially important projects took place in areas such as 
the control of AML, CRM, improvement of compulsory information 
for clients, management of the ATLANTICO Namibia branch, new 
products and improvement of the technological infrastructure.

Marketing

Committed to the ambition of making ATLANTICO Europa 
a reference in the Banking System of the future, based on the 
quality and intelligence of the service and contact, the Marketing 
team conducted structural projects for the Bank, with respect to 
consolidation of the offer, improvement of the clients’ experience 
and leveraging of the digital presence of the brand.

With regard to the evolution of the offer of products and services, 
we highlight the launch of a multi-currency remunerated current 
account and the provision of the functionality of direct debits and 
foreign exchange operations for the daily financial management 
needs of Individuals and Companies.

With the objective of continuously improving the banking 
experience, the team developed projects to simplify procedures 
and the communication provided to clients, it coordinated the 
design and launch of the CRM platform, and promoted the 

evolution of the MY ATLANTICO service as the principal platform 
of interaction with clients.

Lastly, in the component of boosting the digital presence of 
ATLANTICO Europa, we highlight the project of conceptualisation 
and design of the new version of the website atlantico.eu, the 
implementation of a system for analysis and optimisation of 
the performance of this platform and the entry into the social 
networks Facebook and Instragram.

In 2017, the Marketing team will continue focused on the 
construction of a differentiating banking experience, promoting 
projects of improvement in adherence, use and access to the Bank, 
supplemented with the development of an intelligent platform 
that enables a more personalised and efficient interaction.

Human capital

ATLANTICO Europa emerged under the insignia of being 
“Different due to its People”, believing that only with a solid, 
capable, innovative and multicultural Team can it assure a service 
of excellence for its clients and be recognised as a reference in 
the financial system.

In 2016, ATLANTICO Europa maintained its trend of growth of the 
number of employees. We ended the year with 129 employees 
distributed over 2 geographic regions (Portugal and Namibia), 
corresponding to a variation of 6% in relation to the previous 
year.

The strategy of identification and attraction of talent was upheld, 
with ATLANTICO Europa having sought to strengthen its teams 
in a surgical fashion and always focused on the objectives and 
sustainability of the business.

With an average age of 35 years old, and 80% of the team aged 
less than 40 years old, ATLANTICO Europa maintained its special 
interest in the potential of young talent, based on a structure of 
senior staff with profound knowledge of the banking sector and 
financial markets. 

The teams maintained their broad-ranging and global character, 
the result of our cultural, academic and professional diversity. 
Professionals from 4 continents work with us, with experience 
of diverse sectors of activity, which enables us to incorporate 
best practices and contribute to enriching the organisational 
knowledge on the markets, adopting innovative and 
differentiating approaches with our clients.

The focus on training has continued reflected in the investment 
made in what is, for us, our most important asset: knowledge. We 
ministered over 2,000 hours of training and launched the first 
cycle of a training program directed at the upper management 
and senior staff of the Bank – “Blue Ocean Program”, where 
we established partnerships with some of the most prestigious 
Universities of the World (Harvard, London Business School, 
INSEAD, Stanford, among others). 

Because we believe that only with a culture that fosters 
creativity and innovation will we be able to create further value, 
differentiate ourselves and become more competitive, in 2016 
we launched the NEXT Program, a program of innovation that 
involved all the employees in a dynamic wave of generation of 
ideas and resolution of challenges, with impact on the business 
or efficiency of processes. This program was reflected in over 140 
ideas, many of which are currently at an implementation stage. 
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We are thus building the present and thinking the future, creating 
the conditions for a sustainable future.

In 2016, we also maintained our encouragement of a healthy 
lifestyle with a view to the physical and emotional wellbeing of 
our people, promoting a series of initiatives that counted with the 
involvement of all the Bank’s employees (Lisbon Half Marathon, 
Tejo Race, Descent of the River Zêzere, Football League).

The engagement of our employees in actions of social 
responsibility has also been strengthened over the course of the 
years and reflects our concern in contributing to social causes 
and in this way to the construction of a better society. In 2016 we 
collaborated with “Comunidade Vida e Paz” and with “Instituto 
Português do Sangue e Transplantação”.
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Financial review

Banco ATLANTICO Europa closed the year of 2016 with net income of 5.1 million Euros, corresponding to an increase of 11% in relation 
to 2015 (4.6 million Euros), reaching a Return on Equity (ROE) of 9.3%.
We highlight the positive variation of Total Funding from Clients by 79% and of Net Commissions by 73%, in yet another year of sustai-
ned growth of the Bank’s commercial activity.

• Return on Equity stood at 9.3% in 2016, the third consecutive year above 7.5%;
• Growth of Total Funding from Clients of 79%, reaching 1.15 thousand million Euros;
• Doubling of the number of clients, for the second consecutive year;
• Net Banking Income of 23 million Euros, sustained by the 73% increase of Net Commissions, offsetting the 12% decline of Net Interest 

Income;
• 12% increase of Operating Costs, where we highlight the 22% growth of Personnel Costs and the 3% reduction of Other Operating 

Costs;
• 90% increase in the values submitted to the Resolution Fund and Extraordinary Tax on the Banking Sector (839 thousand Euros in 

2016 compared to 442 thousand Euros in 2015);
• Maintenance of a conservative policy on the use of capital, with the Solvency Ratio standing at 15.6%
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(000 Euros)

Main indicators 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Total net assets 326,182 427,300 527,726 863,323 1,267,236

Turnover (1) 237,691 446,366 611,371 865,932 1,512,684

Loans to clients 49,786 74,218 114,828 169,064 104,373

Funding from clients on balance 146,098 240,179 411,825 588,989 1,087,424

Funding from clients off balance 35,841 98,107 37,230 51,806 58,860

Guarantees 808 4,553 14,532 2,454 5,010

Documentary credit 5,158 29,309 32,955 53,619 257,017

Turnover per employee 3,256 4,555 5,879 7,510 11,726

Loan-to-deposit ratio (2) 43.4% 80.1% 66.3% 62.9% 27.2%

Non-performing loans/total loans ratio 0.43% 0.14% 0.14% 0.62% 8.24%

Provisions/loans to clients ratio 1.6% 3.4% 3.7% 2.6% 7.9%

Net interest income 6,449 8,646 8,039 10,122 8,944

Net commissions 816 1,248 2,217 3,634 6,278

Profit/loss from exchange revaluation and 
assets at fair value 836 587 1,209 1,424 3,507

Profit/loss from financial assets
available for sale 813 5,930 4,890 5,133 2,719

Other operating results 3,285 3,308 4,051 2,369 1,569

Operating income 12,200 19,719 20,405 22,683 23,017

Operating income per employee 167 201 196 187 178

Cost to income 81.5% 71.5% 65.5% 52.5% 59.3%

Net income for the year 701 2,189 3,754 4,631 5,124

Return on assets (ROA) 0.2% 0.5% 0.7% 0.5% 0.4%

Return on equity (ROE) 1.5% 4.7% 7.7% 8.2% 9.3%

Shareholder’s equity 48,450 50,085 57,619 58,279 60,692

Own funds 44,435 46,099 47,279 48,709 54,376

Own funds requirements 10,837 14,298 21,520 29,434 27,514

Risk-weighted asset (RWA) 135,465 178,728 269,005 367,931 343,925

Tier 1 ratio 32.8% 25.8% 17.6% 13.2% 15.8%

Number of clients 732 1,443 1,922 4,590 10,156

Number of employees 73 98 104 121 129

Number of employees on trainning 18 22 25 26 17

(1) Loans, guarantees and total funding from clients

(2) Calculated in accordance with Bank of Portugal’s Instruction 23/2011
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Analysis of results

ATLANTICO Europa closed the year of 2016 with positive profit before tax of 7.7 million Euros, representing an improvement of 17% in 
relation to the results of 2015.

A brief description is presented below of the different headings of the Income statement: 

(000 Euros)

Income statement 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 var. var. %

Interest and similar income 8,948 11,499 12,275 14,271 15,807 1,536 11%

Interest and similar costs (2,498) (2,852) (4,236) (4,148) (6,863) (2,714) 65%

Net interest income 6,449 8,646 8,039 10,122 8,944 (1,178) -12%

as % of operating income 52.9% 43.8% 39.4% 44.6% 38.8%

Income from services and commissions 928 1,398 2,402 4,016 6,860 2,845 71%

Charges with services and commissions (112) (151) (185) (382) (582) (200) 53%

Profit/loss from financial assets (13) 3,806 7,896 5,323 2,702 (2,621) -49%

Profit/loss from exchange revaluation 1,663 2,712 (1,791) 1,234 3,523 2,289 185%

Other operating results 3,285 3,308 4,044 2,369 1,569 (800) -34%

Operating income 12,200 19,719 20,405 22,683 23,017 334 1%

Personnel costs (4,667) (6,471) (6,206) (6,681) (8,146) (1,465) 22%

General administrative costs (5,200) (7,173) (6,500) (4,356) (4,245) 112 -3%

Amortisations (736) (653) (658) (914) (1,267) (353) 39%

Operating costs (10,603) (14,297) (13,364) (11,951) (13,657) (1,706) 14%

Operating profit 1,597 5,423 7,041 10,732 9,360 (1,372) -13%

Provisions (347) (1,724) (1,757) (4,069) (1,590) 2,479 -61%

Profit before tax 1,250 3,698 5,285 6,663 7,770 1,107 17%

Taxation (549) (1,509) (1,530) (2,032) (2,646) (613) 30%

Current (300) (670) (2,009) (3,322) (2,595) 727 -22%

Deferred (249) (839) 479 1.290 (51) (1,340) -104%

Net income for the year 701 2,189 3,754 4,631 5,124 493 11%
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Net interest income (000 Euros) Complementary margin (000 Euros)

15,807
14,271

1,569

4,044 2,369
3,523

12,27511,499

3,308
1,234

7,896

8,948

5,323

2,702

2,712

6,860
3,285

3,806
4,0161,663

2,402
928 1,398

(2,498) (2,852)
(4,236) (4,148)

(6,663)

(1,791)

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Interest and similar income Income from services and commissions

Interest and similar costs Charges with services and commissions

Profit/loss from financial assets

Profit/loss from exchange revaluation

Other operating results

Net interest income decreased by 12% in 2016 in relation to the same period of the previous year. In 2016 there was a diversification of the 
results headings with 12% growth of the complementary margin. Net interest income, which had been showing continuous growth since 
2011, inverted this trend in 2016 as a result of the liquidity management policy adopted. In 2016, net interest income fell by 12% year-on-year, 
representing 38.9% of the operating income, with a 65% increase in the interest paid having been recorded

The complementary margin increased by 12% in relation to 2015, which was possible due to the stronger banking activity. Net commissions 
increased substantially by 71%, with the principal contribution of commissions of banking services and documentary credit, both surpassing 
2.5 million Euros of commissions charged.
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Operating income (000 Euros) Operating costs (000 Euros)

14,07312,561

12,36611,073
653

7,173

658 1.267

6,5005,750
4,245

914

4,356

10,122

736

5,200

8,9448,646 8,039 8,146
6,449 6,6816,471 6,206

4,667

2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Net income interest Personnel costs

Complementary margin Other operating costs

Amortizations

Operating income has consistently recorded growth since 2011, with a 1% increase having been observed in 2016. Core operating income 
(net interest income + net commissions of banking activity + foreign exchange commissions) increased by 12% compared to 2015, 
reflecting a strong increase of documentary credit and of the number and volume of transactions.

Operating costs increased by 14%, primarily due to:

• Other operating costs – fell by 3% compared to 2015, continuing the rigorous policy on cost control and subsequent policy of 
renegotiation of contracts with suppliers initiated in 2014.

• Amortizations – increased by 39% compared to 2015, in line with the acquisition of office and information technology equipment, 
software and the head office building of the Bank;

• Personnel costs – increased by 22% compared to 2015, as a result of the strengthening of the Executive Committee and provision of 
bonus.
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Analysis of balance sheet

ATLANTICO Europa closed the year of 2016 with total net assets of 1,267,326 thousand Euros, representing an increase of 47% compared 
to the same period of the previous year. 

(000 Euros)

Balance sheet 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 var. abs. var. %

Assets

Cash and deposits 228 182 160 207 272 64 31%

Cash and deposits in central banks 5,844 11,970 6,298 134,160 373,922 239,761 179%

Loans to other banks 68.831 118,111 184,840 204,056 174,160 (29,177) -14%

Loans to clients 49,410 74,009 114,467 168,024 97,101 (67,239) -41%

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss - 78 1,622 91 2,599 (2,508) 2765%

Financial assets available for sale 189,140 208,016 237,178 263,231 443,900 180,284 68%

Investments held to maturity - - - 67,490 144,962 77,379 114%

Hedge derivatives - - - 516 0 (516) -100%

Intagible assets 527 448 837 1,080 1,035 (45) -4%

Other tangible assets 4,467 4,670 21,010 20,870 20,164 (706) -3%

Investments in subsidiaries 315 1,074 1,572 2.691 50 (2,641) -98%

Tax assets 988 387 731 2,141 2,684 584 28%

Other assets 6,431 8,356 4,012 2,023 5,668 (3,645) 180%

Total assets 326,181 427,300 572,726 866,580 1,267,236 403,912 47%

Liabilities

Funding from central banks 127,033 166,278 167,725 290,179 295,517 5,337 2%

Funding from clients 88,312 95,992 173,767 269,196 357,349 88,153 33%

Funding from other banks 58,549 108,490 156,002 204,995 534,808 329,813 161%

Liabilities represented by securities - - - 32,044 4,751 (27,293) -85

Financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss 827 226 239 202 2,250 2,047 -1012%

Hedge derivatives - - - - 42 42 0%

Provisions 302 1,630 2,646 5.040 516 (840) -62%

Tax liabilities 832 1,001 3,056 2.115 333 (1,862) -85%

Other liabilities 1,876 3,598 11,672 4.878 10,979 6,100 125%

Total liabilities 277,731 377,215 515,107 808.650 1,206,543 401,499 50%

Shareholders’ equity

Capital 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 - 0%

Other capital instruments - - - - - - 0%

Revaluation reserves 1,822 1,268 5,047 1.639 213 (1,426.6) -87%

Other reserves and retained earnings (4,073) (3,371) (1,183) 2.008 5,355 3,346.4 167%

Net income of the year 701 2,189 3,754 4.282 5,124 493.3 11%

Total shareholders’ equity 48,450 50,085 57,619 57.930 60,692 2,413 4%

Total liabilities + shareholders’ equity 326,181 427,300 572,726 866.580 1,267,236 403,912 47%

Off balance sheet 35,841 98,107 37,230 87.055 58,860 7,055 14%

Guarantees 808 4,553 14,532 2.454 5,010 2,556 104%
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Assets

ATLANTICO Europa closed the year of 2016 with total net assets of 1,267,236 thousand Euros. 

At the end of 2016, loans to clients accounted for 7.7% of total assets, with 46.7% of the assets being invested in financial assets and 
43.3% in deposits in other banks.

Distribution of the assets

4.3% 7.7% 43.3% 46.7%

Holdings, fixed assets and other

Loans to clients

Financial assets

Deposits in other banks

The loan portfolio decreased by 41% in 2016, standing at 96,995 thousand Euros.

At the end of 2016, overdue loans reached 8.24% of the granted loans. The impairments for granted loans amounted to 8% of the loans to 
clients, showing a positive year-on-year variation of 5.4 p.p.

Liabilities and equity

At the end of 2016, the funding from central banks represented 23.3% and the funding from other banks and funding from clients accounted 
for 70.4% of total liabilities and equity.

Distribution of the liabilities and equity

1.5% 4.8% 23.3% 28.2% 42.2%

Other liabilities

Equity

Funding from central banks

Funding from clients

Funding from other banks

Productivity and efficiency

2014 2015 2016

Cost-to-income ratio 65.5% 52.5% 59.3%

Operating costs/Average net assets 2.3% 1.4% 1.1%

Total assets per employee 5,507 7,222 10,303

The cost-to-income ratio increased by 6.8 p.p., inverting the trend initiated in 2010. The indicator “Operating costs/Average net assets” 
showed a modest reduction in 2016 to 1.1%. Finally, the value of the assets per employee increased by 41%.
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Equity

The equity of ATLANTICO Europa reached 60,692 thousand Euros at the end of 2016, corresponding to an increase of 4% in relation to 2015.

The principal factors that contributed to this evolution are the following:

• The positive net income for 2016 of 5,124 thousand Euros, an increase of 493 thousand Euros in relation to 2015;
• Increase of the free reserves by 3,346 thousand Euros;
• Reduction of the revaluation reserves by 1,427 thousand Euros.

(000 Euros)

Equity evolution 2014 2015 2016

Equity at the beginning of the year 50,085 57,619 58,279

Revaluation reserves 3,779 (3,407) (1,427)

Other reserves and retained earnings 2,189 (3,191) (3,346)

Net income of the year 1,566 528 493

Distribution of dividends - - -

Equity at the end of the year 57,619 57,930 60,692

Capital ratios

The capital ratio at the end of 2016 reached 15.8%, corresponding to an increase of 2.6 p.p. compared to 2015. The negative progression 
of the capital ratio reflects the lower requirements of own funds.

At the end of 2016, base own funds stood at 53,723 thousand Euros, representing an increase of 10.3% in relation to 2015. This increase 
was due to the increased net income for the year in course.
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Declaration on the remuneration policy

Introduction

1. Under the terms and for the effects of the provisions in article 2, number 1 of Law 28/2009, of 19 June, it is the duty of the management 
body or, if existent, the remuneration committee of credit institutions, to annually submit, to the appraisal and approval of the General 
Meeting, a declaration on the policy on the remuneration of the members of the respective management and supervisory bodies 
(hereinafter the “Declaration”), including the information established in this legal instrument as well as the information stipulated in 
article 16 of Banco de Portugal Notice 10/2011

2. For this purpose, the present Declaration was drawn up in conformity with the aforesaid legal instruments, with the principles contained 
in the Recommendation of the European Commission, of 30 April 2009, relative to remuneration policies in the sector of financial 
services, and with the guidelines of remunerative policies and practices published by the Committee of European Banking Supervisors 
(“CEBS”), and subsequently endorsed by the European Banking Authority (“EBA”)..

3. In this context, in compliance with these provisions, under the reinforcement of transparency in the process of establishment of 
remunerations, the Board of Directors of Banco Privado Atlântico – Europa, S.A. (hereinafter “ATLANTICO Europa” or “Bank”) submits 
the present Declaration to the approval of the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.

Normas estatutárias

1. Article 35 of the Bank’s Memorandum of Association establishes that the remuneration of the members of the governing bodies should 
be determined by a remuneration committee composed of three shareholders elected at the General Meeting

2. The same article of the Bank’s Memorandum of Association determines that the remunerations of the members of the Board of Directors 
can consist of a fixed part and a variable part, reflected in profit-sharing that does not exceed 20% of the profit for the year. The fixed 
remuneration earned by the members of the Board of Directors can be diverse among the members.

3. Pursuant to the Bank’s Memorandum of Association the remuneration committee is also responsible for establishing the conditions of 
attribution of pensions to the executive directors

4. It should be noted in particular that the entirety of the shares representing the share capital of ATLANTICO Europa is presently 
concentrated in the sphere of a sole shareholder and, in view of this fact, the Remuneration Committee was not constituted and is not 
in operation; therefore, the competencies mentioned in paragraph 1 above are attributed to the General Meeting.

Information on remuneration policies

The Remuneration Policy of ATLANTICO Europa reflects the firm commitment of this Institution to converge with the best and most recent 
practices and trends, national and international, of corporate governance in the financial sector, directing the Institution towards the creation 
of value in the long term, supporting the implementation of a strategy of sustained growth and enabling the converge of the interests of 
the members of the governing bodies with the corporate interests. The attainment of this objective – as detailed further below – is based on 
certain key aspects that are legally recognised as suitable for such effects, such as:

• the attribution of a fixed component representing the significant part of the overall remuneration;

• the subjection of the attribution of the variable component of the remuneration to the prior conduct of a process of performance 
assessment, in a multi-annual context, in accordance with the predefined and measurable criteria of assessment;

• the deferral of a portion of the variable retribution over a time period that takes into account the Bank’s economic cycle and its business 
risks;

• the subordination of the payment of the variable remuneration, including the deferred part, to the maintenance of the sustainability of 
the Bank’s financial situation.
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Information on the remuneration policy of the members of the management and supervisory bodies established 
in article 16 of Banco de Portugal Notice 10/2011

General principles

1. Process of definition of the remuneration policy: The preparation of the Remuneration Policy is the result of a participative process 
involving people with functional independence and appropriate technical capacity, of the Human Capital Department, the Legal and 
Compliance Department and the units responsible for the internal control functions, as well as external experts. After completion of the 
phase of drawing up the Remuneration Policy, the part referring to the remuneration of the Employees was submitted to the approval 
of the Board of Directors, and the part referring to the remuneration of the members of the management and supervisory bodies was 
submitted to the approval of the General Meeting.

2. Elements included in the variable component: Taking into account the provisions in subparagraph r) of number 24 of the annex to 
Decree-Law 104/2007, of 3 April, as amended by Decree-Law 88/2011 – which imposes that at least 50% (fifty per cent) of the variable 
remuneration should be paid through shares, equivalent instruments or other financial instruments representing the Institution’s capital 
– and in view of the fact that ATLANTICO Europa does not have, in portfolio, nor is an issuer of, up to the present date, instruments of 
such nature, namely due to its size and stage of activity, bearing in mind the principles of adequacy and proportionality, the variable 
remuneration than may be attributed in future to the executive directors is based on their sharing of the profits of the Institution. This 
profit-sharing must fall within the limits established in the Bank’s Memorandum of Association, so as to achieve the compatibility of 
the objective interests of the executive directors with the long term interests of the Institution. However, ATLANTICO Europa reserves 
the right, by deliberation of the competent governing body, to substantiate part of the variable remuneration in shares or financial 
instruments, issued by the Institution, under terms to be regulated in due time, if and when applicable. With respect to the deferral of 
the payment of the variable remuneration, established in point 24 of the annex to Decree-Law 104/2007, of 3 April, as amended by 
Decree-Law 88/2011, of 20 July, this should take place relative to the financial year of 2016, being reflected in the variable remuneration 
to be attributed in 2017.

Remuneration of the Executive Members of the Board of Directors

1. The Institution’s bodies that are competent to perform the assessment of individual performance

The assessment of the individual performance of the executive directors is carried out by the General Meeting.

2. The predetermined criteria for the assessment of individual performance underlying the right to a variable component of the 
remuneration

The attribution of the variable component of the remuneration for the executive directors shall be based, among all other factors 
established herein, on the following assessment criteria, foreseen in the Policy on Assessment of Performance attached to the present 
Declaration and of which it is an integral part:

• accomplishment of individual and institutional objectives related to the Bank’s activity; 
• dedication, quality, work capacity, knowledge of the business and contribution to the image and reputation of the Institution; 
• real growth of the Institution;
• wealth effectively created for the shareholder; 
• implementation of measures aimed at protecting the interests of the clients and investors; 
• long term sustainability of the Institution; 
• extent of the risks assumed; 
• compliance with the rules applicable to the Institution’s activity;

3. The relative importance of the variable and fixed components of remuneration, as well as the maximum limits for each component

The fixed component of remuneration is paid for 14 months/year, determined based on the Bank’s competitive positioning compared 
to the universe of national reference companies with similar characteristics to those of the Bank. The annual fixed remuneration of all 
the Executive Directors should represent at least 50% of their annual total remuneration.

The variable component of remuneration shall obey the limits that are established annually by the General Meeting of the Bank, and 
should not represent a proportion above 50% (fifty per cent) of the total remuneration. The sum of the variable remuneration attributed 
in each year, to all the executive members of the management body cannot exceed 20% (twenty per cent) of the distributable profit 
for the year, except in justified situations and recognised by the General Meeting, taking into account all the types of current and future 
risks.

4. Information on the deferrals of the payment of the variable component of remuneration, indicating the deferral period.

A proportion corresponding to 50% (fifty per cent) of the variable remuneration shall be deferred for a period of 3 (three) years in 
relation to the date of attribution. 
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5. 5. How the payment of variable remuneration is subject to the continued positive performance of the Institution throughout the deferral 
period.

The variable remuneration, including the deferred part, shall only be paid is it is sustainable in view of the Bank’s financial situation as 
a whole and, furthermore, if justified in the light of the performance of the Institution, the structural unit involved and the director in 
question, taking into account all the types of current and future risks, the cost of own funds and the required liquidity. 

Likewise, in the event of a regression in the Institution’s performance, or in the case of it being negative, the variable remuneration 
may be reduced, taking into account both the current remuneration and the reduction of disbursements of amounts earned previously, 
namely through regimes of aggravation or recovery and without prejudice to the application of the general principles of the national 
contractual and labour legislation

6. The criteria underlying the attribution of variable remuneration in shares, as well as the continued holding, by the executive members of 
the management body, of the Institution’s shares to which they may have had access, and information on any conclusion of contracts 
relative to these shares, namely contracts for hedging against or transferring risk, respective limit, and their proportion compared to 
the value of annual total remuneration

There are no current plans to attribute shares to the executive members of the management body as a form of variable remuneration. 

7. The criteria underlying the attribution of variable remuneration in options and indication of the deferral period and price of exercise

Not applicable

8. The main parameters and substantiation of any annual bonus system and any other non-monetary benefits

The attribution of a component of variable remuneration to the executive directors is determined based on the results of the performance 
assessment, conducted under the terms described above, carried out on a multi-annual basis of 3 years, according to the accumulated 
annual assessment of the performance of the executive directors, taking into account all the types of current and future risks as well as 
the cost of own funds and the required liquidity.

9. The remuneration paid in the form of profit-sharing and/or payment of bonuses and the motives for which such profit-sharing and/or 
bonuses were granted

The variable remuneration is paid in the form of a performance bonus and is justified by the result of the performance assessment in 
accordance with the Policy on Assessment of Performance.

10. Compensations and indemnities paid or payable to members of the management body due to their termination of office during the year

No compensations or indemnities whatsoever, in any capacity, were paid or are payable to members of the management body due to 
their termination of office during 2016.

11. The legal instruments established in article 10.

Neither the contracts concluded with the directors nor the Bank’s Memorandum of Association include any provision that foresees the 
payment of any compensation or indemnity in the event of dismissal of a member of the management body or in the case of dissolution 
of the contract by agreement, whenever this is derived from an inadequate performance of duties. Which, supplemented with the legal 
provisions established for the dismissal of directors, enables aligning the Bank’s practices with compliance with the concerns referred 
to in the article.

12. Amounts paid in any capacity by other companies in controlling or groups relations with the Institution

No payments were made to the executive directors by other companies in controlling or group relations. 

13. The main features of supplementary or early retirement pension schemes, indicating whether they were subject to appraisal by the 
General Meeting.

No supplementary or early retirement pension schemes are foreseen.
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14. The estimated value of relevant non-monetary benefits considered as remuneration not covered by the previous subparagraphs

OThe executive directors are covered under the insurance taken out by the Bank for its employees. Whenever justifiable, subject to 
analysis on a case-by-case basis, specific benefits may be attributed to directors who are displaced from their country of origin.

15. The existence of mechanisms that prevent the use, by the members of the management body, of remuneration or liability insurance, 
or any other mechanisms to cover risk tending to attenuate the effects of alignment due to the risk inherent to their modalities of 
remuneration

At the beginning of each term of office or whenever a new director takes up office, this director declares a commitment to abstain from 
concluding contracts, both with the Institution and with third parties, where the object or intended effect is the mitigation of the risk 
inherent to the variability of the remuneration established by the Institution. The current directors have not concluded such contracts.

Remuneration of the Non-Executive Members of the Board of Directors

Unless decided otherwise by the General Meeting, the non-executive members of the Board of Directors shall not earn any remuneration, 
fixed or variable, for the performance of their duties.

In the case of dismissal on fair grounds or even the dissolution of the management contract derived from an inadequate performance of 
duties, no compensation or indemnity whatsoever shall be payable, where this includes payments related to the duration of a period of prior 
notice or non-competition clause.

Remuneration of the Members of the Supervisory Board

Unless decided otherwise by the General Meeting, the members of the Supervisory Board shall not earn any remuneration, fixed or variable, 
for the performance of their duties.
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Remuneration of the Employees

1. The competent bodies of the Institution to carry out the assessment of individual performance

The assessment of the individual performance of the employees and managers (hereinafter “the Employees”) is conducted by the 
Board of Directors.

2. The predetermined criteria for the assessment of individual performance underlying the right to a variable component of remuneration

The attribution of the variable component of the remuneration of the Employees shall be based on the assessment criteria detailed 
in the respective performance assessment process for each professional category.

3. The relative importance of the variable and fixed components of remuneration, as well as the maximum limits for each component

The fixed remuneration component is structured by levels, taking into account the degree of complexity and the degree of responsibility 
associated to each position, which is determined by the Board of Directors based on the wage levels paid in the market.

Pursuant to article 115-F of the RGIC, the variable remuneration component of remuneration cannot exceed the value of the fixed 
component of remuneration, being determined based on assessment of the employee’s performance, taking into account all the types 
of current and future risks as well as the cost of own funds and the required liquidity.

4. How the payment of variable remuneration is subject to the continued positive performance of the Institution throughout the deferral 
period

The variable remuneration, including the deferred part, shall only be paid is it is sustainable in view of the Bank’s financial situation as 
a whole and, furthermore, if justified in the light of the performance of the Institution, the structural unit involved and the Employee in 
question, taking into account all the types of current and future risks, the cost of own funds and the required liquidity. 

Likewise, in the event of a regression in the Institution’s performance, or in the case of it being negative, the variable remuneration 
may be reduced, taking into account both the current remuneration and the reduction of disbursements of amounts earned previously, 
namely through regimes of aggravation or recovery and without prejudice to the application of the general principles of the national 
contractual and labour legislation.

5. The criteria underlying the attribution of variable remuneration in options, indication of the deferral period and price of exercise

Não aplicável.

6. The main parameters and substantiation of any annual bonus system and any other non-monetary benefits

The attribution of a component of variable remuneration to the Employees is determined based on the results of the performance 
assessment, conducted under the terms described above, carried out on a multi-annual basis of 3 years, according to the accumulated 
annual assessment of the performance of the Employees, taking into account all the types of current and future risks as well as the cost 
of own funds and the required liquidity.

Specifically concerning Employees who perform control functions, the assessment of their performance shall be based solely and 
exclusively on the performance of the Employee and his/her organic unit – not being influenced by the financial performance of the 
business area in which the control functions are developed –, taking into account the achievement of the specific objectives associated 
to the duties performed foreseen in the respective performance assessment process, namely compliance with the legal obligations 
to which ATLANTICO Europa is subject, regarding risk management and internal audit, in conformity with the provisions in Banco de 
Portugal Notice 5/2008, adjustable compared to all the types of risks, current and future, and taking into account the cost of own funds 
and the required liquidity as well as the corporate objectives achieved by the Institution.

31 March 2017

The Board of Directors of ATLANTICO Europa
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Quantitative information on remunerations

Information, drawn up in accordance with article 17 of Banco de Portugal Notice 10/2011, relative to the remuneration paid by the Institution 
in the financial year of 2016.

Members of the board of directors

1. The annual amount of the fixed and variable components of the remuneration and the number of beneficiaries are presented in the 
table belows

(amounts in Euros)

Beneficiary Fixed remuneration
paid in 2016

Variable remuneration attributed in 2016, 
relative to the financial year of 2015

Carlos José da Silva n.a n.a

Diogo Baptista Russo Pereira da Cunha 235,300.00 75,900.00

Augusto Costa Ramiro Baptista n.a n.a

Maria da Graça Ferreira Proença de Carvalho 185,000.00 69,000.00

José Carlos Manuel Burity 181,960.17 34,973.00

Pedro Manuel Moreira Leitão 126,855.07 n.a

Total 729,115.24 179,873.00

2. The amounts and types of variable remuneration, detailed by monetary remuneration, shares, share-linked instruments and other types

In 2016, the variable remuneration paid to the members of the Board of Directors, of the value of 72,450.00 Euros was fully attributed 
in the form of a Life insurance named Eurovida Rendimento.  

3. The amount of the unpaid deferred remuneration, detailed by invested and non-invested components

The rule of remuneration deferral was applied from 2012 onwards, i.e. being reflected in the variable remuneration attributed from 2013 
onwards. 

In 2016, at least 50% of the variable remuneration attributed to the members of the Board of Directors was deferred for a period of 
3 years (2017, 2018 and 2019). Therefore, the variable remuneration attributed in 2016, relative to the financial year of 2015 that was 
unpaid, relative to each director is as follows:

(amounts in Euros)

Beneficiary Unpaid deferred
remuneration

Diogo Baptista Russo Pereira da Cunha 37,950.00

Maria da Graça Ferreira Proença de Carvalho 34,500.00

José Carlos Manuel Burity 34,973.00

4. The annual amounts of the deferred remuneration payable, paid or subject to reductions derived from adjustments introduced according 
to the individual performance of the employees

Not applicable.

5. The number of appointments made during the year under review

During 2016 there were no appointments made whatsoever relative to governing bodies.

Members of the supervisory board

The members of the Supervisory Board do not earn any remuneration, fixed or variable, for the performance of their duties.
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Employees

The information indicated below refers to all the Bank’s employees that performed duties as Manager of department and employees that 
performed internal control functions.

1. The annual amount of the fixed and variable component of remuneration and number of beneficiaries

(amounts in Euros)

Number of beneficiaries Fixed remuneration
paid in 2016

Variable remuneration attributed in 2016, 
relative to the financial year of 2015

30 1,956,223.00 414,700.00 

2. The amounts and types of variable remuneration, detailed by monetary remuneration, shares, share-linked instruments and other types

Total amount of variable monetary remuneration: 117,460.28 Euros, of which 4,350.00 Euros represented variable remuneration 
attributed in 2016, and 113,110.28 Euros represented variable remuneration attributed in previous years (as indicated in subparagraph 
d) below).

In 2016, the remaining variable remuneration paid to the employees, relative to the financial year of 2015, of the total amount of 
253,350.00 Euros, was fully attributed in the form of a Life insurance named Eurovida Rendimento  

3. The amount of the unpaid deferred remuneration, detailed by invested and non-invested components

The rule of remuneration deferral was applied from 2012 onwards, i.e. being reflected in the variable remuneration attributed from 2013 
onwards 

In 2016 the payment of remuneration of the value of 157,000.00 Euros was deferred.

4. The annual amounts of the deferred remuneration payable, paid or subject to reductions derived from adjustments introduced according 
to the individual performance of the employees

The rule of remuneration deferral was applied from 2012 onwards, i.e. being reflected in the variable remuneration attributed from 2013 
onwards.. 

In 2016 the payment was made of deferred remuneration relative to financial years prior to 2014, inclusively, of the value of 113,110.28 
Euros.

5. The number of new contracts concluded in the year under review

In 2016 four employees were contracted who are integrated in the present Policy.

6. The amount of payments made or payable due to early termination of the employment contract with employees, the number of 
beneficiaries of these payments, and the largest payment attributed a an employee

In 2016, the value of 7,920.00 Euros was paid, due to the early termination of 1 (one) employment contract.

Aggregate quantitative information, detailed by area of activity, relative to the remuneration of the employees

(amounts in Euros)

Area of activity Total amount paid

Centro Atlântico 356,064.44

Corporate banking 333,366.22

Private banking 305,409.00

Financial markets 149,654.37

Capital markets 122,484.23

International financial institutions 581,883.02

Investment banking 214,466.01

Internal control 610,013.38

Supporting areas 2,445,685.65

(1) Includes the Namibia Branch
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Proposed appropriation of net income

In the financial year between 1 January 2016 and 31 December 2016, Banco Privado Atlântico Europa achieved a positive net income of 
5,124,262.61 Euros.

The Board of Directors of Banco Privado Atlântico Europa proposes:

1. That 10% of the positive net income, of the value of 512,426.26 Euros, should be allocated to the heading of “Legal Reserves”;
2. That 60% of the positive net income, of the value of 3,074,557.57 Euros, should be allocated to the heading of “Retained Earnings”;
3. That 30% of the positive net income, of the value of 1,537,278.78 Euros, should be distributed to the Company’s shareholders as 

dividends.

Lisbon, 31 March 2017

The Board of Directors
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Balance sheet

31 Dec 2016

Assets Notes Gross assets
Provisions,

impairment & 
amortisations

Net assets 31 Dec 2015 
(restated)

1 Jan 2015 
(restated)

Cash and deposits in central banks 3.1 374,193,403 - 374,193,403 134,367,745 6,457,994

Deposits in other banks 3.2 30,827,170 - 30,827,170 106,989,874 38,193,190

Financial assets held for trading 3.3 2,598,882 - 2,598,882 90,708 1,622,083

Financial assets available for sale 3.4 443,899,960 - 443,899,960 263,606,346 237,177,754

Applications in banks 3.5 e 3.18 144,188,230 (136,045) 144,052,185 97,066,332 146,646,617

Loans to clients 3.6 e 3.18 105,415,019 (8,314,380) 97,100,639 164,339,551 111,987,567

Investments held to maturity 3.7 144,961,758 - 144,961,758 67,583,084 -

Hedge derivatives 3.8 - - - 515,621 -

Other tangible assets 3.9 22,923,724 (2,759,521 20,164,203 20,869,837 21,009,633

Intagible assets 3.10 2,925,754 (1,890,465) 1,035,289 1,080,493 836,901

Investments in subsidiaries 3.11 50,000 - 50,000 2,690,829 1,572,086

Current tax assets 3.12 744,710 - 744,710 126,713 126,713

Deferred tax assets 3.12 1,939,624 - 1,939,624 1,973,469 604,682

Other assets 3.13 e 3.18 6,278,112 (610,356) 5,667,756 2,022,716 4,011,695

Total assets 1,280,946,346 (13,710,767) 1,267,235,579 863,323,318 570,246,915

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity Notes 31 Dec 16 31 Dec 2015 
(restated)

1 Jan 2015 
(restated)

Liabilities

Funding from central banks 3.14 295,516,825 290,179,422 167,725,325

Financial liabilities held for trading 3.3 2,249,606 202,234 238,547

Hedge derivatives 3.8 42,212 - -

Funding from other banks 3.15 534,807,599 204,994,866 156,001,541

Funding from clients 3.16 357,349,342 269,196,169 173,767,164

Liabilities represented by securities 3.17 4,750,932 32,043,675 -

Provisions 3.18 515,705 1,355,287 167,342

Current tax liabilities 3.19 - 1,504,612 1,328,740

Deferred tax liabilities 3.19 332,542 689,570 1,727,544

Other liabilities 3.20 10,978,715 4,878,382 11,672,022

Total liabilities 1,206,543,478 805,044,217 512,628,225

Capital 3.22 50,000,000 50,000,000 50,000,000

Revaluation reserves  3.23 213,110 1,639,752 5,047,139

Other reserves and retained earnings  3.23 5,354,728 2,008,377 (1,182,938)

Net income of the year  3.23 5,124,263 4,630,972 3,754,489

Total shareholders’ equity 60,692,101 58,279,101 57,618,690

Total liabilities + shareholders’ equity 1,267,235,579 863,323,318 570,246,915
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Income statement

Notes 2016 2015 (restated) 

Interest and similar income 15,807,073 14,270,586

Interest and similar costs (6,862,833) (4,148,343)

Net interest income 3.24 8,944,240 10,122,243

Income from services and commissions 3.25 6,860,385 4,015,505

Charges with services and commissions 3.25 (582,033) (381,632)

Profit/loss from assets and liabilities at fair value
through the income statement 3.26 (16,682) 190,008

Profit/loss from financial assets available for sale 3.26 2,718,976 5,133,404

Profit/loss from exchange revaluation 3.26 3,523,240 1,234,411

Other operating results 3.27 1,568,771 2,369,087

Operating income 23,016,897 22,683,026

Personnel costs 3.28 (8,145,629) (6,680,927)

General administrative costs 3.29 (4,244,537) (4,356,357)

Amortisations 3.9 e 3.10 (1,266,505) (913,670)

Operating costs (13,656,671) (11,950,954)

Impairment and other net provisions 3.18 (1,590,231) (4,068,805)

Profit before tax 7,769,995 6,663,267

Current income tax  3.30 (2,595,041) (3,322,089)

Deferred tax 3.30 (50,691) 1,289,704

Net income for the year 5,124,263 4,630,972

Earnings per share 0.1025 0.0926
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Statement of comprehensive income

2016 2015 (restated) 

Net income for the year 5,124,263 4.630,972

Items that may be reclassified to the income statement - -

Revaluation of the financial assets available for sale (1,401,147) (4,070,488)

Fiscal impacts 357,028 1,037,975

Exchange differences of branches abroad (382,523) (374,874)

Income not recognised in the income statement (1,426,642) (3,407,387)

Total comprehensive income for the year 3,697,621 1,223,585
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Cash flow statement

2016 2015 (restated) 

Cash flow from operating activities

Interest and income received 23,115,152 18,271,237

Interest and costs paid (5,650,212) (4,504,892)

Payments to employees and suppliers (11,555,173) (17,830,924)

Other costs and income paid/received from operating activities 5,554,075 5,288,568

11,463,842 1,223,989

Variation in operating assets

Applications in banks (47,021,351) 49,210,704

Loans to clients 64,691,560 (54,236,129)

Other operating assets (454,605) 1,239,936

17,215,604 (3,785,489)

Variation in operating liabilities

Funding from central banks 5,230,390 122,492,169

Frunding from other banks 329,258,106 49,003,074

Fundingfrom clients 87,372,090 95,356,101

Other operating liabilities 3,268,723 (1,351,393)

425,129,309 265,499,951

Taxation (3,585,280) (2,127,281)

Net cash flow from operating activities 450,223,475 260,811,170

Cash flow from investment activities

Acquisition and sale of tangible and intagible assets (557,444) (971,533)

Acquisition and sale of financial assets available for sale (179,682,607) (38,985,859)

Acquisition and sale of investments in subsidiaries - (1,118,743)

Acquisition and sale of held to maturity investments (77,356,886) (54,381,274)

Dividends paid (1,284,623) (563,174)

Net cash flow from investment activities (258,881,560) (96,020,583)

Cash flow from financing activities

Variation in loans represented by securities (27,258,087) 32,001,470

Interests paid from loans represented by securities (420,874) (85,622)

Net cash flow from financing activities (27,678,961) 31,915,848

Net variation in cash and cash equivalents 163,662,954 196,706,435

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 241,357,619 44,651,184

Cash and cash equivalents at the year end 405,020,573 241,357,619
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Statement of changes in equity

Capital Revaluation
reserves

Exchange 
differences

Other reserves 
and retained 

earnings

Net income 
for the year Total

Balances on 31 December 2014 50,000,000 5,047,139 - (1,182,938) 3,754,489 57,618,690

Balances on 31 January 2015 (restated) 50,000,000 5,047,139 - (1,182,938) 3,754,489 57,618,690

Allocation of profit for 2014

Distribution of dividends - - - - (563,174) (563,174)

Transfer to reserves - - - 3,191,315 (3,191,315) -

Revaluation reserves - (3,032,513) (374,874) - - (3,407,387)

Net income for the year - - - - 4,630,972 4,630,972

Balances on 31 December 2015 (restated) 50,000,000 2,014,626 (374,874) 2,008,377 4,630,972 58,279,101

Allocation of profit for 2015

Distribution of dividends - - - - (1,284,623) (1,284,623)

Transfer to reserves - - - 3,346,351 (3,346,349) 2

Revaluation reserves - (1,044,119) (382,523) - - (1,426,642)

Net income for the year - 5,124,263 5,124,263

Balances on 31 December 2016 50,000,000 970,507 (757,397) 5,354,728 5,124,263 60,692,101



Notes to the
financial
statements
For the year ended on
31 December 2016
(amounts in Euros)
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1. Introduction

Banco Privado Atlântico - Europa, S.A. (hereinafter referred to also as “Bank”, “ATLANTICO Europa” or “Institution”) is a public limited liability 
company, with head office in Lisbon, incorporated on 22 June 2009, having started its activity in August 2009. The Bank’s incorporation was 
authorised by Banco de Portugal on 20 June 2009. The financial statements presented herein reflect the results of the Bank’s operations for 
the periods ended on 31 December 2016 and 2015.

The Bank’s corporate object is the performance of banking activity.

The financial statements as at 31 December 2016 were approved by the Board of Directors on 31 March 2017.

All the amounts presented in these notes are stated in Euros (rounded off to the nearest unit), unless explicitly specified otherwise.

2. Accounting policies

2.1 Basis of presentation

The Bank’s financial statements as at 31 December 2016 were prepared in conformity with the IFRS approved by the European Union and 
in force on that date, with the disclosures being presented in accordance with the requirements of the IAS/IFRS. 

Banco Privado Atlântico - Europa has adopted the IFRS and interpretations of mandatory application for financial years beginning on or 
after 1 January 2016.

The presented accounting policies were applied in a manner consistent with those used in the preparation of the financial statements of 
the previous year, with the alteration derived from the publication of Banco de Portugal Notice 5/2015 on 30 December 2015 having, which 
establishes that from 1 January 2016 onwards Financial Institutions should prepare their individual financial statements in accordance with 
the IAS/IFRS as endorsed by the European Union. This therefore revokes Notice 1/2005 that defined the preparation of the individual 
accounts of Banco Privado Atlântico – Europa in accordance with the Adjusted Accounting Standards (NCA). 

The impacts following the entry into force of the new Notice as of 1 January 2016 in the opening financial statements for 2016 arise from the 
repeal of Notice 3/95 relative to the recording of provisions for the loan portfolio. Pursuant to IAS 8, this alteration of policy is presented 
for comparative effects as of 1 January 2015, as described in Note 7.

2.2 Converion of balances and transactions in foreign currency (IAS 21)

The Bank’s accounts are prepared in accordance with the currency used in the economic environment in which it operates (called the 
“functional currency”), namely the Euro.

Transactions in foreign currency are recorded based on the reference exchange rate on the date of the transaction. On each reporting date, 
the monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency are converted into Euros based on the exchange rate in force.

Exchange differences calculated during currency conversion are reflected through profit or loss for the year, with the exception of those 
derived from non-monetary financial instruments, classified as available for sale, which are recorded under a specific equity heading until 
their divestment.

2.3 Financial instruments

a) Investments in credit institutions, loans to clients and receivables from other debtors and provisions

This category of financial assets essentially includes the loans granted to clients and investments in credit institutions.

Loans to clients consist of loans granted to clients and other securitised loan operations not intended for sale in the short term, and are 
initially recorded at their contracted value. Subsequently, the loans and other amounts receivable are recorded at amortised cost net of 
impairment, being submitted to periodic impairment tests.

External commissions and costs imputable to the contracting of the operations underlying the assets included in this category, as well 
as the interest associated to the granted loans, are stated on a periodic basis throughout the loan enforcement period, pursuant to the 
effective interest rate method, being recognised independently from when they are charged or paid. 
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Impairment

The Bank periodically conducts impairment tests on its financial assets recorded at amortised cost, namely the investment in credit 
institutions and loans to clients.   The indications of impairment are identified in accordance with the nature of the assets (Note 5).

The identification of indications of impairment is made on an individual basis for financial assets with a significant amount of exposure, and 
on a collective basis for homogeneous financial assets whose debit balances are not individually relevant.

Pursuant to IAS 39, the following events were considered as indication of impairment in financial assets stated at amortised cost:

• Breach of contractual clauses, namely arrears in the payment of interest or principal;
• Record of situations of default in the financial system;
• Existence of operations in force arising from loan restructuring or negotiations in progress for loan restructuring;
• Difficulties in terms of the capacity of the partners or management, namely concerning the leaving of reference partners or key 

managerial staff and divergences between partners;
• Significant financial difficulties of the debtor or debt issuer;
• Existence of a high probability of declaration of bankruptcy of the debtor or debt issuer;
• Decline of the debtor’s competitive position; and
• Collection behavioural history that enables deducing that the nominal value might not be entirely recovered.

Whenever indications of impairment are identified in financial assets analysed individually, the impairment loss will correspond to the 
difference between the present value of the future cash flow that is expected to be received (recoverable value), discounted based on the 
original effective interest rate of the asset, and the value stated in the balance sheet at the time of the analysis.

The calculated amount of impairment is recognised under costs, in the heading “Loan impairment, net of reversals and recoveries”, being 
reflected in the balance sheet separately as a deduction to the loan value to which it refers.

When, in a subsequent period, a reduction is recorded of the amount of the impairment losses attributed to an event, the previously 
recognised amount is reversed, with the impairment loss account being adjusted.  The amount of the reversal is recognised directly in the 
income statement.

b) Financial assets available for sale (IAS 39)

This heading includes:

• Fixed yield securities that have not been classified under the trading book or the loan portfolio;
• Variable yield securities available for sale; and
• Shareholders’ loans and additional paid-in capital in assets available for sale.

Assets classified as available for sale are measured at fair value, except for equity instruments that are not listed in active markets and 
whose fair value cannot be measured or estimated reliably, in which case they remain recorded at cost, net of impairment. Additionally, in 
the case of commercial paper operations, when market prices are not available they are recorded at amortised cost.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of financial assets available for sale are recorded directly in the equity heading of 
fair value revaluation reserves. At the time of sale, or if impairment is determined, the accumulated variations in fair value are transferred 
to profit or loss for the year.

Interest accrued on bonds and other fixed yield securities and the differences between their acquisition cost and nominal value (premium 
or discount) are recorded through profit and loss, using the effective interest rate method.

Income from variable yield securities (dividends in the case of shares) is recorded through profit or loss on the date when it is attributed or 
received. In accordance with this criterion, interim dividends are recorded as income in the period in which their distribution is deliberated.
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IAS 39 identifies various events that are considered as objective evidence of impairment of financial assets available for sale, namely:
 
• Significant financial difficulties of the issuer;
• Contractual non-compliance of the issuer in terms of repayment of principal or payment of interest;
• Probability of bankruptcy of the issuer; and
• Disappearance of an active market for a financial asset due to financial difficulties of the issuer.

In addition to the indications of impairment relative to debt instruments referred to above, the following specific indications are also 
considered with respect to equity instruments:

• Significant alterations with adverse impact in the technological, market or legal environment in which the issuer operates, which 
indicate that the cost of the investment might not be entirely recovered; and

• A significant or prolonged decline in the market value of the financial asset below its acquisition price.

With reference to the date of preparation of the balance sheet, the Company assesses the existence of situations of objective evidence of 
impairment which indicate that the cost of the investments might not be recovered in the medium term, considering the market scenarios 
and available information on the issuers.

In the case of objective evidence of impairment, the accumulated loss in the revaluation reserve is removed from the equity and recognised 
through profit or loss.

Impairment losses recorded in fixed yield securities are reversible through profit or loss if there is a positive change in the fair value of 
the security derived from an event that occurred after the determination of the impairment. Impairment losses relative to variable yield 
securities cannot be reversed. In the case of securities for which impairment has been recognised, subsequent negative changes in fair 
value are always recognised through profit or loss.

Exchange variations in non-monetary assets (equity instruments) classified under the available for sale portfolio are recorded in revaluation 
reserves due to exchange variations. Exchange differences in all other securities are recorded through profit or loss.

c) Financial assets held to maturity (IAS 39)

This heading includes non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and defined maturities, which ATLANTICO 
Europa intends and has the capacity to hold to maturity.

These investments are valued at amortised cost, based on the effective interest rate method and are subject to impairment tests.

Impairment losses recognised for financial investments held to maturity are recorded through profit or loss for the year.

If, during a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases, and this decrease may be objectively related to an event that 
occurred after the recognition of the impairment, it is reversed against profit or loss for the year.

d) Financial assets held for trading at fair value through profit or loss and financial trading liabilities (IAS 39)

This category essentially includes securities acquired for the purpose of accomplishing gains from short terms fluctuations in market 
prices.  This category also includes derivative financial instruments, excluding those that comply with hedge accounting requirements.

Financial assets classified in this category are recorded at fair value, with the gains and losses generated by their subsequent valuation 
being reflected through profit or loss for the year under the heading “Earnings from assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss”. 
The interest is reflected in the respective headings of “Interest and similar income”.

e) Other financial liabilities (IAS 39)

Financial liabilities are recorded on the contracting date at their fair value, minus the costs directly attributable to the transaction.

This category includes funding from central banks, funding from other credit institutions, funding from clients and liabilities incurred for 
payment of services rendered.

These financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method.
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f) Derivatives and hedge accounting

The Bank carries out operations with derivative products under its activity, for the purpose of meeting its clients’ needs and reducing its 
exposure to exchange rate, interest rate and stock market price fluctuations.

Derivative financial instruments are recorded at their fair value on the date when they are contracted and on subsequent measurement. 
Furthermore, they are reflected under off-balance sheet headings at their notional value.

Trading derivatives

These include all derivatives are considered all derivative financial instruments which are not associated to effective hedge relations, 
pursuant to IAS 39, including:

• Derivatives contracted to hedge against risk in assets and liabilities recorded at fair value through profit or loss, thus making the use 
of hedge accounting unnecessary;

• Derivatives contracted to hedge against risk that do not constitute effective hedges under IAS 39;
• Derivatives contracted for the purpose of trading;
• Derivatives embedded in financial instruments. These instruments are treated separately whenever the economic risks and benefits 

of the derivative are not related to the principal instrument and provided that the entire instrument is not stated at fair value through 
profit or loss.

Trading derivatives are recorded at fair value, with the earnings being recognised under income and costs for the year in the heading 
“Earnings from assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss”.  Positive and negative fair value is recorded under the Balance 
Sheet headings of “Financial assets held for trading” and “Financial liabilities held for trading”, respectively.

Hedge accounting

i) Hedge accounting

Classification as hedge derivatives and the use of the hedge accounting concept, as described below, is subject to compliance with 
the rules defined in IAS 39. For all hedge relations, the Bank prepares, at the beginning of the operation, formal documentation which 
includes the following aspects:

• Objectives for risk management and strategy associate to the conduct of hedge operations, pursuant to the risk hedging policies 
defined by the Bank;

• Description of the covered risk(s);
• Identification and description of the covered and hedge financial instruments;
• Method of appraisal of the hedge effectiveness and periodicity of its accomplishment.

ii) Fair value hedge 

Variations in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedge instruments are recorded under income 
and costs for the year, as well as the fair value variations of the covered items. These valuations are reflected in the headings where the 
assets and liabilities are recorded. When the hedge relationship no longer complies with the requirements defined in the standard, the 
accumulated values of fair value variation up to the date of the discontinuation of the hedge are amortised through profit or loss over the 
remaining period of the hedged item.

iii) Cash flow hedge 

Fair value variations of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in equity in the effective portion. 
Fair value variations of the ineffective portion of the hedge relations are recognised under costs or income. The accumulated values under 
equity are reclassified to profit or loss for the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss. 

When the hedge relationship no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, it is discontinued prospectively, with fair value variations 
of the derivative being recorded under equity: 

• deferred over the remaining period of the hedged item; or 
• recognised under costs or income, if the hedged instrument has been extinguished. 

In the case of the discontinuation of a hedge relation of a future transaction, the fair value variations of the derivative recorded under 
equity shall remain there until the future transaction is recognised through profit or loss.

iv) Hedge of a net investment in a foreign entity

The hedge of a net investment in a foreign entity is stated in manner similar to that of cash flow hedges. Exchange gains or losses 
derived from the hedge instrument are recognised under equity in the effective portion of the hedge relation. The ineffective portion 
is recognised through profit or loss for the year. Accumulated gains and losses relative to the foreign entity and the respective hedge 
operation recorded under equity are transferred to profit or loss for the year upon the sale of the foreign entity, as an integral part of the 
gain or loss derived from the divestment.
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v) Hedge effectiveness

Hedge effectiveness tests are periodically carried out and documented by comparison of the fair value variation of the hedge instrument 
and the hedged item (in the portion attributable to the covered risk). In order to enable the use of hedge accounting, pursuant to IAS 39, 
this relationship should stand within an interval between 80% and 125%. Furthermore, prospective effectiveness testing is carried out, so 
as demonstrate the expected future effectiveness of the hedge.

The valuations of the hedged items are reflected in the headings where these assets and liabilities are recorded.

g) Fair value (IFRS 13)

As noted above, financial assets classified in the categories of “Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” and “Financial assets 
available for sale” are recorded at fair value.

The fair value of a financial instrument is the price at which an orderly transaction of sale of an asset or transfer of a liability would be 
accomplished between market participants on the reporting date.

The fair value of securities is determined based on the following criteria:

• Closing market prices on the reporting date, for instruments traded on active markets; and
• Bid prices disclosed through means of disclosure of financial information, namely Bloomberg.

The fair value of derivatives is determined based on the following criteria:

• Based on prices obtained in active markets;
• Based on models which incorporate valuation techniques accepted in the market, including discounted cash flow and options 

valuation models.

2.4 Other tangible assets (IAS 16, Notice 1/2005 and IAS 17)

Other tangible assets are recorded at acquisition cost, minus accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. Costs related to repair, 
maintenance and other expenses associated to their use are recognised as costs for the year, under the heading “General administrative 
costs”.

Amortisation and depreciation is calculated based on the straight-line method, being recorded under costs for the year on a systematic 
basis over the estimated period of useful life of the asset, which corresponds to the period when it is expected that the asset will be 
available for use, placed in the following intervals:

Assets Years

Own buildings 50

Works on rented buildings 20

Furniture and materials 8

Machines and tools 5-10

IT equipment 3-4

Interior facilities 8-10

Transpor material 4

Safety equipment 8-10

Whenever the net book value of the tangible assets exceeds its recoverable value, pursuant to IAS 36 – “Impairment of assets”, an 
impairment loss is recognised, reflected through profit or loss for the year. Impairment losses can be reversed, also with impact on profit 
or loss for the year, if an increase of the asset’s recoverable value occurs in following periods.
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2.5 Intagible assets (IAS 38)

This heading essentially includes costs related to the acquisition, development or preparation for use of software used in the development 
of the Bank’ activities. Intangible assets are recorded at acquisition cost, minus accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 

Amortisation is recorded as costs in the year on a systematic basis over the estimated useful life of the assets, which on average 
corresponds to a period of 3 years.

Software maintenance expenses are recognised as costs in the year in which they are incurred.

2.6 Investments in branches abroad

The financial statements of the Bank’s branches resident abroad are prepared in their functional currency, defined as the currency of the 
economy in which they operate or the currency in which the subsidiaries obtain their income or finance their activity. In the preparation 
of the bank’s financial statements, the value of the assets and liabilities of branches resident abroad is recorded against its countervalue 
in Euros at the official exchange rate in force on the reporting date.

Exchange differences calculated between the value of conversion into Euros of the net worth at the beginning of the year and its 
value converted at the exchange rate in force on the reporting date, are stated against reserves - exchange differences. The exchange 
differences derived from hedge instruments relative to branches expressed in a foreign currency are exchange differences recorded under 
equity in relation to these branches. Whenever the hedge is not fully effective, the ineffective portion is recorded through profit or loss 
of the year.

The earnings of these branches are transposed at their countervalue in Euros at an approximate exchange rate of the rates in force on 
the date when the transactions were made. Exchange differences derived from the conversion into Euros of the earnings for the period, 
arising from the difference between the exchange rates used in the income statement and the exchange rates in force on the reporting 
date, are recorded in reserves - exchange differences.

Upon the divestment of branches resident abroad for which there is loss of control, the exchange differences associated to the branch 
and the respective hedged operation previously recorded in reserves, are transferred to profit or loss, as an integral part of the gain or 
loss arising from the divestment.

2.7 Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures (IAS 28 and IAS 31)

This heading includes the financial holdings in companies in which the Bank exercises effective control over its current management, so 
as to obtain economic benefits from its activities. These companies are designated “subsidiaries”. Normally, control is demonstrated by 
holding more than 50% of the capital or voting rights.

These assets are recorded at acquisition cost, being subject to periodic impairment tests.

The dividends are recorded as income for the year in which their distribution to the subsidiaries is decided.

2.8 Income tax (IAS 12)

Total income tax recorded through profit or loss consists of current and deferred taxes. 

Current tax is calculated based on the taxable profit for the year, which is different from the book value profit due to adjustments to taxable 
profit arising from costs or income not relevant for tax purposes, or which will only be considered in other periods.

Deferred taxes correspond to the impact on tax that is recoverable / payable in future periods, arising from temporary deductible or 
taxable differences between the balance sheet value of the assets and liabilities and their tax base, used to determine the taxable profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are normally recorded for all temporary taxable differences, while deferred tax assets are recorded only up to the 
amount to which future taxable profits are likely so as to enable the use of the corresponding deductible taxable differences or tax losses.

Deferred taxes are calculated using tax rates that are expected to be in force on the date of the reversal of the temporary differences, which 
correspond to the rates approved, or largely approved, on the reporting date.

Pursuant to article 18 of the Local Finance Law, municipalities may decide to apply an annual surcharge up to the maximum limit of 1.5% of 
taxable profit subject to and not exempt from corporate income tax (IRC). 

The state surcharge is payable by taxable persons that record a taxable profit above 1,500,000 Euros, subject to and not exempt from 
corporate income tax (IRC). 
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In 2016, the state surcharge rates remained the same as in 2015, established at 3% of the value of taxable profit above 1,500,000 Euros 
and up to 7,500,000 Euros, at 5% of taxable profit between 7,500,000 Euros and 35,000,000 Euros, and at 7% of taxable profit above this 
last value.

On the other hand, the publication of Law 55-A/2010, of 31 December, implied that the Bank was henceforth covered by the banking sector 
contribution regime. The contribution of the banking sector is incident on:

• Liabilities recorded and approved by taxable persons minus, when applicable, liability items which are included in own funds and 
deposits covered by the Deposit Guarantee Fund. 

• The notional value of off-balance sheet derivative financial instruments recorded by taxable persons.

The rate applicable to the base of incidence defined by subparagraph a) of the previous article varies between 0.01% and 0.110% according 
to the calculated value. The rate applicable to the base of incidence defined by subparagraph b) of the previous article varies between 
0.00010 % and 0.00030% according to the calculated value.

Income tax (current or deferred) is reflected through profit or loss for the year, except where the transactions which gave rise to it have 
been recorded under other equity headings. In these cases, the corresponding tax is also recognised against equity, and does not affect 
the net income for the year.

2.9 Employee benefits (IAS 19)

Liabilities related to employee benefits are recognised in accordance with the principles established by IAS 19 – Employee Benefits.

ATLANTICO Europa has not subscribed to the Collective Labour Agreement in force for the banking sector, with its employees being 
covered by the General Social Security Scheme. For this reason, as at 31 December 2016, the Bank has no liabilities whatsoever related to 
pensions, retirement pension supplements or other long term benefits to be attributed to its employees.

Short term benefits, including productivity bonuses attributed to employees for their performance, are reflected under “Staff costs” in the 
financial year to which they refer, in accordance with the accrual principle.

2.10 Provisions and contingent liabilities

A provision is constituted when there is a present obligation (legal or constructive), arising from past events where future expenditure on 
resources is probable, and which may be determined reliably The amount of the provision corresponds to the best estimate of the value to 
be disbursed in order to settle the liability on the reporting date.

If the future expenditure on resources is not likely, then this is a contingent liability. Contingent liabilities are merely disclosed, unless the 
possibility of their realisation is remote.

Provisions are derecognised when used or when the liability no longer exists.

2.11 Recognition of costs and income

Costs and income are recognised in the year to which they refer, independently of the date of their payment or receipt, in accordance with 
the accrual accounting principle.

Interest is recognised based on the effective interest rate method, which enables calculating the amortised cost and distributing the 
interest over the period of the operations. The effective interest rate is the rate which, when used to discount the expected future cash 
flow associated to the financial instrument, enables its present value to be equal to the value of the financial instrument on the date of its 
initial recognition.

2.12 Commissions

Commissions received relative to credit operations and other financial instruments, namely commissions charged upon the origination of 
operations, are recognised as income over the period of the operation. 

Commissions from services rendered are normally recognised as income throughout the period of provision of the service, or just once, if 
they arise from single acts.
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2.13 Other operating income and revenue

Operating income and revenue essentially include services rendered, namely to support the structuring and assembly of funding operations 
under subcontracting arrangements.

The income associated to these services is recognised in the income statement heading of “Other operating results” throughout the period 
of provision of the service, or just once, if they arise from single acts.

2.14 Securities and other items held for safekeeping on behalf of clients

Securities and other items held for safekeeping on behalf of clients are recorded at fair value under off-balance sheet headings.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

For purposes of preparation of the cash flow statement, the Bank considers that “Cash and cash equivalents” correspond to the total 
balances of the headings of “Cash and deposits at central banks” and “Deposits at other credit institutions”.

2.16 Critical accounting estimates and most relevant aspects of judgement in the application of the accounting criteria

When applying the accounting policies described above, the Bank’s Board of Directors is required to make estimates. The estimates with 
most impact on the Bank’s financial statements include those presented below.

In some situations, the accounting standards enable alternative accounting treatments and so the reported results could be different if 
diverse treatments are adopted. The Board of Directors believes that the adopted criteria are the most appropriate and that the financial 
statements present the Bank’s financial position adequately in all material aspects.

Determination of Taxes on Profits

The taxes on profits (current and deferred) are determined by the Bank based on the rules established by the tax regulations in force. 

However, in some situations, the tax legislation might not be sufficiently clear and objective, leading to the existence of different 
interpretations. In these cases, the recorded values are derived from the best understanding of the Bank’s responsible bodies on the 
correct context of its operations, which, however, may be questioned by the Tax Authorities.

Furthermore, deferred tax assets are recorded based on projections of future earnings prepared by the Bank’s Board of Directors.  However, 
the real earnings could differ from the estimated earnings.

Determination of Impairment Losses in Financial Assets

With respect to the provisions for loans to clients, accounts receivable and guarantees provided, the Bank complies with the minimum 
limits defined by Banco de Portugal. However, whenever considered necessary, these provisions are supplemented so as to reflect the 
Bank’s estimate on the risk of non-collectability associated to the clients.

This assessment is made on a case-by-case basis by the Bank based on its specific knowledge of the reality of its clients and on the 
guarantees associated to the operations in question.
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2.17 Adoption of new standards (IAS/IFRS) or revision of standards that have already been issued

The standards and interpretation issued recently which have been enforced and that the Bank considered in the preparation of its financial 
statements are as follows: 

IAS 19 (amended) – Defined Benefit Plan: Employee contributions

The IASB issued this amendment on 21 November 2013, with effective application date (retrospectively) for periods that start on or after 1 
July 2014. This amendment was adopted by European Commission Regulation 29/2015, of 17 December 2014 (defining its entry into force, 
at the latest, as of the starting date of the first financial year beginning on or after 1 February 2015 ).

The present amendment clarifies the guidelines related to contributions made by employees or third party entities, linked to the services, 
requiring that the entity should attribute such contributions in conformity with paragraph 70 of IAS 19 (2011). In this light, these contributions 
are attributed using the contribution formula of the plan or in a linear manner.

The amendment reduces the complexity by introducing a simple form that allows an entity to recognise contributions made by employees 
or third party entities, linked to the service that are independent of the number of years of service (for example, a percentage of 
remuneration), as a reduction to the cost of the services in the period when the service is being rendered.

The Bank had no relevant impact on the application of this amendment on its financial statements. 

Improvements to the IFRS (2010-2012)

The annual improvements of the 2010-2012 cycle, issued by the IASB on 12 December 2013, introduce amendments, with effective 
application date for periods that start on or after 1 July 2014 to IFRS 2, IFRS 3, IFRS 8, IFRS 13, IAS 16, IAS 24 and IAS 38.

These amendments were adopted by European Commission Regulation 28/2015, of 17 December 2014 (defining its entry into force, at the 
latest, as of the starting date of the first financial year beginning on or after 1 February 2015 ).

IFRS 2 – Definition of vesting conditions

The amendment clarifies the definition of vesting conditions contained in Appendix A of IFRS 2 - Share-based payments, separating the 
definition of “performance condition” “and “service condition” from “vesting condition”, producing a clearer description of each condition.

IFRS 3 – Accounting for contingent consideration in a business combination

The objective of the amendment seeks to clarify certain aspects of the accounting of contingent consideration in a business combination, 
namely the classification of the contingent consideration, taking into account whether this contingent consideration is a financial instrument 
or a non-financial asset or liability.

IFRS 8 – Aggregation of operating segments and reconciliation between the total reportable segment’s assets and the entity’s assets

The amendment clarifies the aggregation criteria and requires that an entity disclose the factors used to identify the reportable segments, 
when the operating segment has been aggregated. In order to achieve internal consistency, a reconciliation of the total assets of the 
reportable segments for the total assets of an entity should be disclosed, if these amounts were regularly provided to the operational 
decision-maker.

IFRS 13 – Contas a receber ou pagar de curto prazo

The IASB amended the basis of conclusion by clarifying that, in eliminating AG 79 of IAS 39, it did not intend to eliminate the need to 
determine the present value of a short term receivable or payable account, whose invoice was issued free of interest, if this discount is 
materially relevant. It should be noted that paragraph 8 of IAS 8 already allows an entity not to apply accounting policies defined in the 
IFRS if its impact is immaterial.

IAS 16 and IAS 40 – Revaluation method – proportionate restatement of accumulated depreciation or amortisation

In order to clarify the calculation of accumulated depreciation or amortisation, as at the revaluation date, the IASB amended paragraph 35 
of IAS 16 and paragraph 80 of IAS 38, in that: (i) the determination of the accumulated depreciation (or amortisation) does not depend on 
the selection of the valuation technique, and (ii) the accumulated depreciation (or amortisation) is calculated by the difference between 
the gross amount and the net book value.
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IAS 24 – Related party transactions – key management personnel services

In order to resolve some concern about the identification of costs related to key management personnel (KMP) services when these 
services are provided by an entity (management entity as, for example, in investment funds), the IASB clarified that the disclosures of the 
amounts incurred by the KMP services supplied by a separate management entity should be disclosed, although it is not necessary to 
present the breakdown established in paragraph 17.

The Bank had no relevant impact on the application of this amendment on its financial statements.

Improvements to the IFRS (2012-2014)

The annual improvements of the 2012-2014 cycle, issued by the IASB on 25 September 2014, introduce amendments, with effective 
application date for periods that start on or after 1 January 2016 to IFRS 5, IFRS 7, IAS 19 and IAS 34. These amendments were endorsed 
by European Commission Regulation 2343/2015, of 15 December 2015.

IFRS 5 - Intangible non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations: Changes in methods of disposal

The amendment to IFRS 5 clarifies that when an entity reclassifies an asset (or a discontinued group) directly from “held for sale” to 
“held for distribution to owners”, or vice versa, then the change of classification is considered a continuation of the original disposal plan. 
Therefore, no measurement gain or loss shall be recorded in the income statement or in the comprehensive income statement.

IFRS 7 – Financial instruments: Disclosures: servicing contracts

The amendments to IFRS 7 clarify - adding guidelines for additional application - when contracts of provision of services constitute 
continued involvement for purposes of the application of the disclosure requirements in paragraph 42 C of IFRS 7.

IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures: Applicability of the Amendments to IFRS 7 in offsetting financial assets and liabilities for 
condensed interim financial statements

The present amendment clarifies that the required additional disclosures that were introduced in December 2011 by the amendments to 
IFRS 7 - offsetting financial assets and liabilities – are not necessary for interim periods after the year of their initial application, unless IAS 
34 Interim Financial Reporting requires these disclosures.

IAS 19 - Employee Benefits: Discount rate: regional market issue

The amendments to IAS 19 clarify that the high quality corporate bonds used to estimate the discount rate should be determined 
considering the same currency in which the benefits will be paid. Consequently, the depth of the high quality corporate bond market 
should be assessed in terms of the currency, instead of in terms of the country. If an active market does not exist, then the market rate of 
the government bonds denominated in that currency should be used.

IAS 34 - Interim Financial Reporting: Disclosure of information “in other parts of the interim financial report”

The amendments clarify that “other disclosures” required by paragraph 16A of IAS 34 should be presented, either in the interim financial 
statements or incorporated by cross reference in the interim financial statements to another document (with comments of the management 
or a risk report) that should be available to the users of the financial statements under the same terms as the interim financial statements, 
At the same time, as amendments to IAS 34 also clarify that, if the users of the financial statements do not have access to this information, 
included by cross reference, under the same conditions and at the same time, then the interim financial report is incomplete.

IAS 27: IAS 27 - Equity method in separate financial statements

On 12 August 2014, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 27, with effective application date for periods Initialises on or after 1 January 2016, 
aimed at introducing an option for the measurement of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures by the equity method in separate financial 
statements.

Exception to consolidation (amendments to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28)

On 18 December 2014, the IASB issued amendments, applicable to periods that start on or after 1 January 2016, to IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and 
IAS 28, Investment Entities: Application of the exception of consolidation, enabling investment entities to be exempt from consolidation 
provided that certain requirements are met.

The Bank had no relevant impact on the application of these amendments on its financial statements.
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Other changes

In 2014, the IASB also issued the following amendments, applicable to periods that start on or after 1 January 2016:

• Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of the accepted methods for depreciation and amortisation (issued on 12 May);
• Amendments to IFRS 11: Recording of acquisitions of interests in joint ventures (issued on 6 May);
• Amendments to IAS 1: Initiative of Disclosures (issued on 18 December).

The Bank had no relevant impact on the application of these amendments on its financial statements.
 
The Bank decided against the early application of the following standards and/or interpretations:

IFRS 9 - Financial Instruments (issued in 2009 and amended in 2010, 2013 and 2014)

IFRS 9 was endorsed defining its entry into force, at the latest, as of the starting date of the first financial year beginning on or after 1 
January 2018.

IFRS 9 (2009) introduced new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets. IFRS 9 (2010) introduced additional 
requirements related to financial liabilities. IFRS 9 (2013) introduced the hedge method. IFRS 9 (2014) made limited amendments to the 
classification and measurement presented in IFRS 9 and new requirements to address the impairment of financial assets.

The requirements of IFRS 9 represent a significant change to the current requirements established in IAS 39, with respect to financial 
assets. The standard presents three categories of measurement of financial assets: amortised cost, fair value against other comprehensive 
income (OCI) and fair value through profit or loss. A financial asset should be measured at amortised cost if it is held in the context of a 
business model whose objective is to hold the asset in order to receive the contractual cash flow and the terms of its cash flow will give 
rise to revenue, on specified dates, related only to the nominal amount and interest in force. If the debt instrument is held in the context of 
a business model that captures the contractual cash flow of the instrument and also captures through sales, the measurement should be 
at fair value with the consideration being recorded under other comprehensive income, and the interest income should continue to affect 
profit or loss. 

For an investment in equity instruments that is not held for trading, the standard permits an irrevocable choice, at initial recognition, 
on an individual basis for each share, of presenting the fair value variations under other comprehensive income. None of this amount 
recognised under other comprehensive income will be reclassified to profit or loss at any future date. However, dividends generated by 
these investments are recognised through profit or loss instead of other comprehensive income, unless this clearly represents a partial 
recovery of the investment cost.

In all other cases, both in cases where the financial assets are held in the context of a trading business model, and other instruments that 
not only have the purpose of receiving interest and amortisation and capital are measured at fair value against profit or loss.

This situation also includes investments in equity instruments, for which the entity does not wish to present its fair value variations under 
other comprehensive income, thus being measured at fair value with the variations recognised through profit or loss.

The standard requires that embedded derivatives in contracts whose underlying contract is a financial asset, covered by the scope of 
application of the standard, should not be separated, but rather, in contrast, the hybrid financial instrument should be assessed as a whole 
and, after checking the embedded derivatives, must be measured at fair value through profit or loss.

The standard eliminates the categories currently existing in IAS 39 of “held to maturity”, “available for sale” and “accounts receivable and 
payable”.

IFRS 9 (2010) introduces a new requirement applicable to financial liabilities optionally stated at fair value, henceforth imposing the 
separation of the component of fair value variation that is attributable to the entity’s credit risk and its presentation under other 
comprehensive income, instead of through profit or loss. As an exception to this alteration, IFRS 9 in general transposes the classification 
and measurement guidelines established in IAS 39 for financial liabilities without substantial alterations.

IFRS 9 (2013) introduced new requirements for hedge accounting, which aligns it more closely with risk management. The requirements 
also establish a greater addressing of hedge accounting principles, resolving various weaknesses contained in the hedge model of IAS 39.

IFRS 9 (2014) establishes a new impairment model based on “expected loss” that will replace the current model based on “losses incurred”, 
established in IAS 39.

Thus, the loss event no longer needs to be checked before constituting an impairment. This new model aims to accelerate the recognition 
of impairment losses through impairment applicable to debt instruments held, whose measurement is at amortised cost or at fair value 
against other comprehensive income.
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If the credit risk of a financial asset has not increased significantly since its initial recognition, the financial asset will generate an accumulated 
impairment equal to the expected loss estimated to occur in the next 12 months.

If the credit risk has increased significantly, the assets will generate a accumulated impairment equal to the expected loss that is estimated 
to possibly occur until its maturity, thus increasing the recognised amount of impairment.

Once a loss event has occurred (which is currently referred to as “objective evidence of impairment”), the accumulated impairment is 
directly allocated to the instrument in question, with its accounting treatment being similar to that established in IAS 39, including the 
treatment of the corresponding interest.

IFRS 9 will be applicable on or after 1 January 2018.

The Bank has already started the process of appraisal of the effects of this standard, however, in view of the nature of the Bank’s activities, 
it is expected that this standard should have impacts of the Bank’s financial statements.

IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers

On 28 May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers. IFRS 15 was endorsed by European Commission 
Regulation 1905/2016, of 22 September 2016. Its application will be mandatory for periods starting on or after 1 January 2018.

Its early adoption is permitted. This standard revoked IAS 11 - Construction contracts, IAS 18 - Revenue, IFRIC 13 - Customer loyalty 
programmes, IFRIC 15 - Agreements for the construction of real estate, IFRIC 18 - Transfers of assets from customers, and SIC 31 - Revenue 
- Barter transactions involving advertising services.

IFRS 15 determines a model based on 5 steps of analysis, so as to determine when the revenue should be recognised and what amount. The 
model specifies that the revenue should be recognised when an entity transfers goods or services to the client, measured by the amount 
that the entity expects to be entitled to receive. Depending on the fulfilment of certain criteria, revenue is recognised:

• At the precise moment when the control of goods or services is transferred to the client; or
• During the period, to the extent that it depicts the performance of the entity.

The Bank is currently appraising the impacts arising from the adoption of this standard.

Standards, changes and interpretations issued but not effective for the Bank

IFRIC 22 – Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration

The interpretation IFRIC 22 was issued on 8 December 2016, with mandatory date of application for periods starting on or after 1 January 
2018.

The new IFRIC 22 defined that, in the case of advances in foreign currency for purposes of acquisition of assets, expense support or income 
generation, when applying paragraphs 21 to 22 of IAS 21, the deemed transaction date for the determination of the exchange rate to be 
used in the recognition of the inherent asset, expense or income (or part of it) should be the date on which the entity initially recognises 
the non-monetary asset or liability derived from the payment or receipt of the advance in the foreign currency (or in the case of numerous 
advances, the rates in force on each advance). 

The Bank is currently appraising the impacts arising from the adoption of this standard.

IFRS 16 - Leases

On 31 January 2016, the IASB issued IFRIC 16 - Leases, of mandatory application for periods starting on or after 1 January 2019. Its early 
adoption is permitted provided that IFRS 5 is also adopted. This standard revokes IAS 17 - Leases.

IFRS 16 withdraws the classification of leases as operating or financial (for the lessor – the leasing client), and treats all leases as financial.
Short term leases (less than 12 months) and leases of low value assets (such as personal computers) are exempt from application of the 
requirements of this standard.

The Bank is currently appraising the impacts arising from the adoption of this standard.
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Other changes

The IASB also issued:

On 19 January 2016 and applicable to periods that start on or after 1 January 2017, amendments to IAS 12 that seek to clarify the requirements 
of recognition of deferred tax assets for unrealised losses to resolve divergences in practice;

On 29 January 2016 and applicable to periods that start on or after 1 January 2017, amendments to IAS 7, initiative of disclosure, requiring 
companies to present information on alterations in their financial liabilities providing information that helps investors to understand 
corporate debt;

On 20 June 2016 and applicable to periods that start on or after 1 January 2018, amendments to IFRS 2 – Classification and Measurement 
of Transactions with share-based payment:

On 8 December 2016 and applicable to periods that start on or after 1 January 2018, amendments to IAS 40 – Transfer of investment 
properties, clarifying the moment when the entity should transfer properties under construction or development from or to investment 
properties when an alteration occurs in the use of these properties that are supported by evidence (apart from that listed in paragraph 57 
of IAS 40);

The annual improvements of the 2014-2016 cycle, issued by the IASB on 8 December 2016, introduce amendments, with effective application 
date for periods that start on or after 1 January 2018, to IFRS 1 (elimination of the short term exception for first-time applicants of the IFRS) 
and IAS 28 (measurement of an associate or joint venture at fair value) and with effective date on or after 1 January 2017, and to IFRS 12 
(clarification of the scope of application of the standard).

The Bank is currently appraising the impacts arising from the adoption of this standard.
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3. Notes

3.1. Cash and deposits in central banks

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Cash 271,742 207,334

Demand deposits in Bank of Portugal 373,914,736 134,160,411

Demand deposits in other central banks 6,925 -

Total 374,193,403 134,367,745

The heading “Demand deposits at Banco de Portugal” includes deposits constituted to meet the requirements of the Minimum Reserve 
System of the European System of Central Banks (ESCB).

3.2. Deposits in other banks

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Deposits in other banks in Portugal

Demand deposits 8,474,812 69,936,116

Other deposits - -

Deposits in other banks abroad

Demand deposits 22,352,358 37,053,758

Total 30,827,170 106,989,874
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3.3. Financial assets and liabilities held for trading

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the headings of “Financial assets held for trading” and “Financial liabilities held for trading” 
refer to the positive and negative revaluation of derivatives, respectively.

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 105, the operations referred to above were valued in accordance with the criteria described in 
Note 2.3. d). On that date, the notional value and book value of the derivative financial instruments were broken down as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Notional (1)
Fair value

Notional
Fair value

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Over-the-counter market (OTC)

Foreign exchange swaps 517,435,085 2,357,800 (2,014,586) 20,218,680 9,063 (121,103)

Equity/index swaps 1,185,846 5,433 - 1,148,158 13,584 -

Term transactions 191,432 1,716 - 426,838 5,633 (4,021)

Currency options

Purchase 7,779,148 156,821 - 58,515 22,843 -

Sale (2) 7,779,148 - (156,821) 58,235 - (22,739)

Equity options

Purchase 18,217,721 77,112 - 10,358,644 39,585 -

Sale (2) 18,431,567 - (78,199) 13,416,028 - (54,371)

Total 571,019,947 2,598,882 2,249,606 45,685,098 90,708 (202,234)

(1) The asset values were considered for swaps

(2) Equivalent embeded derivates in deposits from clients 
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The distribution of the notional values of operations with derivative financial instruments as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, 
by residual periods, were detailed as follows:

2016

Up to 3m 3m - 6m 6m - 12m 12m - 24m > 24m Total

Over-the-counter market (OTC)

Foreign exchange swaps 515,804,096 1,630,990 - - - 517,435,086

Equity/index swaps - - - - 1,185,846 1,185,846

Term transactions 191,432 - - - - 191,432

Currency options

Purchase 474,338 3,320,368 3,984,442 - - 7,779,148

Sale (2) 474,338 3,320,368 3,984,442 - - 7,779,148

Equity options

Purchase 500,000 13,346,029 3,371,691 1,000,000 - 18,217,720

Sale (2) 500,000 13,346,030 3,399,691 1,185,846 - 18,431,567

Total 517,944,204 34,963,785 14,740,266 2,185,846 1,185,846 571,019,947

2015 (restated)

Up to 3m 3m - 6m 6m - 12m 12m - 24m > 24m Total

Over-the-counter market (OTC)

Foreign exchange swaps 20,218,680 - - - 20,218,680 517,435,086

Equity/index swaps - - - 1,148,158 1,148,158 1,185,846

Term transactions 426,838 - - - 426,838 191,432

Currency options

Purchase 58,515 - - - 58,515 7,779,148

Sale (2) 29,822 28,413 - - 58,235 7,779,148

Equity options

Purchase 2,010,430 4,674,107 3,674,107 - 10,358,644 18,217,720

Sale (2) 2,001,130 6,592,633 3,674,107 1,148,158 13,416,028 18,431,567

Total 24,745,415 11,295,153 7,348,214 2,296,316 45,685,098 571,019,947

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, all the operations with derivative financial instruments had been contracted with financial 
institutions except for the embedded derivatives.
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3.4 Financial assets available for sale

As at 31 December 2016, this heading was detailed as follows:

Amortized cost Interest
Fair value reserve Balance 

sheet valuePositive Negative

Debt instruments

Treasury bills 10,011,006 - - (1,006) 100,010,000

Bonds from national public issuers 107,598 2,603 2,427 - 112,628

Bonds from foreign public issuers 243,902,896 950,230 2.451.806 (993,486) 246,311,446

Bonds and commercial paper form other national issuers

Non-subordinated debt 23,012,621 143,390 150,579 (25,190) 23,281,400

Bonds from other foreign issuers

Non-subordinated debt 73,900,201 675,197 211,347 (602,259) 74,184,486

Total 440,934,322 1,771,420 2,816,159 (1,621,941) 443,899,960

(1) As per Notice 3/95

As at 31 December 2015, this heading was detailed as follows:

Amortized 
cost Interest

Fair value reserve Balance 
sheet valuePositive Negative

Debt instruments

Bonds from national public issuers 110,508 2,602 3,386 - 116,496

Bonds from foreign public issuers 182,004,908 1,224,127 4,608,928 (1,532,713) 185,305,250

Obrigações e papel comercial de outros 
emissores nacionais

Non-subordinated debt 33,151,214 562,574 690,827 (203,849) 34,200,766

Bonds from other foreign issuers

Non-subordinated debt 43,658,729 306,416 335,748 (1,317,059) 42,983,834

Total 258,925,359 2,095,719 5,638,889 (3,053,621) 263,606,999

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, according to the analysis made by the Bank, no securities with impairment were identified.

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the distribution of the “Financial assets available for sale” by residual period was as follows: 

2016 2015 (restated)

Up to 3 months 19,944,552 4,615,659

From 3 months to 1 year 159,837,009 28,860,778

From 1 to 5 years 184,281,355 148,062,643

More than 5 years 79,837,044 82,067,266

Total 443,899,960 263,606,346
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As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the distribution of the “Financial assets available for sale” by country was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Italy 185,356,109 154,448,088

Portugal 134,304,812 39,140,628

Spain 65,033,890 -

USA 44,767,937 18,685,532

United Kingdom 3,987,622 34,317,262

Angola 2,994,342 3,378,128

Namibia 1,496,544 -

Netherlands 1,389,205 3,871,673

France 1,065,398 932,076

Russia 973,899 924,254

China 952,867 914,717

Switzerland 948,359 2,796,493

Belgium 628,976 3,822,148

Brasil - 2,796,493

Total 443,899,960 263,606,346

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the distribution of “Financial assets available for sale” by activity sector was as follows

2016 2015 (restated)

Public sector 346,434,074 186,421,746

Financial services 26,352,865 16,610,144

Other 16,522,193 1,636,794

Energy 15,299,368 16,612,814

Electricity 11,147,410 25,130,039

Wholesale and retail 10,729,740 4,350,177

Communications 9,778,666 7,232,439

Automobile, aerospace and defence 6,027,395 -

Construction 1,608,249 2,605,948

Forest services and paper - 3,006,245

Total 443,899,960 263,606,246
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3.5 Applications in banks

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Applications in banks in Portugal

Short-term applications 37,700,000 38,057,000

Loans 20,672,211 -

Interest receivable 26,482 13,790

Applications in banks abroad

Short-term applications 53,389,551 56,870,702

Loans 31,827,043 1,145,263

Other applications 925,677 1,420,166

Interest receivable 110,189 19,378

Deferred income (462,923) -

Impairment (note 3.18) (136,045) (459,967)

Total 144,052,185 97,066,332

The “Investments in other credit institutions” (excluding overdue loans and interest receivable), in force as at 31 December 2016 and 31 
December 2015, showed a residual maturity period with the following structure:

2016 2015 (restated)

Up to 3 months 104,838,145 94,493,131

From 3 to 6 months 38,671,000 3,000,000

From 6 months to 1 year 1,005,337 -

Total 144,514,482 97,493,131

As at 31 December 2016, the investments in Euros and North American Dollars were remunerated at the average rate of 2.02% and 1.95% 
respectively.
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3.6 Loans to clients

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Unsecuritized credit

Domestic loans:

To companies

Loans 22,948,914 38,625,234

Collateralized current account 15,271,119 50,033,248

Confirming 2,537,474

Overdraft 1,039,529 1,004,149

Discount 529,932

Credit cards 1,880 7,345

To private individuals

Mortgages 487,083 670,443

Loans 222,206 368,089

Overdrafts 99,138 922

Credit cards 45,814 43,467

Foreign loans:

To companies

Loans 36,941,159 47,130,882

Collateralized current account 2,954,223 3,613,005

Credit cards 10,861 19,573

Overdraft 1,068

Discount - 1,570,382

To private individuals

Mortgages 8,909,118 7,056,555

Loans 3,023,082 2,943,975

Overdrafts 1,048,762 53,936

Credit cards 355,425 179,026

Past due loans and interest 7,946,045 1,038,290

Interest and commissions associated with amortized cost

Interest receivable 1,182,536 2,074,215

Commissions receivable 220,941 248,348

Deferred income (361,290) (1,494,613)

Impairment of loans to clients (note 3.18) (8,314,380) (5,552,791)

Loans to clients 97,100,639 164,339,551

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, approximately 32,923 thousand Euros and 68,734 thousand Euros of loans granted to 
clients, respectively, were backed by pledged term deposits at the Bank.
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As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the heading “Overdue loans and interest” shows the following age structure:

2016

Period

Loans

Overdue Non performing Total Impairment

Up to 30 days 487 252,071 252,558 34

From 30 to 60 days (1) 941,473 140,080 1,081,553 319,226

From 61 to 180 days (2) 2,905,177 4,857,132 7,762,309 1,339,081

From 181 to 365 days 4,089,908 4,062,550 8,161,458 3,016,536

Total 7,946,045 9,311,833 17,257,878 4,674,877
(1) Includes the amount of not-yet-due loans and advances of 368,000 euros, considered overdue for the purpose of provisions. 

(2) Includes a loan operation guaranteed by a lien on a term deposit to the amount of 900,000 dollars. 

2015 (restated)

Period

Loans

Overdue Non performing Total Impairment

Up to 30 days 17,906 816,054 833,960 4,942

From 30 to 60 days 71,255 368,124 439,379 219,054

From 61 to 180 days 945,113 - 945,113 14,068

From 181 to 365 days 4,016 - 4,016 4,016

Total 1,038,290 1,184,178 2,222,468 480,701

The movement which occurred in the impairments in the years ended on 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015 is presented in Note 3.18.

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the 5 largest clients represented approximately 47% and 48% of the total loan portfolio, 
respectively.

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the residual maturity periods of the “Loans to clients” (excluding overdue loans and 
interest, interest and commissions associated to amortised cost) showed the following structure:

2016 2015 (restated)

Up to 3 months 15,384,181 45,310,447

From 3 months to 1 year 33,067,756 62,142,812

From 1 to 5 years 30,434,840 43,720,933

More than 5 years 17,540,010 16,851,910

Total 96,426,787 168,026,102
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The composition of the portfolio of “Loans to clients”, excluding overdue loans and interest, interest and commissions associated to 
amortised cost, as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, by activity sector, was as follows:

2016

Loans to clients Guarantees Documentary credit

Non
performing Overdue Total % Amount % Amount %

Resident

Wholesale and retail 12,726,522 222,514 12,949,036 12.4 1,500,000 29.9 - -

Construction 9,725,471 2,734,414 12,459,885 11.9 - - - -

Real estate activities 10,934,626 27,144 10,961,770 10.5 631,756 12.6 - -

Consulting, scientific, technical
and similar activities 2,585,475 948,307 3,533,782 3.4 474,338 9.5 - -

Information and communication 
activities 2,517,369 16 2,517,385 2.4 - - - -

Human health and social work 
activities 2,000,000 - 2,000,000 1.9 - - - -

Private individuals 854,241 130,948 985,189 0.9 400,000 8.0 - -

Transport and storage 626,763 180,487 807,230 0.8 - - - -

Manufacturing 791,981 - 791,981 0.8 - - - -

Other services activities 235,167 - 235,167 0.2 23,700 0.5 - -

Administrative and support
services activities 107,417 - 107,417 0.1 - - - -

Financial and insurance activities 78,057 - 78,057 0.1 131,085 2.6 - -

Non-resident

Financial and insurance activities 22,940,609 - 22,940,609 22.0 1,799,135 35.9 257,016,967 100.0

Private individuals 13,336,387 21,634 13,358,021 12.8 49,834 1.0 - -

Wholesale and retail 12,523,979 - 12,423,979 12.0 - - - -

Consulting, scientific, technical
and similar activities 3,968,385 3,680,601 7,648,986 7.3 - - - -

Manufacturing 474,338 - 474,338 0.5 - - - -

Total 96,426,787 7,946,045 104,372,832 100.0 5,009,848 100.0 257,016,967 100.0



Annual Report 2016 | Notes to the financial statements

BANCO ATLANTICO EUROPA 59

2015 (restated)

Loans to clients Guarantees Documentary credit

Non
performing Overdue Total % Amount % Amount %

Resident

Construction 27,795,525 - 27,795,525 0.6 340,970 13.9 - -

Wholesale and retail 25,407,433 294 25,407,727 6.5 - - - -

Holding companies 20,328,118 - 20,328,118 12.1 - - - -

Real estate activities 9,993,749 913,926 10,907,675 16.5 631,756 25.7 - -

Information and communication 
activities 7,453,975 1,998 7,455,973 15.1 - - - -

Consulting, scientific, technical
and similar activities 7,230,977 1,891 7,232,868 4.3 551,116 22.5 - -

Manufacturing 3,553,928 - 3,553,928 0.7 - - - -

Administrative and support
services activities 1,240,622 - 1,240,622 2.1 - - - -

Transport and storage 1,144,159 - 1,144,159 0.7 - - - -

Private individuals 1,080,453 12,105 1,092,558 0.1 - - - -

Electricity, gas and water
production and supply 180,034 - 180,034 - - - - -

Other services activities 44,720 - 44,270 0.0 - - - -

Financial and insurance activities 3,305 - 3,305 0.0 131,085 5.3 - -

Human health and social
work activities - - - - 14,400 0.6 - -

Non-resident

Activities of financial holding 
companies 24,770,000 - 24,770,000 14.7 - - - -

Wholesale and retail 16,481,160 - 16,481,160 9.7 - - - -

Private individuals 11,025,960 106,094 11,122,054 6.6 49,834 2.0

Consulting, scientific, technical
and similar activities 7,115,909 1,982 7,117,891 4.2 - - - -

Real estate activities 2,328,906 - 2,328,906 1.4 - - - -

Manufacturing 857,424 - 857,424 0.5 - -

Financial and insurance activities 465 - 465 0.0 734,821 29.9 53,618,639 100.0

Total 168,026,102 1,038,290 169,064,392 100.0 2,453,982 100.0 53,618,639 100.0
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3.7 Held to maturity investments

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016

Amortized cost Interest Balance sheet value

Held to maturity investments

Bonds from national public issuers 84,025,085 166,592 84,191,677

Bonds from foreign public issuers 45,703,744 285,807 45,989,551

From other foreign issuers 14,660,344 120,186 14,780,530

Total 144,389,173 572,585 144,961,758

2015 (restated)

Amortized cost Interest Balance sheet value

Debt instruments

Bonds from national public issuers 18,635,311 173,185 18,808,496

Bonds from foreign public issuers 34,015,715 261,213 34,276,928

From other foreign issuers 14,381,261 116,399 14,497,660

Total 67,032,287 550,797 67,583,084

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, this portfolio showed the following distribution by residual period:

2016 2015 (restated)

Up to 3 months 75,003,596 -

From 3 months to 1 year - -

From 1 to 5 years 17,786,875 17,578,132

More than 5 years 52,171,287 50,004,952

Total 144,961,758 67,583,084

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the distribution of the “Investments held to maturity” by country was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Portugal 84,191,677 18,808,495

Italy 26,496,929 16,520,184

USA 22,135,758 21,500,608

Spain 7,974,054 7,881,657

Angola 2,189,044 929,722

United Kingdom 1,974,296 1,942,418

Total 144,961,758 67,583,084
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As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, this portfolio showed the following distribution by activity sector:

2016 2015 (restated)

Public sector 130,181,226 53,085,423

Wholesale and retail 4,426,815 6,635,755

Communications 3,429,649 5,333,951

Energy 2,553,404 2,527,955

Other 4,370,664 -

Total 144,961,758 67,583,084

3.8 Hedge derivatives

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016

Element covered Notional Fair value Fair value for 
covering

Fair value component of 
the element covered

Over-the-counter (OTC)

Foreign exchange swaps Capital of the Namibia branch 3,669,493 (42,212) (445,074) (445,074)

Total 3,669,493 (42,212) (445,074) (445,074)
(1) The asset values were considered for swaps

2015 (restated)

Element covered Notional Fair value Fair value for 
covering

Fair value component of 
the element covered

Over-the-counter (OTC)

Foreign exchange swaps Capital of the Namibia branch 4,572,073 515,621 117,500 (100,746)

Total 4,572,073 515,621 117,500 (100,746)
(1) The asset values were considered for swaps

The derivatives in portfolio have a residual period of less than 3 months, being replaced by others with identical features upon maturity
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3.9 Other tangible assets

The movement which occurred under the heading “Other tangible assets” during 2016 was as follows:

Gross value Depreciation and ammortization Net value

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2015

Acquisi-
tions

Exchange 
variation

Trans-
fers

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2016

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2015

Depreciation 
and ammor-

tization

Exchange 
variation

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2016

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2015

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2016

Real state

Lands 3,836,175 - - - 3,836,175 - - - - 3,836,175 3,836,175

Buildings 16,670,391 - - - 16,670,391 917,769 454,664 - 1,372,433 15,752,622 15,297,958

Expenses on 
rented
buildings

238,218 - 33,171 - 271,389 4,221 118,008 11,685 133,914 233,997 137,475

20,744,784 - 33,171 - 20,777,955 921,990 572,672 11,685 1,506,347 19,822,794 19,271,608

Equipment

Furniture
and material 1,122,310 8,563 13,261 - 1,144,134 579,878 135,406 557 715,841 542,432 428,293

Machines
and tools 92,225 7,020 43 - 99,288 34,412 10,967 56 45,435 57,813 53,853

IT equipment 509,614 122,413 9,571 - 641,598 154,535 147,410 4,266 306,211 355,079 335,387

Interior
facilities 31,713 - - - 31,713 14,766 3,496 - 18,262 16,947 13,451

Transport 
material 125,000 - - - 125,000 122,395 2,605 - 125,000 2,605 -

Safety
equipment 100,070 - 535 - 100,605 30,406 10,519 82 41,007 69,664 59,598

Other
equipment 3,431 - - - 3,431 928 490 - 1,418 2,503 2,013

1,984,363 137,996 23,410 - 2,145,769 937,320 310,893 4,961 1,253,174 1,047,043 892,595

22,729,147 137,996 56,581 - 22,923,724 1,859,310 883,565 16,646 2,759,521 20,869,837 20,164,203

Tangible assets 
in progress - - - - - - - -

Total 22,729,147 137,996 56,581 - 22,923,724 1,859,310 883,565 16,646 2,759,521 20,869,837 20,164,203
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The movement which occurred under the heading “Other tangible assets” during 2015 was as follows:

Gross value Depreciation and ammortization Net value

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2014

Acquisi-
tions

Exchange 
variation

Trans-
fers

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2015

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2014

Depreciation 
and ammor-

tization

Exchange 
variation

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2015

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2014

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2015

Real state

Lands 3,836,175 - - - 3,836,175 - - - - 3,836,175 3,836,175

Buildings 16,547,634 122,757 - - 16,670,391 463,121 454,648 - 917,769 16,084,513 15,752,622

Expenses on 
rented
buildings

- 238,218 - - 238,218 - 4,221 - 4,221 - 233,997

20,383,809 360,975 - - 20,744,784 463,121 458,869 - 921,990 19,920,688 19,822,794

Equipment

Furniture
and material 997.976 124,334 - - 1,122,310 460,542 119,336 - 579,878 537,434 542,432

Machines
and tools 84.841 7.384 - - 92.225 25.950 8.462 - 34,412 58,891 57,813

IT equipment 384,692 108,883 - 16,039 509,614 42,033 112,502 - 154,535 342,659 355,079

Interior
facilities 31,713 - - - 31,713 11,269 3,497 - 14,766 20,444 16,947

Transport 
material 125,000 - - - 125,000 91,145 31,250 - 122,395 33,855 2,605

Safety
equipment 96,968 3,102 - - 100,070 20,339 10,067 - 30,406 76,629 69,664

Other
equipment 3,431 - - - 3,431 437 491 - 928 2,994 2,503

1,724,621 243,703 - 16,039 1,984,363 651,715 285,605 - 937,320 1,072,906 1,047,043

22,108,430 604,678 - 16,039 22,729,147 1,114,836 744,474 20,993,594 20,869,837

Tangible assets 
in progress 16,039 - - (16,039) - - - - - 16,039 -

Total 22,124,469 604,678 - - 22,729,147 1,114,836 744,474 - 1,859,310 21,009,633 20,869,837
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3.10 Intangible assets

The movement which occurred under the heading “Intangible assets” during 2016 was as follows:

Gross value Depreciation and ammortization Net value

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2015

Acquisi-
tions Transfers Exchange 

variation

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2016

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2015

Deprecia-
tion and 
ammorti-

zation

Exchange 
variation

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2016

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2015

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2016

Intangible 
assets

Software 2,303,088 90,326 99,864 86,286 2,579,564 1,410,294 382,940 25.131 1,818,365 892,794 761,199

Other intagible 
assets 170,500 - - - 170,500 72,100 - - 72,100 98,400 98,400

2,473,588 90,326 99,864 86,286 2,750,064 1,482,394 382,940 25,131 1,890,465 991,194 859,599

Intangible 
assets in 
progress

89,299 186,255 (99,864) - 175,690 - - - - 89,299 175,690

Total 2,562,887 276,581 - 86,286 2,925,754 1,482,394 382,940 25,131 1,890,465 1,080,493 1,035,289

The movement which occurred under the heading “Intangible assets” during the year ended on 31 December 2015 was as follows:

Gross value Depreciation and ammortization Net value

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2014

Acquisi-
tions

Disposals
and

write-offs
Transfers

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2015

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2014

Deprecia-
tion and 
ammorti-

zation

Disposals
and 

write-offs

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2015

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2014

Balance 
on 31 Dec 

2015

Intangible 
assets

Software 1,520,973 375,325 (97,769) 504,559 2,303,088 1,287,031 169,196 (45,933) 1,410,294 233,942 892,794

Other intagible 
assets 170,500 - - - 170,500 72,100 - - 72,100 98,400 98,400

1,691,473 375,325 (97,769) 504,559 2,473,588 1,359,131 169,196 (45,933) 1,482,394 332,342 991,194

Intangible 
assets in 
progress

504,559 89,299 - (504,559) 89,299 - - - - 504,559 89,299

Total 2,196,032 464,624 (97,769) - 2,562,887 1,359,131 169,196 (45,933) 1,482,394 836,901 1,080,493
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3.11 Investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the investment in subsidiaries recorded at their acquisition cost corresponds to:

Effective holding (%) Acquisition cost

2016 2015 2016 2015

Atlântico Europa Capital Lux Co 100 100 50,000 2,690,829

Total - - 50,000 2,690,829

The reduction occurred in 2016 under the heading “Investment in subsidiaries”, of the value of 2,640,829 Euros, was due to a four year 
payment agreement for the shareholders’ loans received, and whose amount receivable is reflected in the heading “Other assets” (Note 
3.13).

3.12 Current and deferred tax assets

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the composition of these headings was as follows

2016 2015 (restated)

Current tax assets

Income tax receivable 744,710 -

Other - 126,713

Deferred tax assets

From temporary differences 1,825,207 1,875,898

From taxes losses 114,417 97,571

Total 2,684,334 2,100,182

The details and movements of the heading “Deferred tax assets” are presented in Note 3.19.
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3.13 Other assets

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Debtors and other applications

Collateral 52,387 16,459

Public sector

Income tax receivable 208,186 68,634

Other debtors 5,610,947 2,336,252

5,871,520 2,421,345

Impairment (note 3.15)

Debtors and other applications (610,356) (644,341)

5,261,164 1,777,004

Expenses with deferred costs

Rent - -

Insurance 9,134 66,174

Others 345,022 172,422

354,156 238,596

Other accruals and deferrals

Accruals and deferrals 52,436 7,116

52,436 7,116

Total 5,667,756 2,022,716

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the balance of the heading of impairment for “Receivables and other investments” 
essentially refers to provisions constituted for balances receivable from clients due to financial advisory services rendered.

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the balance of the heading “Other miscellaneous receivables” can be summarised as 
follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Other debtors

Related entities

Atlântico Finantial Group S.à.r.l. 3,150,000 -

Banco Millennium Atlântico, S.A. 1,847,785 1,588,278

Other

Prepayments for financial investments to be undertaken 675 141,265

Accounts receivable for financial advisory services 491,242 486,341

Other debtors 121,245 120,368

Total 5,610,947 2,336,252

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the balance of the heading “Accounts receivable due to financial services rendered” is 
fully provisioned.As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the amount receivable from the company Atlântico Financial Group of 
the value of 3,150,000 Euros, refers to an agreement on the payment of shareholders’ loans made by the Bank to the company Atlântico 
Europa Capital Lux
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3.14 Funding from central banks

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Funding from Bank of Portugal

Deposits 98,000,000 174,540,000

Interest to pay - 31,722

98,000,000 174,571,722

Funding from other central banks

Deposits 197,389,615 115,605,135

Interest to pay 127,210 2,565

197,516,825 115,607,700

Total 295,516,825 290,179,422

The funding from other central banks corresponds to funds raised at Banco Nacional de Angola. 

The “Funding at central banks” (excluding interest payable), in force as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, showed a residual 
maturity period with the following structure:

2016 2015 (restated)

Up to 3 months 197,389,615 40,002,462

From 3 months to 1 year - 115,602,673

From 1 to 5 years 98,000,000 134,540,000

Total 295,389,615 290,145,135

3.15 Funding from other banks

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows: 

2016 2015 (restated)

Funding from domestic banks

Interbank money market 8,353,430 25,000,000

Short term deposits - -

Deposits 5,284,230 10,496,423

Interest to pay 14,990 20,197

13,652,650 35,516,620

Funding from foreign banks

Short term deposits - 120,986,366

Deposits 344,376,437 -

Loans 175,785,717 48,038,722

Interest to pay 992,795 453,158

521,154,949 169,478,246

Total 534,807,599 204,994,866
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As at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2015, the residual periods of the “Funding from other credit institutions” (excluding interest 
payable), presented the following structure:

2016 2015 (restated)

Up to 3 months 278,011,030 96,887,454

From 3 months to 1 year 246,613,784 97,359,057

From 1 to 5 years 9,175,000 10,275,000

Total 533,799,814 204,521,511

As at 31 December 2016, the “Term deposits in Euros and North American Dollars” were remunerated at the average rate of 1.14 % and 
1.02 % respectively. As at 31 December 2015, the “Term deposits in Euros and North American Dollars” were remunerated at the average 
rate of 1.79 % and 0.72 % respectively. 

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the heading “Funding from other credit institutions” includes balances with related 
parties amounting to 56,183,875 Euros and 102,791,774 Euros, respectively.

3.16 Funding from clients and other loans

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Demand deposits 138,690,503 156,375,634

Term deposits 217,544,177 112,487,184

Cheque and payment orders 15,228 15,000

Interest to pay 1,099,434 318,351

Total 357,349,342 269,196,169

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the residual periods of the “Funding from clients and other loans” (excluding interest 
payable), presented the following structure:

2016 2015 (restated)

Up to 3 months 190,738,121 194,580,934

From 3 months to 1 year 118,094,050 53,991,531

From 1 to 5 years 47,417,737 20,305,353

Total 356,249,908 268,877,818

As at 31 December 2016, the “Term deposits in Euros and North American Dollars” were remunerated at the average rate of 1.42 % and 
1.07 % respectively. As at 31 December 2015, the “Term deposits in Euros and North American Dollars” were remunerated at the average 
rate of 1.51 % and 1.06 % respectively.As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the 5 clients with the largest volume of deposits 
accounted for approximately 23% and 34% of total “Client deposits”.
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3.17 Liabilities represented by securities

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Fixed rate bonds 4,743,383 32,001,470

Interest to pay 7,549 42,205

Total 4,750,932 32,043,675

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the residual periods of the “Liabilities represented by securities” (excluding interest 
payable), presented the following structure:

2016 2015 (restated)

From 3 months to 1 year 4,750,932 32,043,675

Total 4,750,932 32,043,675

3.18 Provisions and impairments

The movement which occurred in “Provisions” and “Impairments” during 2016 was as follows:

2016

Balance on 31 
Dec 2015 Additions Reversals Used Other mo-

vements
Balance on 31 

Dec 2016

Impairment

Loans to clients 5,552,791 4,870,654 (2,082,929) (26,136) - 8,314,380

Applications in banks 459,967 25,259 (349,181) - - 136,045

Debtors and other applications 644,341 - (33,985) - - 610,356

6,657,099 4,895,913 (2,466,095) (26,136) - 9,060,781

Provisions

Off-balance operations 1,355,287 423,813 (1,263,400) - 5 515,705

1,355,287 423,813 (1,263,400) - 5 515,705

Total 8,012,386 5,319,726 (3,729,495) (26,136) 5 9,576,486

The movement which occurred in “Provisions” and “Impairments” during the year ended on 31 December 2015 was as follows:

2015 (restated)

Balance on 31 
Dec 2015 Additions Reversals Used Other mo-

vements
Balance on 31 

Dec 2016

Impairment

Loans to clients 3,631,706 5,209,228 (2,937,364) (350,779) - 5,552,791

Applications in banks 68,972 1,472,571 (1,081,576) - - 459,967

Debtors and other applications 410,919 218,001 - - 15,421 644,341

4,111,597 6,899,800 (4,018,940) (350,779) 15,421 6,657,099

Provisions

Off-balance operations 167,342 1,774,307 (586,362) - - 1,355,287

167,342 1,774,307 (586,362) - - 1,355,287

Total 4,278,939 8,674,107 (4,605,302) (350,779) 15,421 8,012,386
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3.19 Current and deferred tax liabilities

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows: 

2016 2015 (restated)

Current tax liabilities

Estimated tax charge - 1,376,943

Autonomous taxation - 127,669

Deferred tax liabilities

From temporary differences 332,542 689,570

Total 332,542 2,194,182

3.20 Other liabilities

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Creditors and other dues

Other dues - -

Resources on escrow account 3,820,000 10,000

Public sector - -

Withholding of tax at source 198,061 224,963

Contribution for social security 119,071 165,135

Other - -

Charges on third parties 533 333

Other creditors - -

Suppliers current accounts 370,079 446,784

Other 2,627 83,118

4,510,371 930,333

Costs payable

Staff costs 2,981,930 2,05,.449

Other charges payable 390,515 403,298

3,372,445 2,460,747

Revenue from deferred income

Other 1,442,753 73,160

1,442,753 73,160

Other accruals and deferrals

Other pending transactions 1,653,146 1,414,142

1,653,146 1,414.,42

Total 10,978,715 4,878,382

The balance of the heading “Escrow account funding” corresponds to the amount received under the ISDA agreements with CSA to cover 
exposure of derivative financial instruments.

As at 31 December 2016, the balance of the heading “Charges payable - Due to staff costs” includes 371,968 Euros corresponding to the 
portion attributed in the financial years of 2014, 2015 and 2016 whose payment is deferred for 3 years, pursuant to the remuneration policy 
in force. As at 31 December 2015, the amount of deferred premiums reached 228,696 Euros, corresponding to the portion of the premium 
attributed in the financial years of 2013, 2014 and 2015
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3.21 Off-balance sheet accounts

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Guarantees provided and other liabilities

Documentary credits 257,016,967 53,618,639

Guarantees and sureties 5,009,848 2,453,982

262,026,815 56,072,621

Assets given as guarantees 244,235,471 195,872,871

Guarantees received 437,585,491 219,693,726

Commitments before third parties

Irrevocable commitments 20,720,081 28,802,333

Potential liability to the Investor Compensation System 18,062 10,559

28,812,892

Liabilities for services provided

For collection of amounts 178,809,948 35,249,106

Asset custody and deposit 58,860,356 51,805,579

237,670,304 87,054,685

Third party services

Securities portfolio from clients 585,323,495 323,176,957

Own securities portfolio 44,290,401 49,565,624

629,613,896 372,742,581

Total 1,831,870,119 960,249,376

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the Bank had access to an unused intraday credit line at Banco de Portugal of the value 
of 1,000,000 Euros.

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the balance of the heading “Assets given in guarantee” includes:

- Securities given in guarantee to the European Central Bank System, of the value of 244,235 thousand Euros and 195,873 thousand Euros 
respectively, for the obtaining of funding. As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the value attributed by Banco de Portugal to 
the collateralised assets stood at 239,896 thousand Euros and 190,886 thousand Euros, respectively.

- Securities given in guarantee to the Securities Market Commission (CMVC) under the System of Indemnities to Investors, of the value of 
109 thousand Euros and 113 thousand Euros respectively, as at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, respectively.

3.22 Share capital and other capital instruments

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Entity Number of shares Amount % Number of shares Amount %

Atlântico Europa SGPS S.A. 50,000,000 50,000,000 100% 50,000,000 50,000,000 100%

Total 50,000,000 50,000,000 100% 50,000,000 50,000,000 100%

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the Bank’s share capital was represented by 50,000,000 shares with the nominal value of 1 Euro each, 
fully underwritten and paid-up.
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3.23 Revaluation reserves, other reserves and retained earnings 

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Revaluation reserves 213,110 1,639,752

Other reserves 1,092,619 664,412

Retained earnings 4,262,109 1,343,965

Total 5,567,838 3,648,129

Pursuant to the legislation in force, the Bank should ensure that a fraction not below 10% of the net profit achieved in each financial year 
is allocated to the formation of a legal reserve, up to a limit equal to the value of the share capital or to the sum of the constituted free 
reserves and retained earnings, if higher. The legal reserve is not available for distribution, except in the case of the Bank’s liquidation, and 
may only be used to increase the share capital or offset losses, after all the other reserves have been depleted.

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the heading “Revaluation reserves” was detailed as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Revaluation reserves

Reserves from appreciation at fair value of financial assets available for sale (Note 
3.4)

Debt instruments

Securities 1,303,049 2,704,195

Reserves for foreign exchange differences

Foreign exchange differences of branches abroad (312,323) (492,374)

Hedging of net investments on foreing exchange (445,074) 117,500

545,652 2,329,321

Reserves for deferred taxes

Reserves from appreciation at fair value of financial assets available for sale

Deferred tax liabilities (note 3.19) (332,542) (689,571)

(332,542) (689,571)

Total 213,110 1,639,752
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3.24 Net interest income

As at 31 December 2016 and 31 December 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Interest and similar income

Loans to clients 7,141,918 7,076,064

Financial assets available for sale 6,596,714 6,252,656

Applications in banks 1,686,435 817,680

Financial assets held to maturity 373,898 114,068

Deposits in other banks 7,390 8,379

Cash and deposits in central banks 718 1,739

15,807,073 14,270,586

Interest and similar costs

Funding from other banks (2,638,231) (1,724,576)

Funding from clients (2,269,978) (1,525,213)

Funding from central banks (1,567,554) (770,703)

Liabilities represented by securities (386,218) (127,827)

Other liabilities (852) (24)

(6,862,833) (4,148,343)

Net interest income 8,944,240 10,122,243

3.25 Revenue and charges with services and commissions

In the periods ended on 31 December 2016 and 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Commissions received

Guarantees provided 2,704,361 1,478,950

Services provided

Value transfer 2,623,105 1,381,659

Credit operations 1,210,450 944,144

Assembly of operations 89,200 73,952

Asset custody and deposit 22,604 29,479

Annuities 48,076 19,293

Card management 65,753 10,452

Factoring operations 51,206 -

Por operações realizadas por conta de terceiros 12,739 51,860

Outras comissões recebidas 32,891 25,715

6,860,385 4,015,505

Commissions paid

Services provided by third parties (153,763) (103,392)

Third party commitments (115) -

Other commissions paid (428,155) (278,240)

(582,033) (381,632)

Total 6,278,352 3,633,873
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3.26  Earnings from trading activity

In the periods ended on 31 December 2016 and 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Profit/loss from financial operations

Profit/loss from exchange revaluation 3,523,240 1,234,411

Profit/loss from fiancial assets and liabilities at fair value through the income statement (16,682) 190,008

Profit/loss from financial assets available for sale 2,718,976 5,133,404

Total 6,225,534 6,557,823

3.27 Other operating results

In the periods ended on 31 December 2016 and 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Other operating income

Other income 1,977,912 2,671,544

1,977,912 2,671,544

Other operating costs

Indirect taxes (263,191) (180,324)

Other operating costs (74,147) (113,072)

Fees and donations (70,112) (2,400)

Contributions to the Deposit Guarantee Fund (1,580) (6,661)

Loss from financial assets (111) -

(409,141) (302,457)

Total 1,568,771 2,369,087

As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the balance of the heading “Other operating revenue” includes the value of 1,847,785 Euros and 2,163,719 
Euros, respectively, which primarily corresponds to the remuneration obtained by the Bank from services rendered under a subcontracting 
arrangement to Banco Millennium Atlântico, S.A.

3.28 Staff costs

In the periods ended on 31 December 2016 and 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Remuneration of management and supervisory bodies 874,015 441,599

Compensation of employees 5,885,858 4,925,981

Obligatory social charges 1,095,909 1,068,923

Other staff costs 289,847 244,424

Total 8,145,629 6,680,927
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As at 31 December 2011 and 2015, the number of permanent employees of the Bank, distributed by their respective professional categories, 
was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Board members 4 3

Senior management 40 26

Technical and administrative pesonnel 85 91

Total 129 121

3.29 General administrative costs

In the periods ended on 31 December 2016 and 2015, the composition of this heading was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

General administrative costs

Suppliers:

Water, energy and fuel 92,549 89,836

Items of regular consumption 43,852 40,703

Other suppliers and third party services 34,062 23,586

Publications 4,992 4,204

Higiene and cleaning materials 997 1,144

Services:

Consulting 1,266,713 1,117,835

Communications 736,380 721,706

Rentals and leases 469,253 423,832

Travel, hotel and representation costs 296,041 298,574

Information 217,472 167,943

Security, surveillance and cleaning 213,735 220,442

SIBS 208,854 133,800

IT 160,465 224,290

Maintenance and repair 121,384 109,829

Training 93,920 111,174

External audit 93,521 118,855

Publicity and Publishing 65,425 427,568

Insurance 30,931 33,888

Temporary manpower 21,396 15,002

Transportation 12,694 13,964

Legal services, litigation and notaries 11,396 21,135

Studies and consultation 6,593 3,512

Other third party services 41,912 33,535

Total 4,244,537 4,356,357
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The total fees invoiced and to be invoiced by the Chartered Accountant and other firms of the network, relative to 2016, reached 186,453 
Euros, detailed as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Statutory audit of annual accounts 24,500 24,150

Other compliance and assurance services 64,588 94,962

Other services 62,500 - 

Total 151,588 119,112

3.30 Income tax

Current tax is calculated based on the taxable profit for the year, which is different from the book value profit due to adjustments arising 
from costs or income not relevant for tax purposes, or which will only be considered in other accounting periods. The main situations 
generating these adjustments are related to credit impairments, namely those arising from the fact that, under the terms of the provisions 
in article 28-A of the Corporate Income Tax Code (CIRC), combined with Regulatory Decree 5/2016, of 18 November, the following are not 
deductible for tax purposes: (i) the accumulated annual value of impairment losses for specific credit risk that exceeds the amount the 
corresponding to provisions for specific credit risk, arising from the application of the mandatory minimum limits established in Banco 
de Portugal Notice 3/95, in the version in force before its repeal; and (ii) pursuant to the same tax regulations, impairments for specific 
credit risk relative to (among others) loans backed by real rights over real estate properties are not deductible.

Income tax costs recorded through profit or loss, for the financial years of 2016 and 2015, may be presented as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Current taxes

For the year

Estimate of tax paybale (1,852,099) (2,869,473)

Autonomous taxation (113,900) (127,669)

Others

Contribution to the banking sector (605,385) (324,947)

Corrections to the previous periods (23,657) -

(2,595,041) (3,322,089)

Deferred taxes

From temporary differences (50,691) 1,192,223

Reportable tax losses 

Recognised / (used) - 97,571

(50,691) 1,289,794

Total (2,645,732) (2,032,295)
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The reconciliation between the nominal tax rate and effective tax rate for 2016 and 2015 may be demonstrated as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Tax rate Amount Tax rate Amount

Profit before tax 7.769.995 6.663.267

Tax calculated at the nominal rate 24.99% 1.941.749 24.82% 1.654.133

Contribution to the banking sector 7.79% 605.385 4.88% 324.947

Autonomous taxation 1.47% 113.900 1.92% 127.669

Current tax from previous periods 0.30% 23.657 0.49% 32.764

Foreign taxes non accepted 0.20% 15.717 1.52% 101.472

Charges for vehicles without driver 0.18% 13.741 0.28% 18.891

Tax benefits (net job creation) -0.56% (43.676) -0.60% (40.049)

Other -0.32% (24.741) -2.81% (187.532)

Total 34.05% 2.645.732 30.50% 2.032.295

In 2016, the movement of Deferred taxes was detailed as follows: 

Balance on
31/12/2015

Por resultados Por reservas Balance on
31/12/2016Custos Proveitos Aumentos Diminuições

Deferred tax assets

Reportable tax losses 97,5721 - - - - 114,417

Provisions and impairment taxable 1,875,898 (196,692) - - - 1,679,206

Deferred payments to employees - - 146,001 - - 146,001

1,973,469 (196,692) 146,001 - - 1,939,624

Deferred tax liabilities

Financial instruments available for sale and 
held to maturity (689,570) 29,322 (458,818) 1,620,220 (833,696) (332,542)

(689,570) 29,322 (458,818) 1,620,220 (833,696) (332,542)

Total 1,283,899 (167,370) (312,817) 1,620,220 (833,696) 1,607082

Pursuant to the legislation in force, tax returns are subject to review and correction by the tax authorities for a period of four years (five 
years for Social Security), except when tax losses have been reported as well as any other deductions (where this time limit will become 
that of the exercise of this right). Therefore, the Bank’s tax returns for 2011 to 2016 might still be subject to review and the tax base subject 
to possible correction. 

The recoverability of deferred tax assets is supported by a business plan drawn up by the Board of Directors, according to which the Bank 
will generate sufficient taxable profit to recover the entirety of the deferred tax assets due to tax losses within the legally defined time 
limits. 

3.31 Relevant facts

On 23 February 2016, Banco Privado Atlântico – Europa, S.A. was called in for questioning by the Central Department of Investigation 
and Criminal Prosecution concerning the investigation procedure named “Operation Fizz”. On 16 February 2017, after the completion 
of the inquiry phase of the aforesaid procedure, the Public Prosecutor’s Office concluded that there were no grounds to lodge a formal 
complaint against the Bank, with the procedure having been dismissed with respect to the Bank. 
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4. Related parties (IAS 24)

Balance with related parties

Under the terms of IAS 24, the following entities are considered related parties of the Bank: (i) with direct and indirect 
stakes held in the Bank: Global Atlântico, S.A.R.L., Atlântico Financial Group, S.A.R.L, Atlântico Europa SGPS, S.A., Banco 
Millennium Atlântico, S.A.; (ii) entities in which the Bank holds a stake (participated companies), which are undergoing 
liquidation: Atlântico Europa Capital Lux, S.A.R.L., Atlântico Asset Management, S.A.R.L, Angola Growth Management, 
S.A., Angola Growth Fund, S.C.A., SICAV-FIS, Atlântico Investment Strategies, S.C.A., SICAV-SIF, and Atlântico Investment 
Strategies Management, S.A.R.L; (iv) participated companies liquidated during 2016: Advisory Partners, S.A.R.L; and (v) 
the members of the Governing Bodies of the Bank, who are listed below:

Board of directors
Carlos José da Silva
Diogo Baptista Russo Pereira da Cunha
Augusto Costa Ramiro Baptista
Maria da Graça Ferreira Proença de Carvalho
José Carlos Manuel Burity 
Pedro Manuel Moreira Leitão

Supervisory board
Mário Jorge Carvalho de Almeida
Fernando Augusto de Sousa Ferreira Pinto
Maria Cândida de Carvalho Peixoto
João Maria Francisco Wanassi
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As at 31 December 2016, the balance sheet and comprehensive income statement included the following balances with related parties:

2016

Atlantico 
Finantial 

Group S.à.r.l.

Global
Atlantico 

S.à.r.l.

Banco
Millennium 

Atlântico, S.A.

Atlântico
Europa 

SGPS. S.A.

Atlantico 
Europa LUX,

S.A.R.L..

Atlantico 
Asset

Management,
S.A.R.L.

Corporate 
bodies Total

Assets

Cash and deposits in central banks - - - - - - - 21,540,717

Application in other banks (Note 3.5) (1) - - 21,540,717 - - - - 16,3356

Loans to clients (Note 3.6) - - - - - - 16,335 -

Investments in subsidiaires - - - - 50.000 - - 50.000

Other assets (Note 3.13) 3,150,000 - 1,847,785 - - - - 4,997,785

3,150,000 - 23,388,502 - 50,000 - 16,335 26,604,837

Liabilities

Funding from other banks (Note 3.15) - - 56,183,875 - - - - 56,183,875

Funding from clients and other loans (Note 
3.16) - 11,248,418 - 1,238,151 103,406 8,784 4,745,638 17,344,397

- 11,248,418 56,183,875 103,406 8,784 4,745,638 73,528,272

Shareholder’s equity

Capital (Note 3.22) - - - 50,000,000 - - - 50,000,000

- - - 50,000,000 - - - 50,000,000

Profits

Interest and similar income (Note 3.24) - - 278,437 - - - - 278,437

Revenue with services and commissions 
(Note 3.25) - - 1,130,127 - 440 200 4.121 1,134,888

Other operating results (Nota 3.27) - - 1,847,785 - - - - 1,847,785

Net gains from foreign exchange - - 783,134 - 3,085 - 52,489 838,708

4,039,483 - 3,525 200 56,610 4,099,818

Costs

Interest and similar costs (Note 3.24) - - 1,386,113 - - - 20,939 1,407,052

Costs with services and commissions (Note 
3.25) - - 149 - - - - 149

Staff costs (Note 3.28) - - - - - - 747,875 747,875

1,386,262 - - - 768,814 2,155,076

Off-balance sheet

Guarantees provided (Note 3.21) - - 1,040,194 - - - 1,040,194

Documentary credits (Note 3.21) - - 29,635,106 - - - - 29,635,106

Asset custody and deposit (Note 3.21) - - - - - - 757,641 757,641

30,675,300 - - - 757,641 31,432,941

(1) Inclui adiantamentos por conta de créditos documentários
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As at 31 December 2015, the balance sheet and comprehensive income statement included the following balances with related parties:

2015

Global
Atlantico 

S.à.r.l.

Banco
Millennium 
Atlântico, 

S.A.

Atlântico
Europa 

SGPS. S.A.

Atlantico 
Europa
Capital 

SGPS,S.A.

Atlantico 
Europa 

LUX,
S.A.R.L..

Atlantico 
Asset

Management,
S.A.R.L.

Advisory
Partners

S.A.R.L

Corpora-
te bodies Total

Assets

Cash and deposits in central banks - - - - - - - - -

Application in other banks (Note 3.5) (1) - 42,411,114 - - - - - - 42,411,114

Loans to clients (Note 3.6) - - - - - 24 - 8,325 8,349

Investments in subsidiaires - - - - 2,690,829 - - - 2,690,829

Other assets (Note 3.13) - 1,588,276 - - - - - 13,866 1,602,142

- 43,999,390 - - 2,690,829 24 - 22,191 46,712,434

Liabilities

Funding from other banks (Note 3.15) - 102.791.774 - - - - - - 102,791,774

Funding from clients and other loans (Note 
3.16) 251,210 - 45,179 9,104 479,896 9,705 8,778 4,183,921 4,987,793

251,210 102,791,774 45,179 9,104 479,896 9,705 8,778 4,183,921 107,779,567

Shareholder’s equity

Capital (Note 3.22) - - 50,000,000 - - - - - 50,000,000

- - 50,000,000 - - - - - 50,000,000

Profits

Interest and similar income (Note 3.24) - 70,298 - - - - - 247 70,545

Revenue with services and commissions 
(Note 3.25) - 1,022,252 - - 365 25 35 5,462 1,028,139

Other operating results (Nota 3.27) - 2,163,719 - - - - - - 2,163,719

Net gains from foreign exchange - 573,640 - - - - - 7,758 581,398

3,829,909 - - 365 25 35 13,467 3,843,801

Costs

Interest and similar costs (Note 3.24) - 968,103 - - - - - 12,826 980,929

Staff costs (Note 3.28) - - - - - - - 441,598 441,598

968,103 - - - - - 454,424 1,422,527

Off-balance sheet

Documentary credits (Note 3.21) - 34,892,818 - - - - - - 34,892,818

Asset custody and deposit (Note 3.21) - - - - - - - 713,701 713,701

- 34,892,818 - - - - - 713,701 35,606,519

As a rule, transactions with related parties are conducted based on the market values on the respective date.
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5. Disclosures relative to financial instruments

Financial risk management policies inherent to the Bank’s activity

The management of financial risks follows through the Bank’s value chain, based on the prior definition of a risk profile approved by the 
Bank’s Board of Directors that establishes limits of exposure and levels of tolerance, taking into account the defined strategy and the 
regulations in force, supporting and directing a first level of risk management at the level of the commercial areas.

This first risk management level is ten supplemented by the activity of the area responsible for risk management that, in an independent 
form and assuring the best practices of separation of duties, analyses the different exposures, considering their inherent risk, and assesses 
the potential impacts on the Bank’s levels of liquidity and solvency.

Supplementary to this, permanent and systematic monitoring of the activity is assured, identifying the internal and external risk factors that 
prove significant and measuring potential negative effects these might cause in the Bank’s balance sheet.

In order to meet the identified reporting requirements in terms of the principles of IFRS 7 relative to financial instruments, this is followed 
by a more detailed disclosure of various indicators of risk associated to the Bank’s activity: credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk, with 
a description of how they are managed and monitored. In the specific case of credit risk, disclosures are incorporated relative to the 
calculation of the impairment associated to loans to clients, in terms of Banco de Portugal Circular Letter 2/14/DSPDR. This disclosure is 
further enhanced with a specific sub-chapter on the fair value measurement of the Bank’s balance sheet.

Credit risk

Credit risk represents the possible loss of value of the assets of the Bank, as a consequence of non-compliance with contractual obligations, 
due to the insolvency or the inability of natural or legal persons to honour the established commitments.

In order to assure the growth and sustained evolution of its loan portfolio, the Bank, throughout 2016, maintained its policies on loan 
concession and monitoring of the development of the granted loans.

In terms granting loans, the approval of credit operations continued to be centralised under the institution’s Credit Committee, with a 
delegation of powers for a specific set of operations with a lower risk profile, provided that they comply with certain predefined criteria.
No alterations took place in terms of loan concession policy, with focus continuing to be placed on the operations sustained by the 
commercial relations between Portugal and Angola, securing the existence of an operative for transactions and financial flows that assures 
due compliance with the debt service, thus minimising the risk of default. 

Also in terms of loan concession, the focus remained on the diversification of the loan portfolio, seeking to assure, in the current phase of 
evolution and growth of the activity, mitigation of the risk of excessive concentration in particular economic sectors or groups of clients, 
and assuring a significant level of coverage of the exposure to credit risk by asset-backed or personal guarantees.

Likewise, the conservative policy was also maintained of assuming exposure to maturities not longer than ten years, with the exception 
of mortgage loans where the average maturities extend up to fifteen years. In terms of the corporate segment, priority was given to the 
granting of short term credit lines with possible termination, and renewal periods from six months to one year.

Credit quality and provisioning level

The process of credit risk assessment accompanies different parts of the Bank’s value chain, starting at the level of the commercial areas, 
through careful analysis of the client and operation, in light of the policies on credit concession and the risk profile defined by the Bank, 
which are periodically reviewed and updated. All the credit proposals are submitted for appraisal by the Risk area, which is responsible for 
their analysis and the issue of an independent advisory opinion that serves to support the decision of approval made by the Bank’s Credit 
Committee.

The monitoring and follow-up of the granted loans is also under the responsibility of the Risk area, which has a series of mechanisms 
and tools to measure risk that enable the ongoing analysis of clients and their operations, detecting earning signs that enable the timely 
identification of situations that might affect the Bank’s regular activity.
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As at 31 December 2016, the composition of the exposure to credit risk by type of financial instrument can be summarised as follows:

2016

Assets Gross book value Provisions and 
impairment (1) Net book value

Cash and deposits in central banks 374,193,403 - 374,193,403

Deposits in other banks 30,827,170 - 30,827,170

Financial assets held for trading 2,598,882 - 2,598,882

Financial assets available for sale 443,899,960 - 443,899,960

Applications in banks 144,188,230 (136,045) 144,052,185

Loans to clients 105,415,019 (8,314,380) 97,100,639

Investments held to maturity 144,961,758 - 144,961,758

Other debtors 5,610,947 (610,356) 5,000,591

1,251,695,369 (9,060,781) 1,242,634,588

Guarantees and sureties issued 

Undraw credit facilities 5,009,848 (135,186) 4,874,662

Documentary credit 20.720,081 (77,015) 20,643,066

Créditos documentários 257,016,967 (303,504) 256,713,463

282,746,896 (515,705) 282,231,191

Total 1,534,442,265 (9.576.486) 1,524,865,779

(1) Includes provisions for general credit risks (loans granted).

As at 31 December 2015, the composition of the exposure to credit risk by type of financial instrument can be summarised as follows:

2015 (restated)

Assets Gross book value Provisions and 
impairment (1) Net book value

Cash and deposits in central banks 134,367,745 - 134,367,745

Deposits in other banks 106,989,874 - 106,989,874

Financial assets held for trading 90,708 - 90,708

Financial assets available for sale 263,606,346 - 263,230,999

Applications in banks 97,526,299 (459,967) 97,066,332

Loans to clients 169,892,342 (5,552,791) 165,686,451

Investments held to maturity 67,583,084 - 67,490,112

Hedge derivatives 515,621 - 515,621

Other debtors 2,336,252 (644,341) 1,691,911

842,908,271 (6,657,099) 837,129,753

Off-balance sheet

Guarantees and sureties issued 2,453,982 (119,389) 2,377,603

Undraw credit facilities 28,802,333 (324,077) 28,439,630

Documentary credit 53,618,639 (911,821) 51,355,534

84,874,954 (1,355,287) 82,172,767

Total 927,783,225 (8,012,386) 919,302,520

(1) Includes provisions for general credit risks (loans granted).
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In the context of the loan concession activity, according to the type and level of risk of each operation, the Bank establishes specific 
requirements to clients for the constitution of guarantees. Considering the operations in the portfolio as at 31 December 2016 and 31 
December 2015 (excluding interest and commissions associated to amortised cost, provisions and impairments), the distribution by type 
of guarantee was as follows:

2016 2015 (restated)

Type of guarantee Amount % % %

Financial collateral 33,448,601 32% 67,602,215 40%

Real collateral - Mortgage 30,012,999 29% 28,402,003 17%

Personal guarantee - issued by state or financial insti-
tution 15,496,481 15% 23,795,136 14%

Personal guarantee - issued by company or private 
Individual 13,445,192 13% 15,984,839 9%

Without guarantees 11,969,559 11% 33,280,199 20%

Letter of credit discounting 529,932 1% 16,276,252 10%

Other 11,439,627 10% 17,003,947 10%

Total 104,372,832 100% 169,064,392 100%

The Bank’s own portfolio, composed of debt securities, is also monitored continuously in the context of the management of credit risk. 
As at 31 December 2016, the distribution by degree of credit quality, according to criteria established by Regulation 575/2013 of the 
European Parliament and Council, was as follows:

Financial assets available for sale

2016 2015 (restated)

Credit quality Exposure (1) Provisions and 
impairment

Provisions and 
impairment

Provisões e 
imparidades

1 4,824,619 - - -

2 25,433,422 - 6,954,084 -

3 269,317,931 - 213,447,065 -

4 16,319,038 - 21,835,647 -

5 104,034,507 - 3,753,475 -

6 - - - -

N/D 23,970,443 - 17,616,075 -

Total 443,899,960 - 263,606,346 -

Investment held to maturity

2016 2015 (restated)

Credit quality Exposure (1) Provisions and 
impairment

Provisions and 
impairment

Provisões e 
imparidades

1 14,297,233 - 13,839,523 -

2 958,953 - 931,930 -

3 42,338,869 - 32,109,754 -

4 20,176,028 - 19,772,155 -

5 67,190,675 - 929,722 -

6 - - - -

N/D - - - -

Total 144,961,758 - 67,583,084 -

(1) Considering the rating of securities issued by Moody’s, Standard & Poor’s and Fitch, in this order, based on available information.
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Impairment of the portfolio of loans to clients

The values presented in this section consider exposure as the outstanding principal in debt and the periodification of interest in arrears, 
while not including the periodification of interest paid in advance or the commissions associated to amortised cost. Therefore, the values 
presented in this chapter cannot be reconciled directly with the values in the balance sheet headings.

The Bank adopts an approach of quantification of impairment in credit risk management, and presents, in this report, the disclosures 
determined by Banco de Portugal in Circular Letter 2/14/DSPDR, considering the publication of Notice 5/2015 which establishes that, 
from 1 January 2016 onwards,  Financial Institutions should prepare their individual financial statements in accordance with the IAS/IFRS 
as endorsed by the European Union, thus revoking Notice 1/2005 that defined the application of the Adjusted Accounting Standards 
(NCA) to individual accounts, also implying the revocation of Notice 3/95. 

It is important to bear in mind that, considering the evolution of credit risk throughout 2015 and in view of the nature and features of the 
Bank’s exposures, according to the impact analyses carried out, it was decided that the impairment level, pursuant to the IFRS, should 
stand at the level of the provisions under the terms established in Notice 3/1995. For this reason, there was no impact on net worth as 
at 1 January 2016, arising from this alteration. On this date, the only alteration was the reclassification of the provision for general credit 
risks to the heading of “Loans to clients”, with impairments being quantified from this date onwards in accordance with the method 
established by the Bank.

In this context, and considering in particular the aspect mentioned in the paragraph above, the estimated accumulated impairment 
associated to the portfolio of loans to clients with reference to 31 December 2016 amounted to 8,620 thousand Euros, which corresponds 
to approximately 8.17% of the total exposure in terms of net worth of the Bank’s loan portfolio.
A description is presented below of the impairment quantification approach adopted by the Bank, as well as the disclosures determined 
in the Circular Letter referred to above.

Impairment quantification approach

This method consists of two supplementary types of analysis - individual analysis and collective analysis - according to whether the 
assessment of the occurrence of indications of default and the quantification of losses is carried out on a case-by-case basis or in an 
aggregate manner, following a prior classification of clients and operations (segments).

Thus, an individual analysis is conducted on all exposures to clients that are individually significant, or that meet at least one of the 
following conditions:

• Loan operations that are higher than or equal to the operation threshold in Euros or equivalent value in another currency (1,500,000 
Euros);

• Clients with an overall volume of credit exposure higher than or equal to the client threshold in Euros or equivalent value in another 
currency (2,500,000 Euros);

Operations that are not considered individually significant, according to this criterion, are included in the context of collective analysis.

Both approaches involving checking for the occurrence of at least one of the following indications or objective evidence of default – 
impairment triggers:

Trigger 1 Client that has shown at least one of the impairment triggers (2-10) in the last 2 months;

Trigger 2 Client with returned cheques or with prohibition of the use of cheques at Banco de Portugal;

Trigger 3 Client with defaulted debt to the Tax Authority and/or Social Security or with situations of attachment of account balances 
above 500 Euros;

Trigger 4 Client with renegotiated loans in portfolio – at the Bank or in the financial system, according to the Central Credit Register (CRC);

Trigger 5 Client with renegotiated loans due to financial difficulty of the client or that has been incorporated in the Extrajudicial 
Procedure for Settlement of Situations of Default (PERSI) - segment of individual clients;

Trigger 6 Client with credit overrunning above or equal to 250 Euros for a period of more than 10 days;

Trigger 7 Client with a situation of overdue credit of an amount above 250 Euros for a period above or equal to 30 days;

Trigger 8 Client with a situation of overdue credit at the Central Credit Register (CRC), classified in a category lower than or equal to 
2 (period of arrears less than or equal to 60 days) and amount above 250 Euros;

Trigger 9 Client with a situation of overdue credit at the Central Credit Register (CRC), classified in a category higher than or equal 
to 3 (period of arrears above 60 days) and amount above 250 Euros;

Trigger 10 Clients with a situation of written-off credit in the banking system, according to the Central Credit Register (CRC) and 
amount above 250 Euros;

Trigger 11 Decrease of more than 20% in the original coverage level of the operation by an asset-backed guarantee
(and current coverage <100%);

Trigger 12 Reduction of more than 25% in turnover in relation to the same period of the previous year (corporate segment);

Trigger 13 Other indications not captured in the previous triggers.
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In the individual analysis, in the event of the occurrence of impairment triggers in one or more operations of a certain client, all the 
operations of this client are classified as revealing indications, with an assessment and quantification being made of the respective loss 
incurred.

In this quantification, the estimated impairment loss should be the result of the difference between the value of the exposure on the 
reporting date and the present value of the estimated cash flow. The cash flow is estimated on a case-by-case basis, according to the type 
and particularities of the operation, also taking into consideration, among others, the following effects: mitigation of the risk by asset-
backed or personal guarantees, outlook on the evolution of the business or evolution of net worth, effect of restructuring or variations of 
the features of the contracts. 

Supplementary to the above, considering the additional criteria in the quantification of impairment, established by Banco de Portugal in 
Circular Letter 2/14/DSPDR, a calculation is made of potential values of increments of impairment to be taken into account.
In the case that none of the triggers referred to above occurs, the exposures are included in the context of collective analysis, with a 
supplementary quantification being carried out in this situation.

In the context of the collective analysis, the operations are classified, according to their features and risk profile, into segments to which 
risk parameters are associated for subsequent calculation of the impairment value.

As there is representative historical volume of default at the Bank for statistical calibration of risk weights, the method for defining the 
parameters and consequently the collective quantification of impairment reflects the sensitivity of the risk underlying the operations on 
the part of the areas that monitor the loan portfolio, which seek to establish standards of significant prudence in relation to the level of 
default observed in the portfolio. Likewise, as estimates based on historical records have not been adopted, there is no formal definition 
of an emerging period.

The quantification of impairment also considers the effect of mitigation of risk by guarantees received, and for this purpose prudent 
haircut values are also applied by type of collateral. 

The decision to write-off a particular loan operation is the responsibility of the Bank’s Credit Committee. This may occur in a situation 
when objective evidence that the value values in debt cannot be collected is identified, in the context of individual analysis, or whenever 
the constituted impairment covers the entirety of the exposure. 

Disclosures on the results of quantification of impairment

A series of tables are presented below disclosing the results obtained by the quantification of the accumulated impairment of the loan 
portfolio with reference to 31 December 2016.

The presented disclosures are those established in the regulatory framework determined by Banco de Portugal in Circular Letter 2/14/
DSPDR.

It is important to note that the established disclosures do not include, in this report, those relative to entry and leaving movements in the 
portfolio of restructured loans or the details of the value of the real estate properties received in lieu of repayment, in view of the non-
existence of situations of this nature.

Neither are disclosures included on the distribution of the loan portfolio by degrees of internal risk, due to the fact that a project is 
currently underway, redefining the internal models of classification of loan operations, which is expected to be completed in the first 
semester of 2017.

Considering the non-existence of historical records on default enabling the estimation of risk parameters (probability of default (PD) 
and loss given default (LGD)), and as the Bank has adopted prudent estimates that do not reflect the default values that are effectively 
observed or foreseen, neither is the table of disclosures on the parameters of risk associated to the impairment model included. 
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Details of the exposures and constituted impairment by segment:

(000 Euros)

Exposure on 31.12.2016 Impairment on 31.12.2016

Segment Total on 
31.12.2016

Exposure 
on-balance

Exposure 
off-balance

Performing 
loans

Which 
healed

Which 
restructured

Overdue 
and doubtful 

loans

Which 
restructured

Total im-
pairment

Performing 
loans

Overdue 
and doub-
tful loan(1)

Corporate  130,537    91,171    39,366    123,587    236    236    6,950   -  8,410    5,683    2,727   

From which CRE  25,996    24,918    1,078    23,086    -      -      2,910   -  1,148    36    1 112   

Individuals  17,052    14,384    2,668    17,037    540    540    15   -  210    210    -     

From which residential  8,743    8,743    -      8,729    -      -      14   -  -      -      -     

Total  147,589    105,555    42,034    140,624    776    776    6,965   -  8,620    5,893    2,727   

(1) Amounts overdue for more than 90 days.

(000 Euros)

Performing loans by overdue level

Overdue 
and 

doubtful 
loan

Total exposure Expo-
sure Overdue [0d; 30d] Overdue  

]30d;90d]

Days 
over-

due 
>90

Total im-
pairment Impairment by overdue

Segment Total on 
31.12.2016

On-ba-
lance on 

31.12.2016

Off-ba-
lance on 

31.12.2016

Sub-To-
tal

No evi-
dence

With 
evidence 

(1)

No evi-
dence

With 
evidence 

(1)

Sub-
Total

Total on 
31.12.2016

Overdue
[0d; 30d]

Overdue
]30d; 90d]

Overdue
>90d

Corporate  130,537    91,171    39,366    123,587    56,270    66,511    -      806    6,950    8,410    5,494    189    2,727   

From which CRE  25,996    24,918    1,078    23,086    10,806    12,280    -      -      2,910    1,148    35    1    1,112   

Individuals  17,052    14,384    2,668    17,037    12,344    4,557    -      136    15    210    80    130    -     

From which residential  8,743    8,743    -      8,729    7,164    1,565    -      -      14    -      -      -      -     

Total 147,589 105,555 42,034 140,624 68,614 71,068  -      942    6,965   8,620    5,574   319    2,727   

(1) Operations showing signs of impairment.

Details of the loan portfolio by segment and year of production:

(000 Euros)

Corporate - CRE Corporate - others Individuals - Residential Individuals - Other

Production year Number of 
operations Amount Constituted 

impairment
Number of 
operations Amount Constituted 

impairment
Number of 
operations Amount Constituted 

impairment
Number of 
operations Amount Constituted 

impairment

2011 1  3,632    5   2  -      -     0  -      -     10  240    131   

2012 0  -      -     1  20    -     0  -      -     54  1,126    20   

2013 1  10    -     8  10,325    256   3  254    -     177  1,031    7   

2014 8  2,499    1   28  19,349    3,974   23  3,839    -     183  2,087    23   

2015 6  2,512    3   17  2,010    539   9  1,734    -     142  673    5   

2016 19  17,344    1,139   73  72,836    2,493   11  2,916    -     223  3,152    24   

Total 35  25,997   1,148  129  104,540    7,262  46  8,743  - 789  8,309   210  
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Details of the value of gross exposure of loans and impairment, by segment:

(000 Euros)

Corporate - CRE Corporate - others Individuals - Residential Individuals - Other

Valuation Number of 
operations Amount Constituted 

impairment
Number of 
operations Amount Constituted 

impairment
Number of 
operations Amount Constituted 

impairment
Number of 
operations Amount Constituted 

impairment

Individual 7  7,489    1,113   26  50,092    6,428   0  -      -     2  140    140   

Collective 28  18,508    35   103  54,448    834   46  8,743    -     787  8,169    70   

Total 35  25,997    1,148   129  104,540    7,262   46  8,743    -     789  8,309    210   

Details of the value of gross exposure of loans and impairment, by activity sector:

(000 Euros)

Construction and com-
mercial real state

Financial and insurance 
activities

Wholesaile and retail; 
repair of motor vehi-
cles and motocycles

Consulting, scientific, 
technical and similar 

activities

Information & communi-
cation activities Other activities

Valuation Amount Constituted 
impairment Amount Constituted 

impairment Amount Constituted 
impairment Amount Constituted 

impairment Amount Constituted 
impairment Amount Constituted 

impairment

Individual  7,489    1,113    23,364    1,299    14,201    747    9,642    3,032    2,517    982    508    508   

Collective  18,508    35    225    1    38,640    645    5,649    40    2,003    18    24,843    200   

Total  25,997    1,148    23,589    1,300    52,841    1,392    15,291    3,072    4,520    1,000    25,351    708   

Details of the value of gross exposure of loans and impairment, by geographic area:

(000 Euros)

Portugal Angola Luxembourg Switzerland Other

Valuation Amount Constituted 
impairment Amount Constituted 

impairment Amount Constituted 
impairment Amount Constituted 

impairment Amount Constituted 
impairment

Individual  16,316    3,521    7,800    2,606    23,364    1,299    -      -      10,241    255   

Collective  52,824    501    14,561    53    5    -      18,584    112    3,894    273   

Total  69,140    4,022    22,361    2,659    23,369    1,299    18,584    112    14,135    528   

Details of the portfolio of restructured loans by restructuring measure:

(000 Euros)

Portugal Angola Luxembourg

Measure Nº of 
operations Exposure Impairment Nº of 

operations Exposure Impairment Nº of
 operations Exposure Impairment

Term extension 4 776 - 0 - - 4 776 164

Total 4 776 - 0  2,659   - 4 776   164
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Details of the value of the collateral underlying the loan portfolio of the Corporate, Construction and Commercial Real Estate and 
Residential segments:

(000 Euros)

Construction and Commercial Real Estate Residential

Properties Other Properties Oher

Fair value of collateral received Number Amount (1) Number Amount  (1) Number Amount  (1) Number Amount (1)

[ 0 ; 0,5 M€ [ 5  808   4  342   48  6,967   2  148   

[ 0,5 M€ ; 1 M€ [ 2  1,843   2  1,599   2  1,616   0  -     

[ 1 M€ ; 5 M€ [ 3  6,082   3  10,230   0  -     0  -     

Total 10  8,733   9  12,171   50  8,583   2  148   

(1) Amounts after the haircut on the latest assessment (average haircut of 20% on property and 23.8% on other real collateral).

Loan to Value (LTV) ratio of the Corporate, Construction and Commercial Real Estate and Residential segments:

(000 Euros)

Segment/LTV ratio (1) Number of properties Performing credit Credit overdue Impairment

Corporate - others

Without collateral or personal n.a.  18,323    -      1,122   

Personal guarantee (2) n.a.  29,333    359    2,202   

Real guarantee 12  52,845    3,681    3,938   

[ 0% ; 60% [ 1  -      1,041    355   

[ 60% ; 80% [ 0  -      -      -     

[ 80% ; 100% [ 0  -      -      -     

[ 100% ; ... [ 11  52,845    2,639    3,583   

Corporate - Construction and
Commercial real estate (CRE)

Without collateral or personal n.a.  1,032    3    13   

Personal guarantee (2) n.a.  -      2,882    1,110   

Real guarantee 10  22,054    25    25   

[ 0% ; 60% [ 1  293    -      17   

[ 60% ; 80% [ 0  -      -      -     

[ 80% ; 100% [ 0  -      -      -     

[ 100% ; ... [ 9  21,761    25    8   

Housing

Without collateral or personal n.a.  -      -      -     

Personal guarantee (2) n.a.  -      -      -     

Real guarantee 50  8,729    14    -     

[ 0% ; 60% [ 0  -      -      -     

[ 60% ; 80% [ 0  -      -      -     

[ 80% ; 100% [ 0  -      -      -     

[ 100% ; ... [ 50  8,729    14    -     

(1) Amounts after the haircut on the latest assessment (average haircut of 20% on property and 23.8% on other real collateral).

(2) Personal guarantees include those given by individuals or companies with those provided by institutions.
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk represents the possibility of the Institution not being able to honour its liabilities when they become payable, due to inability 
to convert its assets into cash in due time or access external funding in a reasonable amount and at a reasonable cost.

The Bank has internal processes for liquidity risk management that enable its identification, assessment and control on a daily basis, 
envisaging specific procedures for monitoring the contractual maturities of the different operations comprising its balance sheet.
The implementation of these procedures is the responsibility of the Risk area, which is likewise responsible for the production of 
management information on the subject and for its subsequent disclosure, not only the Bank’s Board of Directors but also to the areas 
whose activity is exposed to liquidity risk.

In addition to this monitoring, the Bank also promotes the work of the Asset and Liabilities Committee (ALCO) where, among other 
topics, liquidity risk is analysed and assessed in a detailed manner.

As at 31 December 2016, the contractual residual periods of the financial instruments (excluding interest receivable and commissions 
associated to amortised cost) showed the following structure:

2016

Spot Up to 3 
months

From 3 mon-
ths to 1 year

From 1 year
to 5 years

More than
5 years Overdue Total

Assets

Cash and deposits in central banks 374,193,403 - - - - - 374,193,403

Deposits in other banks 30,827,170 - - - - - 30,827,170

Financial assets held for trading - 2,330,056 258,743 10,083 - - 2,598,882

Financial assets available for sale - 19,898,307 159,523,335 183,308,567 79,398,331 - 442,128,540

Applications in banks 5,264 104,832,881 39,676,337 - - - 144,514,482

Loans to clients 2,602,476 12,906,705 32,942,756 30,434,840 17,540,010 7,946,045 104,372,832

Investments held to maturity - 75,003,596 - 17,573,121 51,812,456 - 144,389,173

Total assets 407,628,313 214,971,545 232,401,171 231,326,611 148,750,797 7,946,045 1,243,024,482

Liabilities    

Funding from central banks 1,670,985 195,718,630 - 98,000,000 - - 295,389,615

Financial liabilities held for trading - 2,018,385 225,656 5,565 - - 2,249,606

Hedge derivatives - 42,212 - - - - 42,212

Funding from other banks 61,353,285 216,657,745 246,613,784 9,175,000 - - 533,799,814

Funding from clients 138,570,793 52,167,329 118,094,049 47,417,737 - - 356,249,908

Liabilities represented by securities - - 4,743,383 - - - 4,743,383

Total liabilities 201,595,063 466,604,301 369,676,872 154,598,302 - - 1.192,474,538

Liquidity gap 206,033,250 (251,632,756) (137,275,701) 76,728,309 148,750,797 - 50,549,§944

Cumulative liquidity gap 206,033,250 (45,599,506) (182,875,207) (106,146,898) 42,603,899 - -
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As at 31 December 2015, the contractual residual periods of the financial instruments (excluding interest receivable and commissions 
associated to amortised cost) showed the following structure:

2015

Spot Up to 3 
months

From 3 months 
to 1 year

From 1 year
to 5 years

More than
5 years Overdue Total

Assets

Cash and deposits in central banks 134,367,745 - - - - - 134,367,745

Deposits in other banks 106,989,874 - - - - - 106,989,874

Financial assets held for trading - 37,595 39,530 13,583 - - 90,708

Financial assets available for sale - 4,600,000 28,763,305 146,948,059 81,199,263 - 261,510,627

Applications in banks - 94,495,498 3,000,000 - - - 97,495,498

Loans to clients 1,796,794 43,513,653 62,142,812 43,720,933 16,851,910 1,038,290 169,064,392

Investments held to maturity - - - 17,278,437 49,753,850 - 67,032,287

Hedge derivatives - 515,621 - - - - 515,621

Total assets 243,154,413  142,162,367   93,945,647   207,961,012    147,805,023   1,038,290   837,066,752   

Liabilities    

Funding from central banks 2,462 40,000,000 115,602,673 134,540,000 -  -   290,145,135

Financial liabilities held for trading - 136,070 51,378 14,786 - -   202,234

Funding from other banks 57,119,566 39,767,888 97,359,057 10,275,000 - - 204,521,511

Funding from clients 156,380,278 38,200,656 53,991,531 20,305,353 -  -     268,877,818

Liabilities represented by securities - - 32,001,470 - -  -     32,001,470

Total liabilities 213,502,306  118,104,614   299,006,109   165,135,139   -   -   795,748,168   

Liquidity gap  29,652,107  25,057,753   (205,060,462)    42,825,873   147,805,023 - 41.318,584

Cumulative liquidity gap 29,652,107 54,709,860 (150,350,602) (107,524,729) 40,280,294    - -

The allocation of the operations to the time intervals in the tables presented above took into consideration the residual maturity of each 
operation. The projected contractual cash flow relative to the interest associated to the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities were not 
included.

Market risk

Market risk represents the possibility of depreciation in the value of financial instruments caused by variations in market conditions and 
in the prices of these instruments.

The Bank considers a more comprehensive concept of market risk that encompasses not only the market risk normally associated to the 
variation of the prices of financial instruments, with direct impact on the valuation of balance sheet positions, but also the risk derived from 
movements in the exchange rates inherent to the exchange positions generated by the existence of financial instruments denominated in 
different currencies – exchange rate risk – and the risk derived from movements in interest rates due to time lags in the amount, maturity 
or periods of re-fixing of the interest rates observed in financial instruments with interest receivable and payable – interest rate risk.

For all of the categories, the Bank has established specific risk management processes that promote the accomplishment of periodic 
initiatives to monitor the evolution of significant risk factors and reporting of potential impacts that are assessed and measured. To this 
end, the Bank has established risk quantification mechanisms that enable the daily monitoring of market risks and inclusion of specific 
topics, whenever justified, at the level of the Credit Committee and Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO).



Annual Report 2016 | Notes to the financial statements

BANCO ATLANTICO EUROPA 91

Exchange rate risk

The balances in different currencies and the transactions made in foreign currency are monitored and controlled by the areas of Financial 
Markets, Accounting and Management Control, and Risk Management.

The most expressive foreign currency in the Bank’s balance sheet is the North American Dollar, with the exchange exposure and 
transactions made in other currencies being residual.

As at 31 December 2016, the Bank’s financial instruments showed the following composition by currency, by balance sheet heading:

(amounts converted to Euros)

2016

Currency

Euros American dollars Other currency Total

Assets

Cash and deposits in central banks 374,061,482 102,584 29,337 374,193,403

Deposits in other banks 17,921,930 10,557,797 2,347,443 30,827,170

Financial assets held for trading 2,346,196 219,426 33,260 2,598,882

Financial assets available for sale 371,269,484 72,630,476 - 443,899,960

Applications in banks 71,057,397 71,026,130 1,968,658 144,052,185

Loans to clients 72,539,424 24,561,215 - 97,100,639

Investments held to maturity 95,390,250 49,571,508 - 144,961,758

Other assets 28,451,732 170,634 979,216 29,601,582

Total assets 1,033,037,895 228,839,770 5,357,914 1,267,235,579

Liabilities

Funding from central banks 99,670,985 195,845,840 - 295,516,825

Financial liabilities held for trading 2,030,048 219,558 - 2,249,606

Hedge derivatives 42,212 - - 42,212

Funding from other banks 96,389,338 436,715,173 1,703,088 534,807,599

Funding from clients 253,759,046 99,360,016 4,230,280 357,349,342

Liabilities represented by securities - 4,750,932 - 4,750,932

Other liabilities 10,457,299 1,212,930 156,733 11,826,962

Total liabilities 462,348,928 738,104,449 6,090,101 1,206,543,478

Total shareholder’s equity 60,692,101 - - 60,692,101

Total liabilities and shareholder’s equity 523,041,029 738,104,449 6,090,101 1,267,235,579
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As at 31 December 2015, the Bank’s financial instruments showed the following composition by currency, by balance sheet heading:

(amounts converted to Euros)

2015

Currency

Euros American dollars Other currency Total

Assets

Cash and deposits in central banks 134,317,313 40,836 9,596 134,367,745

Deposits in other banks 84,328,829 20,738,211 1,922,834 106,989,874

Financial assets held for trading 36,184 54,524 - 90,708

Financial assets available for sale 207,214,120 56.016,879 - 263,230,999

Applications in banks 37,737,086 54,298,971 5,030,275 97,066,332

Loans to clients 130,857,681 37,166,555 - 168,024,236

Investments held to maturity 20,345,137 47,144,975 - 67,490,112

Hedge derivatives 515.621 - - 515,621

Other assets 28,533,862 16,037 254,587 28,804,486

Total assets 643,885,833 215,476,988 7,217,292 866,580,113

Liabilities

Funding from central banks 290,176,481 2,941 - 290,179,422

Financial liabilities held for trading 146,567 55,667 - 202,234

Funding from other banks 136,068,575 66,185,173 2,741,118 204,994,866

Funding from clients 168,617,856 97,606,867 2,971,446 269,196,169

Liabilities represented by securities - 32,043,675 - 32,043,675

Other liabilities 11,877,666 60,314 95,563 12,033,543

Total liabilities 606,887,145 195,954,637 5,808,127 808,649,909

Total shareholder’s equity 57,930,204 - - 57,930,204

Total liabilities and shareholder’s equity 664,817,349 195,954,637 5,808,127 866,580,113

Interest rate risk

The objective of the management of interest rate risk is to minimise the impact of potential variations in interest rates on the Bank’s 
earnings. 

The definition of products and the contracting of operations takes into account the maturity profile of the Bank’s balance sheet, seeking 
to achieve a balance in terms of the contractual periods and the rates and reference rates considered, in order to adjust the spreads to be 
proposed to the funding costs incurred by the Bank.

Furthermore, the monitoring of interest rate risk includes assessment of the way that variations in the value of the rates affect the 
economic value of the Bank’s balance sheet or its net interest income. 
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As at 31 December 2016, pursuant to the method used at Banco de Portugal Instruction 19/2005, a parallel shift of the yield curve of 200 
b.p. would have an impact on net worth of -21.6% and an accumulated impact of 7.7% on net interest income.

Accumulated impact of interest rate on sensitive instruments -11,760,555

Own funds 54,375,933

Impacto on net position / own funds -21.6%

Accumulated impact of interest rate (up to one year) on sensitive instruments 684,484

Interest margin 8,944,240

Accumulated impact of interest rate (up to one year) on sensitive
instruments as percentage of interest margin 7.7%

The management of this risk is also one of the main topics addressed at the Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO), which is the principal 
decision-making forum on initiatives aimed at mitigation or alignment of strategy in the management of interest rate risk.

As at 31 December 2016, the exposure to interest rate risk (excluding interest receivable and payable and commissions associated to 
amortised cost) showed the following structure:

2016

Without rate Fixed rate Variable rate Total

Assets

Cash and deposits in central banks 9,543,148 364,650,255 - 374,193,403

Deposits in other banks 30,827,170 - - 30,827,170

Financial assets held for trading - 2,598,882 - 2,598,882

Financial assets available for sale - 425,013,257 17,115,283 442,128,540

Applications in banks 77,926 144,436,556 - 144,514,482

Loans to clients 2,537,474 16,985,291 84,850,067 104,372,832

Investments held to maturity - 144,389,173 - 144,389,173

Total assets 42,985,718 1,09,073,414 101,965,350 1,243,024,482

Liabilities

Funding from central banks 1,670,985 293,718,630 - 295,389,615

Financial liabilities held for trading - 2,249,606 - 2,249,606

Hedge derivatives - 42,212 - 42,212

Funding from other banks 61,353,285 472,446,529 - 533.799,814

Funding from clients 138,322,489 217,927,419 - 356,249,908

Liabilities represented by securities - 4,743,383 - 4,743,383

Total liabilities 201,346,759 991,127,779 - 1,192,474,538
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As at 31 December 2015, the exposure to interest rate risk (excluding interest receivable and payable and commissions associated to 
amortised cost) showed the following structure:

2015

Without rate Fixed rate Variable rate Total

Assets

Cash and deposits in central banks 5,484,791 128,882,954 - 134,367,745

Deposits in other banks 106,989,874 - - 106,989,874

Financial assets held for trading - 90,708 - 90,708

Financial assets available for sale - 240,889,531 20,621,096 261,510,627

Applications in banks - 97,495,498 - 97,495,498

Loans to clients - 46,768,260 122,296,132 169,064,392

Investments held to maturity - 67,032,287 - 67,032,287

Hedge derivatives - 515,621 - 515,621

Total assets 112,474,665 581,674,859 142,917,228 837,066,752

Liabilities

Funding from central banks 2,462 290,142,673 - 290,145,135

Financial liabilities held for trading - 202,234 - 202,234

Funding from other banks 57,119,566 147,401,945 - 204,521,511

Funding from clients 156,375,634 112,502,184 - 268,877,818

Liabilities represented by securities - 32,001,470 - 32,001,470

Total liabilities 213,497,662 582,250,506 - 795,748,168

Fair value

In the determination of the fair value of the financial instruments, the Bank always uses stock market values, whenever possible. In cases 
where there is no market price, the fair value is calculated using models based on certain assumptions that depend on the functioning of 
the financial instruments to be valued. In exceptional situations, when it is not possible to determine fair value in a reliable manner, the 
assets are valued at historical cost and subject to impairment tests.

Regarding the determination of the fair value of the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities, it is important to highlight the following 
considerations:

• “Cash and deposits at central banks” and “Deposits at other credit institutions”: in view of the short term nature of these assets, it is 
considered that the book value is a reasonable estimate of their fair value.

• “Investments and funding from other credit institutions” and “Funding from central banks”: the statement of fair value assumes that 
the operations are settled on their maturity dates and the cash flows are updated, using the rate curve formed in the last days of the 
year. In view of the maturities of the operations and the type of interest rate applied, the Bank considers that the difference between 
the fair value and the book value of these operations is not significant;

• “Loans to clients”: the Bank considers that, since the loan operations in portfolio are recent, and as there is no historical record of 
default or a significant occurrence of situations of overdue credit, the difference between the fair value and the book value is not 
significant; 

• “Funding from clients and other loans”: for deposits with a maturity period less than one year, the book value is assumed to be 
a reasonable estimate of fair value. Operations in portfolio with maturity periods above one year do not represent a materially 
significant proportion of the total.
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As at 31 December 2016, the fair value of the financial instruments held by the Bank was approved as follows:

Type of financial instrument Assets at
acquisition value

Financial instruments at fair value:

TotalQuotations in
market [Nível 1]

Valuation techniques
based on:

Market data
[Nível 2]

Other
[Nível 3]

Assets

Financial assets held for trading - - 2,598,882 - 2,598,882

Financial assets available for sale 19,018,568 424,881,392 - - 443,899,960

Investments held to maturity 144,961,758 - - - 144,961,758

Liabilities

Financial liabilities held for trading - - 2,249,606 - 2,249,606

Hedge derivatives - - 42,212 - 42,212

Liabilities represented by securities 4,750,932 - - - 4,750,932

As established in IFRS 13, financial instruments are measured according to the following levels of valuation: 

• Level 1: Financial instruments valued according to the available prices (not adjusted) in active markets and with enforceable stock market 
prices disclosed by entities which provide transaction prices in liquid markets.

• Level 2: Financial instruments valued in accordance with valuation methods primarily considering parameters and variables that are 
observable in the market. This also includes instruments that are valued based on reference stock market prices provided by contributors 
outside the Bank.

• Level 3: Financial instruments valued in accordance with valuation methods considering parameters or variables that are not observable 
in the market and with significant impact on the valuation of the instrument, and prices provided by third parties whose parameters 
used are not observable in the market.
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6. Own funds

The calculation of the Bank’s own funds and solvency ratios comply with that presented in the Basel III prudential framework. In this 
regard, with reference to 31 December 2016, it is important to disclose the aspects presented below.

(000 Euros)

Own funds - Basileia III 2016 2015

Own funds 54,376 48,709

Own funds level 1 54,376 48,709

Main own funds level 1 54,376 48,709

Own funds instruments 50,000 50,000

Retained earnings from previous years 4,262 2,008

Other cumulative comprehensive income 132 1,926

Other reserves 1,093 (375)

Other intagible assets (1,035) (1,080)

Defereed tax assets (114) (2,014)

Excess of deductions on level one additional own funds level 1 (414) 0

Other Transitional Adjustment 452 (1,756)

Additional own funds level 1 0 0

Own funds level 2 0 0

Exposure amounts in weighted risk (RWA) 343,925 367,931

RWA - Credit Risk 299,578 331,915

RWA - Foreign Exchange Risk (Standard Method) 3,122 2,007

RWA - Operational Risk (Main Indicator) 40,739 33,998

RWA - Credit Valuation Adjustment (Standard Method) 486 11

Own funds requirements

Main own funds level 1 15.8% 13.2%

Own funds level 1 15.8% 13.2%

Total own funds ratio 15.8% 13.2%

The evolution of the ratios observed throughout the year reflects the change in the dimensions of the Bank’s balance sheet, in particular 
the reduction of its portfolio of loans to clients and the diversification of the considerations and investments in the Bank’s own portfolio 
where its surplus liquidity is invested. Concerning own funds, the evolution reflects the incorporation of the net income for 2015 that was 
not distributed, an aspect that offsets the evolution of the intangible assets, deferred taxes and transitional adjustments established in 
the applicable regulations.
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7. Impact of the change of accounting policy relative to the recognition of impairment

The publication of Notice 5/2015 establishes that, from 1 January onwards 2016, Financial Institutions should prepare their individual 
financial statements in accordance with the IAS/IFRS as endorsed by the European Union, thus revoking Notice 1/2005 that defined the 
application of the Adjusted Accounting Standards (NCA) to individual accounts, and namely Notice 3/95.

Pursuant to IAS 8, this alteration of policy is presented for comparative effects as of 1 January 2015, with the amounts derived from the 
alteration being reflected under equity. 

The impact of this restatement on the financial statements may be presented as follows (in Euros): 

Capital Net income Capital

31 Dec 2015 31 Dec 2015 01 Jan 2015

Previously stated values 57,930,204 4,282,075 57,618,690

Result of the use of Aviso 5/2015

Excess provisions 468,319 (468,319) -

Deferred tax (119,422) (119,422) -

Restated values 58,279,101 4,630,972 3,754,489

It should be noted that the Bank, in view of the nature and features of the credit exposures and according to the impact assessments 
carried out, decided that the level of impairment for loans should continue, in overall terms, to be equal to the amount of the provisions 
for loans constituted in accordance with Notice 3/95 under the preparation of financial statements based on the Adjusted Accounting 
Standards (NCA). Therefore, with respect to the provisions for loans, no amounts whatsoever were released in the context of the 
introduction of the application of Notice 5/2015 on 1 January 2016. The presented restatement corresponds to the amount relative to the 
provisions for country risk of the portfolio of securities.
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